Beach lowering in front of coastal structures

Research Scoping Study R&D Technical Report FD1916/TR







Joint Defra/EA Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management R&D Programme

Beach lowering in front of coastal structures

Research Scoping Study

R&D Technical Report FD1916/TR

This also constitutes HR Wallingford Report SR 633

Authors: J Sutherland, A Brampton, G Motyka B Blanco, R Whitehouse

Produced: June 2003

Statement of use

This document provides information for Defra and Environment Agency Staff about beach lowering in front of coastal structures and constitutes an R&D output from the Joint Defra / Environment Agency Flood and Coastal Defence R&D Programme. This report describes work commissioned by the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs under DEFRA Project FD1916 Understanding the Lowering of Beaches in Front of Coastal Defence structures.

Dissemination status

Internal: released internally External: released to public domain

Keywords: Scour; beach lowering; coastal defence; seawall; scour mitigation

Research contractor: This document was produced by James Sutherland (Email: <u>j.sutherland@hrwallingford.co.uk</u>) and Richard Whitehouse (Email: <u>r.whitehouse@hrwallingford.co.uk</u>.) of HR Wallingford.

Defra project officer: Jonathan Rogers (Mouchel Parkman) Tel: 01932 337373 Fax: 01932 354773 Email: jonathan.rogers@mouchelparkman.com).

Publishing organisation

Defra – Flood Management Division Ergon House Horseferry Road London SW1P 2AL 020 7238 3000 020 7238 6187 www.defra.gov.uk/environ/fcd

Disclaimer

This report is a contribution to research generally and it would be imprudent for third parties to rely on it in specific applications without first checking its suitability.Various sections of this report rely on data supplied by or drawn from third party sources. HR Wallingford accepts no liability for loss or damage suffered by the client or third parties as a result of errors or inaccuracies in such third party data. HR Wallingford will only accept responsibility for the use of its material in specific projects where it has been engaged to advise upon a specific commission and given the opportunity to express a view on the reliability of the material for the particular applications. Publication implies no endorsement by the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs of the report's conclusions or recommendations.

Copyright in the typographical arrangement and design rests with the Crown. This publication (excluding the logo) may be reproduced free of charge in any format or medium provided that it is reproduced accurately and not used in a misleading context. The material must be acknowledged as Crown copyright with the title and source of the publication specified. The views expressed in this document are not necessarily those of Defra or the Environment Agency. Its officers, servants or agents accept no liability whatsoever for any loss or damage arising from the interpretation or use of the information, or reliance on views contained herein.

Published by the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs. Printed in the UK, September 2005 on recycled material containing 80% post-consumer waste and 20% totally chlorine free virgin pulp.

PB No. 11207

ISBN 0-85521-163-6

Executive Summary

Toe scour is blamed for the failure of many coastal structures (CIRIA, 1986) but toe scour holes are infrequently observed in the field (e.g. Griggs *et al*, 1994). This leads some, such as Weigel (2002a, b, c) to believe that a beach will go through the same cycle of erosion and accretion, whether it has beach control structures or not. Many studies of toe scour have been carried out, but the results have been highly varied. Therefore, this scoping study was commissioned to improve understanding of beach lowering in front of coastal defence structures. The objectives of the report were:

- To identify the generic elements and processes involved and the research and development needs;
- To provide preliminary guidance on the mitigation of scour.

Coastal defence structures are commonly constructed because of coastal erosion. This erosion will continue, despite the presence of the seawall. The seawall neither adds nor removes sand, although it does impound or imprison it, preventing it from entering the coastal sediment transport system. Seawalls can cause local toe scour during storms, but there is no evidence that coastal defence structures delay the recovery of beaches. Beach lowering is a process that takes place on a number of different timescales (years, seasons, storms) and which combines cross-shore and longshore sediment transport. This report concentrates mainly on toe scour, which is the short term lowering of beach level close in front of a coastal defence structure. The overall lowering of beach levels, which occurs at longer timescales and over larger spatial scales, is referred to as general beach lowering. Most beach lowering studies have considered toe scour only and have treated it as a purely cross-shore transport phenomenon.

There are indications that toe scour may be a short-lived phenomenon, with scour holes generated during storms filling in within a few hours as the storm subsides. This would explain why few scour holes are observed or surveyed at low tide. Toe scour has been reproduced in several small-scale laboratory experiments (e.g. Fowler, 1992) which have treated it as a wave-driven, cross-shore, often bedload transport dominated phenomenon. There have been few laboratory toe scour tests that have generated suspended sediment transport despite the fact that bedload and suspended load scour occur by different mechanisms and occur in different places (e.g. Irie and Nadaoke, 1984). It is therefore questionable whether small-scale bedload transport experiments provide reliable design guidance on toe scour depths at full scale (Tørum *et al*, 2003).

Design relationships for scour depths in sand beaches (unless otherwise stated) at vertical seawall, subject to normal incidence waves include those from Xie (1981, 1985) Fowler (1992) Powell and Lowe (1994) for shingle, Powell and Whitehouse (1998) O'Donoghue (2001) for bedload and CEM (2002). Even if the empirical equations derived from laboratory tests are taken as reliable, there is still no design equation for the following cases:

- Oblique incidence waves at vertical walls;
- Oblique incidence waves at sloping impermeable walls;
- Oblique incidence waves at permeable sloping walls (such as rubble mound breakwaters).

In most of these cases toe scour can be estimated from normal-incidence vertical wall cases, either by taking this as the likely worst case or by adjusting it according to rules-of-thumb. In other cases, such as breaking waves at normal incidence on a sloping impermeable wall the only design guidance comes in the form of rules-of-thumb. There is little evidence of these formulae being used in the design of coastal structures or in the design of mitigation measures, indicating a lack of belief in these methods amongst designers.

The above (physical and numerical) modelling has regarded toe scour as a short-term wave-driven phenomenon caused by cross-shore transport of sand (or shingle). Case studies in the UK (Appendix A) have often indicated that longshore transport plays an important and sometimes even dominant role in beach lowering in front of coastal structures. Variations in beach level due to changes in longshore transport tend to have longer timescales (up to the centuries required for coastal realignment) than toe scour.

Many of the mitigation schemes implemented around the UK have involved protective aprons at the toe of a pre-existing structure. Consequently, much of the design guidance is for this type of mitigation measure and examples of guidance on thickness, width and stone weight for revetment toes are provided. Alternative mitigation measures include the following:

- **Rock dumping for bed stabilisation** This can be a crude form of apron or toe berm that fills the scour hole, but has no filter layer or geotextile so is subject to winnowing;
- **Mattresses** These can be of two main types: flat gabions and linked precast units. They absorb energy, are flexible enough to fit an irregular seabed, are cheap to fill and relatively easy to lay. Neither has a filter layer or geotextile so both forms are subject to the winnowing of bed material;
- Soil improvement to increase bearing capacity and reduce scour potential - An example of this, which is in use at a few sites, is beach drainage (Shaw, 2003). In the UK there have been three beach drainage installations: a full scale trial at Holme-Next-The-Sea (Norfolk), a commercial system at Towan (Cornwall) and an experimental system at Branksome Chine (Dorset);
- **Beach renourishment** In many cases the long-term development of beach levels depends more on longshore transport than on cross-shore transport. In some such cases, beach nourishment has been the solution to scour problems.

The approach to mitigation schemes is often practical and empirical. Further information on the performance of mitigation schemes is needed in order to assess how successful the approaches are. The performance of a selection of

mitigation schemes should be looked at in some detail. It would be useful if this work could also be tied into an ongoing survey programme to maximise the benefits from funding.

Designers/coastal managers are encouraged to state the assumptions made about beach lowering, and to define a minimum beach level for triggering intervention. Beach lowering happens on such a wide range of time scales and space scales that the entire process cannot reasonably be modelled in a single numerical or conceptual model. Therefore a variety of approaches should be taken to address these issues and the first steps should be taken towards the development of a probabilistic risk-based method of assessing the safety of coastal defence structures. Such an approach would be developed to give information on the range of possible beach levels to be expected in different scenarios. It will require further development of fragility curves for generic structure types.

There is a dynamic interaction between a beach and a coastal defence structure. Relatively few studies have considered the interactions between beaches and structures (preferring to study one or the other). Areas to consider using physical and numerical modelling are:

- Flow through structures and beaches;
- Suffusion and material retention;
- Foundation support, including settlement and liquefaction.

There is a shortage of large-scale laboratory and field data on toe scour. Both should be collected to fill gaps in existing knowledge. In particular, the development of the depth of scour during storms is of interest. Any field experiment devised should be tied in with existing survey programmes to maximise the use of resources.

There should also be some consolidation of recent research to determine the relative importance of hydraulic induced scour and pressure induced liquefaction on bed levels/properties at the toe of coastal defences. Most studies have concentrated on sand beaches and impermeable structures. More work is needed to determine the relationship between scour depth and sediment type.

Key strands from the above have been presented in a section of the report outlining recommendations for research. Research into scour and the performance of structures could potentially lead to cost savings should it show that less conservative designs for coastal structures would be appropriate. Burgess (2003) compiled the following approximate potential cost savings for each kilometre of coastal defence:

- Reducing toe depth by 0.5m could save £50,000;
- Reducing crest level by 0.2m could save £50,000;
- Reducing armour thickness by 0.2m could save £100,000;
- Steepening structure slopes from 1 in 2.0 to 1 in 1.5 could save £150,000.

There are therefore considerable potential long-term returns from investment in beach lowering research, and the dissemination of knowledge and guidance. In order to safely minimise the cost of coastal defence structures, the minimum safe size of toe protection and the minimum safe depth of toe excavation should be investigated.

Contents

Executive summary		iv
1.	Background and objectives of study	1
1.1	Statement of problem	1
1.2	Objectives of this research project	7
1.3	Method statement	7
1.4	Layout of report	8
2.	Review of existing knowledge	9
2.1	Introduction to beach lowering around the UK	9
2.2	Review of literature and UK case histories	10
2.3	Conceptual framework	11
3.	Literature review of methods for predicting beach lowering	20
3.1	Mechanisms and parameters controlling toe scour	20
3.2	Kinematics in front of a reflective structure	24
3.3	P-type and N-type sediment transport	27
3.4	Wave-induced liquefaction near seawalls	30
3.5	Prediction methodology	34
3.6	Scale effects	45
3.7	Summary of scour experiments	48
4.	Review of mitigation measures	61
4.1	Precautionary measures (at design/ construction stage)	61
4.2	Monitoring methods	66
4.3	Intervention measures – localised	67
5.	Conclusions and research needs	77
5.1	Summary of beach lowering report	77
5.2	Conclusions and recommendations	78
5.3	Potential cost savings	83
6.	References and Bibliography	84

<u>Tables</u>

Table 1	Comparison of methodologies for toe scour prediction	34
Table 2a	Design relationships for non-breaking waves	38
Table 2b	Design relationships for normal incidence waves breaking at or before the structure	39
Table 2c	Design relationships for scour depths due to oblique incidence breaking waves	41
Table 3	Influence of initial beach level on scour response in shingle (Powe and Lowe, 1994)	ll 44
Table 4	Occurrence of maximum scour depth at the seawall toe in relation wall location according to Sato, Tanaka and Irie (1968)	to 53
Table 5	Example calculations of the percentage of waves causing suspended transport	58
Table 6	Summary of large scale experiments	60
Table 7	Time and spatial scales for beach lowering	62

<u>Figures</u>

Figure 1	Conceptual sketches of the effect of a seawall on coastal erosion	13
Figure 2	Conceptual sketch of toe scour during a storm	19
Figure 3.	Time development of scour (after Powell and Lowe, 1994). Types given in Table 3	22
Figure 4	Variation of rms wave orbital velocity on the bed with k_px as a function of k_ph (Hughes and Fowler, 1991)	26
Figure 5	Phase shift on reflection	27
Figure 6.	Re-circulating currents due to streaming under standing waves (Sumer and Fredsøe, (2000).	28
Figure 7	Scour and deposition patterns in front of a vertical seawall (a) Suspended sediment transport (L-type) (b) Bedload sediment transport (N-type)	29
Figure 8	Mechanism for flow out of sand from behind revetment (from Maer and Tsubota, 2001)	าо 31
Figure 9	Depth of momentary liquefaction for typical wave conditions (from Law, 1993)	33
Figure 10	Dominant processes and modes of sediment transport (after Oumeraci, 1994c)	63

Figure 11	Wave reflection – scour depth trends: vertical seawalls (Powell and	64
	LOWE, 1990)	04
Figure 12	Classifications for scour response types (after Powell&Lowe 1994)	64
Figure 13	Influence of the slope of the breakwater (Sumer and Fredsoe, 2000)	65
Figure 14	Typical toe details (McConnel, 1998).	72

<u>Plates</u>

Plate 1	Beach and shore-platform lowering, Shakespeare Cliff, Thanet	2
Plate 2	Removal of beach sediments from shore platform, Colwyn Bay	2
Plate 3	Localised scour runnel at toe of solid seawall, Wyre, Lancashire	3
Plate 4	Localised scour runnel at toe of permeable seawall, Lincolnshire	4
Plate 5	Beach lowering and undermining of seawall, Lee-on Solent	5
Plate 6	Scour, undermining and collapse of seawall, Farlington Marshes,	
	Hants	5
Plate 7	Accumulation of shingle at updrift end of seawall, Sheringham,	
	Norfolk	14
Plate 8	Erosion at downdrift end of seawall, Zanzibar	15
Plate 9	Seawall preventing sand supply from cliffs, Bournemouth	16

<u>Boxes</u>

Box 1	Example from Minikin (1952)	68
Box 2	Practical design guidance from "Low cost rock structures for beach control and coast protection"	70
Box 3	Rules-of-thumb (from Hales, 1980 survey in the USA)	70
Box 4	Stone weight for revetments (as recommended by USACE, 1995)	71
Box 5	Width of scour apron for vertical-front structures (USACE, 1995)	74
Box 6	Sloping structures toe protection under waves	75
Box 7	Stone blankets (as given by USACE,1994)	76

Appendices

Appendix 1 Case histories

Appendix 2 Scour depth design formulations

Appendix 3 Details of tell-tail scour monitors

1. Background and objectives of study

Beach lowering, including the effects of toe scour, in front of coastal defence structures is recognised as one of the principal causes of their failure. This document summarises the outputs from a scoping study to identify the generic elements and processes involved and the Research and Development needs in this area. It also outlines the research and development needs to improve our understanding of the lowering of beaches in front of coastal defence structures caused by toe scour and provide preliminary design guidance to best practice for the mitigation of the scour.

This scoping study includes a review of beach lowering in front of structures and preliminary guidance on its mitigation. Both of these review aspects will be useful to coastal engineers and stakeholders. However, the main use of the results will be to guide Stage 2 – which will be the implementation of the research identified in Stage 1 and the production of an improved set of guidance notes. Hence it is not intended that this document forms design guidance.

1.1 Statement of problem

Lowering of the "ground levels" in front of seawalls, revetments or other coastal structures is a common phenomenon not only in the U.K. but also around the world.

In some circumstances, the beach becomes flatter and lower over a wider area in front of the structure, sometimes with the sand or gravel being largely removed to reveal the underlying rock of the shore platform (Plates 1 and 2). In other cases, a further and more localised effect can occur, leading to formation of a "trough" along the seaward toe of the structure (see Plates 3 and 4).



Plate 1 Beach and shore-platform lowering, Shakespeare Cliff, Thanet



Plate 2 Removal of beach sediments from shore platform, Colwyn Bay



Plate 3 Localised scour runnel at toe of solid seawall, Wyre, Lancashire



Plate 4 Localised scour runnel at toe of permeable seawall, Lincolnshire

Both localised scour and the more widespread beach lowering can lead to problems, the greatest of which is the undermining of the foundations along the seaward toe of the structure, which can lead to its partial or total collapse (see for example Plates 5 and 6). For example, a comprehensive survey published by CIRIA (1986) concluded that toe scour represented the most prevalent and serious form of damage to seawalls in the UK.



Plate 5 Beach lowering and undermining of seawall, Lee-on Solent



Plate 6 Scour, undermining and collapse of seawall, Farlington Marshes, Hants

Coastal managers are often faced with the consequences of this problem, and have to undertake expensive remedial works to restore an adequate standard of defence. "Traditionally" this involved encasement, underpinning or adding an

apron at the toe of a wall. Many walls show that such remedial works have had to be undertaken on several occasions, as the problem of lowering continues. In Plate 1 for example, the original steps finish well above the base of the seawall that has been extended downwards. The move away from the use of near-vertical concrete seawalls in areas experiencing more widespread beach lowering to "softer" engineering has had some advantages, at least in reducing localised problems of toe scour. In addition, similar types of engineering structures have been used to improve the performance of older structures and extend their life (e.g. the placing of a rock fillet against the toe of a concrete seawall).

The interaction between seawalls and beaches is extremely complex. There has been much debate about whether the presence of seawalls initiates or accelerates beach erosion (for example Kraus, 1988; Tait and Griggs, 1990; Pilkey and Wright, 1988, Wiegel 2002a, b, c). Erosion is clearly occurring on many beaches truncated by seawalls, but it is difficult to differentiate between erosion caused by the seawall and that due to 'regional' or widespread erosion. Most seawalls, after all, are built because the shoreline is eroding.

While seawalls have not been proven to actively cause wide scale beach erosion (Kraus and McDougal 1996), there is indisputable evidence that localised scour may occur at the base of, or close to, the seawall. This type of erosion is termed toe scour and it is often evident as a trough running parallel to the wall (see Plate 3 and 4).

It is evident that failure of a coastal structure due to toe scour will most likely be initiated when the ground level in front of it extends below the toe of the foundations. Localised and short-term scour effects can add to this problem.

However, the development of toe scour is a dynamic process, highly dependent on the water level at the wall as well as the incident wave conditions. In areas of varying tidal range and wave climate, the development of a scour hole will be an erratic process with periods of erosion followed by infilling, and perhaps even general accretion of bed levels (Powell and Lowe, 1994). The scour hole itself may therefore be a short-lived feature with no obvious evidence of its seriousness, or perhaps even its existence, after a storm has declined and infilling has taken place as the tide recedes. Hence, there is a need to be able to predict the maximum vertical excursion of the scour hole during storms, as well as the more widespread and longer-term processes that cause the lowering of beach/shore-platforms. This is important both in the design stage of a coastal structure, and in its subsequent monitoring if the risk to the future integrity of the wall is to be fully understood and timely remedial action undertaken.

Sea level rise and climate change may also affect the likelihood and severity of toe scour. Rising sea levels will result in greater water depth at the structure toe, which will allow higher waves to reach the toe. Rising sea levels will also affect tidal range and the propagation of storm surges in ways that are yet unclear. Sutherland and Wolf (2002) and Hulme *et al*, (2002) have looked at future wind speeds and directions. In both cases the changes were small and

uncertain. Sutherland and Wolf (2002) calculated changes in wave heights and concluded that these would generally be less than 5%. Similarly, longshore drift rates were generally within 20% of present day rates, within the uncertainty range of present day sensitivity studies.

Climate change will effect the wave / structure interaction and the velocities and turbulence levels in front of the structure. They may increase or decrease the scour depth in front of a structure, in ways that will be described later in the report. As the effects of climate change on surge height, wave height and direction are unclear and the predicted increase in sea level rise depends on the scenario modelled, designers of structures are encouraged to look at the potential scour problem associated with a number of sea level rise scenarios. They are also encouraged to review the literature on this subject and adjust recommendations periodically as advice becomes more certain.

1.2 Objectives of this research project

The objectives were set out in the Terms of Reference in the invitation to tender for this research project (to be carried out as a desk study). They are repeated below:

"The project comprises of two stages. The overall objectives of Stage 1 (this scoping study) are to:

- 1. Undertake a scoping study to identify the generic elements and processes involved and the research and development needs;
- 2. Define a research project to improve our understanding of the lowering of beaches in front of coastal defence structures caused by toe scour and provide design guidance to best practice for the mitigation of the scour;
- 3. Provide preliminary advice regarding the mitigation of the scour."

In addition, existing practice for the mitigation of beach lowering has been reviewed.

1.3 Method statement

Steps towards the completion of the report have included:

- Consultation with academic researchers;
- Consultation with stakeholders who have a scour problem;
- Review of the main processes involved in beach lowering;
- Review of methods for predicting the scour depth at both sand and shingle beaches;

- Review of the effect of different structure types on the depth and extent of scour;
- Review of methods of assessing the long-term variations in beach levels;
- Review of scaling issues regarding the sediment transport processes in laboratory models;
- Re-examination of existing data to identify the scale and dominant processes;
- Identification of shortcomings in the available data sets;
- Some new analysis of existing data;
- Internal expert panel discussions;
- Discussion of draft report at COZONE meeting (4 June 2003);
- Review of report by Peer Review Panel.

1.4 Layout of report

This report has six chapters:

- 1. Background and objectives of study (this chapter);
- 2. **Review of existing knowledge**. This covers mechanisms and parameters, wave kinematics, sediment transport regimes (bedload and suspended load), prediction methodology, a review of scale effects in laboratory models and a summary of existing scour experiments;
- 3. Review of methods for predicting beach lowering;
- 4. **Review of mitigation methods**. This includes a description of precautionary methods that can be incorporated at the design stage, monitoring methods and localised intervention methods;
- 5. **Research and development needs**. A summary of research and development needs, aimed at identifying areas where research into processes could be of most use and how guidance on the prevention and mitigation of scour could be improved;
- 6. **References and bibliography**. This includes more papers than are referenced in the report.

In addition there are three appendices. The first contains nine case studies where beach lowering has led to remedial action being taken. The second contains details of published methodologies for determining scour depths at coastal structures. The third contains information on the HRW Tell-Tail scour monitors referred to in the report.

2. Review of existing knowledge

2.1 Introduction to beach lowering around the UK

Lowering of "ground levels" in front of seawalls, revetments or other coastal structures is a common phenomenon not only in the UK but also around the world.

In some circumstances, the beach becomes flatter and lower over a wider area in front of the structure, sometimes with the sand or gravel being largely removed to reveal the underlying rock of the shore platform (Plates 1 and 2). In other cases, a further and more localised effect can occur, leading to formation of a "trough" along the seaward toe of the structure (see Plates 3 and 4).

Both localised scour and the more widespread beach lowering can lead to problems, for example:

- Making access to the beach, e.g. from steps and ramps, more difficult;
- Increasing the water depth in front of the structure, hence allowing larger waves to reach it. This in turn can lead to increased wave forces and wave run-up on the structure, and hence greater damage or overtopping;
- Increasing the height of the waves reflected from the face of the structure;
- Allowing faster tidal current speeds along the face of the structure;
- As a consequence of the increased wave action, and perhaps faster tidal currents, there will be greater water turbulence and increased agitation of the beach sediments in front of the wall.

The last four of these problems may, in some circumstances, lead to a further lowering of the beach levels, and thus an intensification of the problems listed above. Non-specialist texts have been written suggesting that this "vicious circle" of processes and effect continues indefinitely and thus that seawalls and revetments are the <u>cause</u> of the low beach levels that are commonly observed in front of them. While an attractive explanation for lay readers, it is often untrue. Many seawalls were built in response to pre-existing coastal erosion and beach lowering. As will be explained in section 2.3, although they may not have remedied this natural regime of long-term erosion, they certainly are not in many cases to blame for its continuation.

If the levels of the beach or shore-platform fall to below that of the toe of the foundations of the structure, then further problems will usually follow. Flows under the front edge of the structure, and approximately perpendicular to it, will not only remove granular "fill" from behind the face of that structure but could also further add to the lowering of ground levels in front of the toe (see Plate 3). Many seawalls have collapsed as a result of this "undermining" process (see Plate 4), and indeed along with outflanking, this is the main cause of such failures (see CIRIA, 1986). (A seawall is outflanked when erosion occurs at the end of a seawall, allowing the removal of material from behind the structure.)

2.2 Review of literature and UK case histories

During this project, an extensive literature review has been carried out, in order to obtain information on a variety of aspects of the lowering of beach levels namely:

- Past and present views on the mechanisms that cause the lowering;
- Prototype experiments on, or measurements of lowering;
- Laboratory experiments of scour in front of coastal structures;
- The advice given to those designing coastal structures on predicting such lowering;
- Advice given on reducing such lowering or mitigating its effects;
- Examples of problems experienced around the UK coastline and the remedial measures taken.

The information obtained regarding the first of these aspects is summarised in the following section of this report, which sets out a "conceptual framework" explaining the various processes involved. This review, briefly, has resulted in the separation of the mechanisms into long-term and widespread lowering, and more localised and shorter-term scouring.

There seems to be little written on the measurement of beach lowering in front of seawalls or other structures around the UK coastline, and hence the second aspect of the literature review is strongly reliant on studies carried out in the United States. Here the findings have generally been that lowering of sandy beaches in front of seawalls is almost entirely due to the longer-term and widespread processes, which do not depend on the seawall characteristics. Evidence for localised scour in front of walls in the US, however, is remarkable by its absence in reports.

A comprehensive survey providing details on the causes of failures of seawalls in the UK was published by CIRIA in 1986. In this report it was concluded that toe scour represented the most prevalent and serious form of damage to seawalls in the UK. It directly accounted for over 12% of the case histories studied and indirectly responsible for up to a further 5% of cases, including collapsing/breaching of seawalls and washing out of fill materials. Similar conclusions were drawn by Markle (1986) in the US for rubble-mound structures.

There have been few experiments into scour in front of seawalls around the UK coastline, although some studies have been carried out by HRW at Blackpool, Shoreham and Teignmouth. These demonstrated the complexity of the hydraulic processes, and measurements from the former site show the lowering and recovery of beach levels at the base of the wall in the short-term, i.e. over a tidal cycle. Therefore, measurements of beach profiles made at successive low tides would not reveal the changes in level that occurred when the beach was submerged.

Measurements made at a shingle beach at Shoreham gave a noisy signal that was difficult to interpret. This may have been due to the greater permeability of a shingle beach allowing stronger flows within the beach. The active layer of sediment may also have been deeper, making it more difficult to determine where the surface of the beach was. Vertical movements up to 800mm down and back up were nevertheless recorded during a single high tide period.

This leads on to the third aspect, namely the review of laboratory experiments of scour in front of coastal structures (i.e. seawalls and breakwaters). This part of the literature review forms the basis for chapter 3 of this report, in particular the review of the scour mechanisms and the predictions of the depth of scour in front of the toe of the structures.

Despite the undoubted importance of beach lowering in front of coastal structures, there is little in the current literature that enables the design engineer to anticipate this phenomenon.

There is some guidance in the US Shore Protection Manual on the maximum depth of scour (see section 3.4), and other authors have reproduced this guidance in later texts. However, the empirical formula given may be very conservative, in the light of practical experience and observations. Little or nothing was found on predicting the long-term changes in beach level, save for that presented in the US report TR4 produced by the Beach Erosion Board in 1954.

More advice is available on reducing the extent of beach lowering, and/ or preventing this effect causing damage. Some of the older books, e.g. Owens and Case (1908), Stanton (1909) and Matthews (1934) suggest various methods for preventing the undermining of wall by scour at their toe, e.g. aprons, groynes and cut-off walls. These texts also advise on reducing such scouring effects, e.g. the use of sloping or stepped seawalls rather than those with a near vertical face. In more recent times, the advantages of introducing a permeable face to a coastal structure, e.g. a sloping rock revetment, have also been realised and this is now a frequently-used alternative to concrete walls.

To complete this review of existing knowledge, a number of case histories have been assembled for various locations around the coastline of the UK. These have been chosen to cover a range of different beach sediments, causes of coastal erosion/ beach lowering and alternative remedial works. These case histories are presented in Appendix 1 to this report.

2.3 Conceptual framework

The lowering of beaches and/or or shore-platforms, i.e. ground levels, in front of coastal structures is caused by a number of mechanisms. Some of these mechanisms are largely independent of the type of structure, i.e. they occur whether the structure is permeable or impermeable, whether it is steep-faced and reflects waves or whether it is more gently sloping and dissipates wave energy. Instead, these mechanisms reflect the characteristics and

geomorphological processes of the coast where the structure has been installed.

Other effects that lead to ground lowering, however, are dependent on the characteristics of the structure, but for the most part, these seem to have only localised effects, and are short-lived and reversible, at least on sandy beaches.

Previous investigations have separated out these two classes of effect into "long-term" (i.e. over years/ decades) and "short-term" (i.e. over a tidal cycle, a few days or perhaps seasonally). This is a useful basis for arranging an initial "conceptual framework" of the processes described in this report. There does not seem, however, to be any consistent nomenclature for the various processes involved, and therefore some provisional process "names" have been proposed in the following sub-sections.

Continued shoreline recession

Many coastlines around the world are eroding, as a consequence of the continual and damaging effects of winds, rainfall, waves and currents. This tendency is further strengthened by the gradual rise in sea level, allowing larger waves to travel further inshore, hence increasing their damaging effects on the seabed and beaches.

Where, for example, a seawall is built to protect an eroding shoreline (as sketched in Figure 1A below), it will not directly prevent erosion of the adjacent sections of that coastline. In this hypothetical situation, it is assumed that there is no longshore sediment transport and that the material eroded from the coastline and the shore platform is so fine-grained that it travels out into deep water. (This situation is similar to that found on the coastline of the Great Lakes in North America).

The principal cause of coastal recession in this situation is the continual erosion of the shore-platform where the wave-induced water velocities are high, particularly in the breaker zone and just outside it.

As the erosion of the coast either side of the seawall proceeds, then the ground level either side of the toe of the wall will fall. Now assume that the seawall affects the hydrodynamic/ geomorphological processes in front of it "beneficially" in the short-term, e.g. by reducing the height of the reflected waves compared to those in front of, say, adjacent cliffs. It might then be hoped that the ground levels in front of the wall would not lower as quickly as those in front of the cliffs.

However, this would require an increasingly steep lateral slope to the ground levels (in this case the shore-platform levels) as time passes, i.e. at the two ends of the seawall. Experience indicates that this does not occur. It is a reasonable approximation, therefore, to assume that the ground level at the toe of the wall will be (at best) equal to that of the ground level on either side of it. This was the advice provided by the U.S. Beach Erosion Board (1954). Griggs *et al*, (1991) refers to this process as "passive erosion". In this simple situation,

therefore, the ground levels in front of the coastal structure depend on the ground levels on either side of that structure. If these continue to fall, beach lowering in front of the structure will occur.

Where groynes are built out from the shoreline, along the seawall and perhaps along the adjacent unprotected coastline as well, they can reduce the tendency for levels immediately in front of the wall to match those on either side of it, at least in the short-term. Even so, the ground level at the seaward end of the groynes will be similar to that on either side of the groyne field. To maintain higher levels than would be expected without the groynes would therefore require a steeper bed/beach gradient within the groyne bays than outside.

The simple example sketched in Figure 1A for a short length of seawall may not apply for situations, such as at Blackpool or Bournemouth, where seawalls stretch along many kilometres of coastline. A further complication arises when different types of seawall are present along a stretch of coastline, since the lowering of the beach in front of one section of an energy-dissipating seawall may be altered by the effects of adjacent, more reflective structures.



Figure 1 Conceptual sketches of the effect of a seawall on coastal erosion

While the continuing effects of erosion of the shore platform, assisted by sealevel rise, will continue in front of such structures, it is unclear whether this will be faster or slower than would have occurred without the seawall. This is an area where further investigation may be warranted.

In parallel, a Defra funded study on 'Understanding and predicting beach morphological change associated with the erosion of cohesive foreshores' (FD1915) was led by Posford Haskoning and this has also produced a scoping report on relevant topics.

Effects of longshore drift

Many coastal erosion problems are a result of the interruption or alteration of the rates of sediment transport along the coastline, i.e. littoral drift. If we consider the simple situation above, but now assume that there is a beach and a nett longshore drift rate, then the seawall will interfere with that sediment transport. Experience has shown that the normal effect of a seawall on longshore drift is to reduce its rate in front of the wall. As a consequence of the differences between the drift rates in front of an either side of the wall, there then tends to be an accumulation of beach sediments "updrift" of the wall and corresponding erosion downdrift. On the updrift side, the accumulation of beach sediments will tend to compensate a trend long-term recession of the shoreline, and indeed may prevent this from occurring (e.g. the situation at the western end of the promenade at Sheringham – see Plate 7).



Plate 7 Accumulation of shingle at updrift end of seawall, Sheringham, Norfolk

Conversely, the interruption of the drift by the seawall results in greater downdrift erosion problems, at least locally, than would have occurred otherwise (e.g. the situation at the end of the seawall shown in Plate 8 - Zanzibar). This localised erosion problem will be often reflected in the beach/ shore/platform levels just downdrift of the wall, and the ground level contours in front of the wall can be expected to be lower at its downdrift than at its updrift end (see Figure 1B). Notice that where a seawall prevents the erosion of cliffs or dunes that would otherwise, by receding, have provided sediment to the beaches, then there will be a further deleterious effect on the downdrift coast. Many "promenade seawalls" built over the last 200 years around the UK coastline have not only caused this problem (e.g. at Bournemouth – see Plate 9) but have "impounded" (Griggs et al, 1991) or "imprisoned" (Case and Owens, 1908), a considerable amount of beach sediment. A photograph taken during the construction of the promenade at North Beach, Llandudno, for example, (from Case and Owens) seems to show that the shingle ridge that ran along the beach there was being used as fill material for the new wall. It seems likely that this practice was commonplace. In some cases, structures may have also have been filled with sand from the beach in front of them, hence leading to the likelihood of an "instant" lowering of the beach in front of and downdrift of the wall.



Plate 8 Erosion at downdrift end of seawall, Zanzibar



Plate 9 Seawall preventing sand supply from cliffs, Bournemouth

It should be remarked, however, that the processes by which a seawall (or other shore-parallel coastal structure) affects the longshore drift rate are not fully understood. A vertical wall situated in moderately deep water might totally reflect small waves, before they can break. As a consequence, while the agitation of the seabed in front of the wall may increase (because the wave energy passing over it is doubled), the waves will not break and the only longshore current will be due to streaming in the wave boundary layer. Therefore, for example, while the amount of beach sediment in suspension will increase, there may be a decrease in the local longshore transport rate compared to that experienced on a natural beach because of the lack of breaking wave induced currents to carry that sediment along the shoreline.

This very simple analysis, however, conflicts with observations made at Teignmouth (Miles *et al*, 1997). Here, both increased wave activity and increased longshore currents were measured in a situation very similar to that described above. For more complex situations, where waves have started to break over a beach before reaching the coastal structure, and where that structure dissipates some of the incident wave energy that reaches it, then the effects on longshore sediment transport are correspondingly more difficult to anticipate. This is an area where fundamental research could be usefully undertaken, for example to improve the representation of such structures in numerical models of shoreline evolution. Such modelling could then provide better predictions of the evolution of the lowering of the ground levels in front of it (see Figure 1B).

As with the discussion in Section 2.3., this description of the effects of longshore drift is valid for a short section of seawall, or a similar coastal structure, on a coastline without groynes. Where there are long lengths of seawall, possibly of different character, and/ or where the longshore drift is being altered by the presence of groynes, the situation inevitably becomes more complex.

There is, therefore, a need to combine the representation of the mechanisms of shore-platform lowering, and the effects of seawalls or revetments on longshore drift rates, into a modelling framework that predict the long-term changes of long stretches of coast with various types of structures.

Localised scour problems

As discussed in the introductory chapter to this report, there is a commonly-held view that ground lowering in front of coastal structures such as seawalls is a direct consequence of the installation of that structure, leading to scour of the beaches or shore platform. As can be seen from Section 2.3. (p 12. Continued shoreline recession) above, this is certainly not always the case. Indeed, it might well be that the structure has <u>no long-term</u> influence on the lowering of ground levels. The inverse, however, is often not true as the undermining of so many seawalls following lowering of the ground levels in front of them has demonstrated.

However, this does not rule out short-term (and typically more localised) effects of scour, particularly at the seaward toe of such structures. There are apparently a number of hydrodynamic processes that can contribute to this scour, as follows:

- **Wave reflections** Either partial or total, that increase water pressures and orbital velocities and the agitation of beach/ seabed sediments and in some circumstances produce a strong vertical water motion that impacts on the bed in front of the structure.
- **Currents** Currents flowing <u>along</u> the coastline can become "trained" against it, hence becoming stronger close to the face of the wall. This is particularly a concern near the mouths of tidal inlets or river mouths.
- **Groundwater flows** Current flowing perpendicular to the coastline, e.g. down the face or underneath the base of the structure (e.g. springs) can also add to the mobility of sediments just in front of the wall.
- **Permeability** The construction of an impermeable barrier in a permeable beach will alter the water flows within the beach/ seabed sediments and hence tend to destabilise them (e.g. Muir-Wood, 1969). This probably has a greater effect on shingle beaches than on those of sand.

The consequences of these effects on the hydrodynamic regime in front of a coastal structure may lead to the redistribution or removal of beach/ seabed sediments either along or perpendicular to the contours, and hence to lower levels in front of the structure. This process was called "active erosion" by Griggs *et al*, (1991). The expected consequence of this process is the formation of a scour "trough" directly in front of the structure, perhaps of sufficient depth to allow the foundations of the wall to be exposed and undermined.

This type of effect, unlike the longer-term and less localised effects described previously, can be expected to depend on the type of structure, i.e. on the slope, roughness and permeability of its face, and on its plan-shape. This is the process of principal interest in this study, since it is possible that such scour problems could be reduced, or even avoided entirely, by altering the types of structures that are built.

Such localised scour effects are often seen in laboratory experiments (see Section 3.5) but are less easy to find in prototype situations. There is a concern, however, that these effects may occur during storms, and at the time of high tidal levels when it is not possible to observe the ground levels in front of the structure. It is known that beach levels can recover rapidly after such events, i.e. within a few days after a severe storm, or possibly be significantly higher by the time of the next low tide. Clearly, it is the level of the ground in front of a coastal structure at the time of high tide, during a storm, that affects the wave heights and hence the wave-induced forces, run-up, overtopping etc. at that crucial time. Even such short-lived changes in bed level due to scour can therefore be important. Figure 2 below is a sketch of the hypothetical changes in ground levels in front of a coastal structure over a few days, indicating this potential concern. This sketch indicates the possibility of changes in level during each tidal cycle, with lower bed levels occurring at times of high water. Notice also that this sketch suggests that bed levels might well have been completely restored only 1-2 days after the peak of the storm. This is in accord with observation made along coastlines in this country and the US. which suggest that even in front of seawalls, the recovery of beach levels is rapid. Actual data on scour depths in front of seawalls during storms is lacking. Therefore it is impossible to say how realistic the conceptual model is.



Figure 2 Conceptual sketch of toe scour during a storm

3. Literature review of methods for predicting beach lowering

3.1 Mechanisms and parameters controlling toe scour

This section outlines the scour mechanisms and lists the environmental parameters that control toe scour. Some of these parameters are further investigated in other sections of the report.

Seawall toe scour occurs when the base of the wall can be acted upon by waves, either directly, when the sea level is higher than the bottom of the wall, or through wave run- up. The presence of a structure in relatively shallow water, for example, abruptly breaks the wave and the energy is dissipated within a much smaller zone than on a natural, unimpeded beach profile. This sudden release in energy is converted into turbulence and wave reflection. The extra kinetic energy released around the toe of the seawall induces lowering of the beach at the bottom of the wall by:

- increasing local shear stress on the bed to levels exceeding the threshold for sediment motion;
- generating shock waves through the impact of waves breaking on the seawall (the pressure waves set up in the water column are transmitted to the bed, and away from the wall, these high pressure gradients disturb the sediment and make it more vulnerable to erosion). Wave-induced liquefaction of bed sediments may become a contributing process as discussed in Section 3.4;
- increasing removal of the suspended sediment by longshore currents (the extra turbulence sustains sediment motion and allows it to be transported by currents);
- reducing sedimentation (the greater water velocity close to the seawall reduces settlement of sediment brought into the area from longshore drift).

The process of toe scour can be self-sustaining. For example, consider the situation where the beach level at the base of the seawall is above the mean high water spring tide level and therefore not vulnerable to scour under normal conditions. Once an exceptional storm (surge water level plus storm waves) produces initial scour, a greater range of wave/water level conditions can reach the seawall and the beach level in front of the seawall lowers progressively.

As the beach lowers further the water table is closer to the surface, pore pressures increase and the sand can be fluidised, thus the degree of sediment removal through backwash increases (Powell and Lowe, 1994). Periodically, conditions may allow a recovery of the beach level if there is a sufficient sediment supply, but for narrow beaches with a sediment deficit, it may never accrete to the pre-scour level. Further discussion about the processes of scour can be found Whitehouse (1998), Kraus and McDougal (1996) and Sumer and Fredsøe (2002) amongst others.

The extent and type of scour process is dependent on: (1) the wave climate and water level (2) the beach and (3) the design and position of the seawall on the shore profile. The remainder of this section discusses the influences of the first two categories on toe scour; the influence of seawall design will be discussed in Section 4.1.2.

Wave Climate and Water Level

The following wave/water level characteristics dictate the extent of accretion or erosion at the toe of the seawall:

- Wave height
- Wave period
- Water depth at the toe of the seawall
- Storm duration
- Angle of wave approach
- Overtopping
- (a) Wave height and period

Wave height and period determine offshore wave length (L_m). Evidence suggests that low steepness waves (i.e. a low H_s/L_m ratio) cause greater toe scour than steeper waves (see iso-parametric plots in Appendix 2). This conclusion is supported by the work of Herbich *et al*, (1965), Sato *et al*, (1969) and Yokoyama *et al*, (2003), although the influence of depth should not be ignored. Powell and Lowe's results (1994, see Appendix 2) also show significant scour depths for steep waves ($H_s/L_m \approx 0.06$) at a toe wall depth around zero.

(b) Water depth at the toe of the structure

The depth of water at the toe of the structure relative to wave height governs the wave orbital velocities at the bed. Physical and numerical modelling conducted previously at HR Wallingford (Powell and Lowe, 1994, Powell and Whitehouse, 1998) indicates that the most severe toe scour occurs for relatively low steepness swell waves ($H_s/L_m = 0.005$) when the initial water depth at the toe is approximately twice the offshore wave height ($d_w/H_s = 2$). This relationship was found to hold true for both the coarse sediments tested in a laboratory wave flume ($5mm < d_{50} < 30mm$) and numerical model results for sand (0.2mm). Yokoyama *et al*, (2003) noted that the largest scour depths occurred around $d_w/H_s = 2.5$. This is approximately at the initiation of breaking and agrees with Tanaka (1974).

(c) Storm duration

The duration of the wave/water level conditions is also an important control on toe scour development. Scour is not an instantaneous process - the trough deepens over a number of waves. Figure 3 (Powell and Lowe, 1994), derived from physical wave flume models of a coarse grained beach, demonstrates how scour develops until a quasi-equilibrium is obtained within about 3000 waves. It illustrates the typical pattern of rapid initial scour that declines exponentially towards the equilibrium depth. Similar trends are also apparent for sand beaches, though results from model studies (McDougal *et* *al*, 1986) suggest that the scour hole is slower to develop, with equilibrium unlikely to be achieved within a realistic storm/water level duration. This is supported by the result contained in Powell and Whitehouse (1998), (also see Figure 3). See Section 3.5.4.

The studies mentioned above were all conducted at a constant water depth. Few, if any, studies have looked at the effect of varying tidal levels on scour depths even for constant wave conditions. As water levels vary through the tidal cycle, potential scour depths, and even the position of scouring will vary. In some cases this may be expected to smooth out the profile of wave-induced scour.



Figure 3 Time development of scour (after Powell and Lowe, 1994; Powell and Whitehouse (1998)). Types given in Table 3

(d) Angle of wave approach

The angle at which the wave front hits the seawall has also been proposed as a factor affecting toe scour (Hsu and Silvester, 1989). The depth of toe scour is expected to be greater if waves hit the wall obliquely, because the incident and reflected wave trains interfere with each other *constructively*, producing an interference pattern of short crested waves. Consequently, the wave height and hence scour potential at the base of the wall should be larger if the angle of incidence is oblique rather than perpendicular to the seawall. In addition, oblique waves may induce local currents parallel to the seawall, (Lin *et al*, 1987 and Oumeraci, 1994), which enhance sediment removal at the toe of the structure.

(e) Overtopping

A further factor of importance may be the extent of any overtopping of the seawall. It is reasonable to expect that seawalls that experience heavy wave overtopping will offer less scour because the proportion of energy reflected

or dissipated as turbulence at the wall will be reduced. This effect has probably not been taken into account in previous studies of toe scour, for which the majority of walls appear to have been of sufficient size to limit the extent of any wave overtopping. Thus most empirically based methods for the prediction of toe scour may be conservative if applied to low crest structures, which experience regular overtopping. Similarly, to date, most numerical models can only simulate overtopping by reducing the reflection coefficient for a given seawall profile. Recent developments in phaseresolved modelling of non-linear shallow-water waves (e.g. Dodd, 1998) have allowed wave-by-wave overtopping events to be modelled. Such models could be coupled with sediment transport and bed updating models to investigate the effect of overtopping on scour, although such work is in its infancy. Few, if any, models are able to simulate accurately the turbulent dissipation occurring at the wall.

There are no design relationships to take into account the overtopping influence on scour depth. Nishimura *et al*, (1978) studied the scour at seawalls caused by an incident tsunami. In this case the overtopping water returned down the face of the structure and much of the scour was caused by the flow return.

They noted that:

- Scour depth decreases with decreasing wave height and increasing crown elevation (as there is less return flow) however, the area of serious scouring is displaced towards the seawall in this case;
- Scour increases (and it occurs at the toe precisely) when the face slope is mild;
- Scour decreases markedly when the water depth at the seawall increases;
- When waves are applied repeatedly, much less scouring is induced by each successive wave.

Beach Characteristics

Assuming that the volume of material within a beach, and its crest level, are insufficient to prevent wave action from reaching a seawall, then the following beach characteristics will influence the depth of any scour hole:

(i) Sediment supply

The amount of sediment supply to a beach greatly influences the impact of seawalls. The larger the supply the quicker storm scour holes are filled, and thus the risk of seawall damage reduced. Most field and laboratory studies, have shown that beach levels at the seawall do recover after storms as long as there is an adequate sediment supply. However, recovery may take longer than for neighbouring beaches without a seawall (Kraus, 1988).

 (ii) Grain size (and erodability of the bed) Surprisingly, there is little information in the literature regarding even the qualitative effect of sediment size on toe scour depth. An equation by McDougal *et al*, 1996, presented in Appendix 2 suggests that the smaller the grain size the larger the scour depth. This is partly supported by the review undertaken in preparation of this report which established that, although similar trends exist for toe scour on sand and shingle beaches, the actual depth of scour for any given sediment is dependent on the precise combination of water depth at the seawall and the incident wave conditions. Thus for relatively moderate wave conditions ($H_s/L_m \le 0.03$) scour depths are generally greater on sand beaches than on shingle beaches, as suggested by McDougal *et al*, (1996). However for more severe waves ($H_s/L_m \ge 0.03$) greater scour depths may be observed on shingle beaches. A review of laboratory and field data by Yokoyama et al, (2003) showed maximum scour depths decreasing as grain diameter increased for laboratory tests. However, limited results from field studies indicated increasing scour depths with increasing grain size. The authors suggested that scour holes in small grain beaches were more likely to fill in and not be observed, as the smaller sand would be more mobile in lower wave condition than larger grains sizes. Alternatively, this may be due to larger grain size beaches having a more volatile wave climate.

(iii) Depth of beach material

Toe scour depth may be limited if material with a higher tensile strength, such as a clay platform, underlays the mobile beach sediment, preventing further erosion.

(iv) Beach slope

The effect of beach slope on toe scour is yet to be determined conclusively and has long been a matter of debate. Some researchers have found that varying the initial slope has little or no effect on the final beach profiles, while others suggest that shallower beaches are less vulnerable to toe scour than steeper ones under the same set of wave/water level conditions. Previous tests at HRW indicate that toe scour depth decreases with decrease in beach slope angle. This relationship also agrees with the results from other numerical and laboratory studies (McDougal et al, 1996 and Ichikawa, 1967). It is likely that bed slope affects scour processes because it determines the critical wave steepness (which effectively divides breaking and non-breaking sea states) and therefore the way in which the wave breaks. For example, for a given offshore wave height period and water level, waves may break by collapsing and plunging on a steep beach profile; whereas on a shallow shore under the same conditions, the mode of breaking could be spilling. Thus there is likely to be more energy available for scour on steep rather than shallower beaches.

3.2 Kinematics in front of a reflective structure

Waves incident upon a coastal structure are reflected from it to some extent. The interaction of incident and reflected waves sets up a partial standing wave pattern in front of the breakwater. It is common in coastal engineering studies involving random waves to consider the random sea as the linear sum of a large number of incident component waves, plus the reflected components (O'Donoghue and Sutherland, 1999). This approach ignores wave-wave
interaction (such as clapotis) but allows solutions to random wave problems to be formulated relatively easily. Each component has a reflection coefficient, given by the ratio of reflected over incident component amplitude (Sutherland and O'Donoghue, 1998b) and a phase shift, which relates the phase of the incident and reflected waves at the toe of the structure (Hughes and Fowler, 1995, Sutherland and O'Donoghue, 1998a).

For example, when a single obliquely-incident wave is reflected from a seawall, the short crested wave field is characterised by a diamond-shaped pattern of 'island crests and troughs' (Hsu and Silvester, 1989). Lines of island crests and troughs occur at regular intervals in front of the structure. The reflection coefficient determines the magnitude of the island crests and troughs from the given incident wave height while the phase shift on reflection gives the distance from the structure to the first line of crests and troughs.

When a regular wave is reflected from a vertical wall (with a reflection coefficient K_r of 1 and zero phase shift) the incident and reflected components are in phase at the wall, so an anti-node is formed. This is an area with a relatively high root-mean-square (rms) surface elevation but zero horizontal velocity. On moving away from the wall the incident and reflected components move out of phase until they are completely out of phase (when the incident and reflected surface elevations cancel each other out so there is no surface movement but a maximum in horizontal velocity). This occurs at a distance of a quarter wavelength in front of the wall. On moving further out, the incident and reflected components move back into phase and another anti-node occurs at a distance of half a wavelength in front of the wall.

If there is a random sea state, instead of a regular wave, all reflected components will be in phase with the incident component of the same frequency at the wall, hence an anti-node is formed at the wall. On moving further out from the wall, each component will move out of phase at a different rate, as each has a separate wavelength. Therefore the next anti-node out from the wall will have a lower rms surface elevation than the one at the wall, and the one out from that will be lower again. Hughes (1992) showed how the spatial variation in rms surface elevation depends on relative depth (kh, with $k=2\pi/\lambda$ the wavenumber, λ the wavelength and h the water depth) and the narrowness of the wave spectrum. The narrower the wave spectrum, the larger the crossshore distance over which the partial standing wave pattern will be apparent. Moreover, the shallower the water, the greater the cross-shore distance over which this phase-locking will be apparent. The variation of root-mean-square orbital velocity with distance from the toe of a vertical wall is shown as a function of relative depth in Figure 4 (from Hughes and Fowler, 1991). For a sloping seawall, the incident and reflected components are already out of phase at the structure toe and reflection coefficients are lower than for a vertical wall. Both factors mean that the partial standing wave pattern generated in front of a sloping seawall is less obvious than that in front of a vertical wall (Hughes and Fowler, 1995).

O'Donoghue and Goldsworthy (1995), Hughes and Fowler (1995) and Sutherland and O'Donoghue (1997, 1998) measured the phase shift, γ , in front

of reflective structures. Hughes and Fowler (1995) related wave phase shift to the non-dimensional parameter, χ , given by:

$$\chi = \frac{l}{\tan \alpha} \sqrt{\frac{d_t}{gT^2}}$$
(1)

with α the structure slope above horizontal. Sutherland and O'Donoghue (1998) used a number of datasets to derive the empirical equation

$$\gamma = -8.64\pi \,\chi^{1.22} \tag{2}$$

The Sutherland and O'Donoghue (1998) data is shown in Figure 5. The above equation is Equation 17 in Figure 5. Equation 3 is the simplistic shallow water linear theory phase shift $\gamma = -8\pi\chi$, while Equation 11 is derived by matching standing waves at the toe of the structure and is:

$$\gamma = -2 \arctan \frac{J_{I}(4\pi\chi)}{J_{0}(4\pi\chi)}$$
(3)

where J_1 is first order Bessel function of the first kind and J_0 is a zeroth order Bessel function of the first kind.

Hughes and Fowler (1995) and O'Donoghue and Sutherland (1999) have showed how to combine linear theory expressions for the kinematics with reflection and phase shift spectra to determine the velocities and surface elevations in front of reflecting coastal structures. These are analytical models that do not include wave breaking due to shoaling.



Figure 4 Variation of rms wave orbital velocity on the bed with k_px as a function of k_ph (Hughes and Fowler, 1991)



Figure 5 Phase shift on reflection (Sutherland and O'Donaghue, 1998)

3.3 P-type and N-type sediment transport

A regular wave reflecting off a vertical wall generates a standing wave, which in turn generates steady streaming in the thin bottom boundary layer (Longuet-Higgins, 1953, 1957). This streaming is manifested as a slow recirculating current from anti-node to node at the bottom of the bottom boundary layer and from node to antinode at the top of the bottom boundary layer as shown in Figure 6 (from Sumer and Fredsøe, 2000). The current at the top of the boundary layer drives a counter-rotating re-circulating cell in the (much thicker) body of water above the boundary layer. This work was extended to oblique-incidence by Carter *et al*, (1973).



Figure 6 Re-circulating currents due to streaming under standing waves (Sumer and Fredsøe, 2000)

If the sediment in the bed is coarse and travels close to the bottom, it will be most influenced by the horizontal movements in the bottom boundary layer, which are towards the node (N-type). The result is scouring midway between anti-node and node and deposition under the node. If the sediment is small and is maintained in suspension, it will be most influenced by the current above the bottom boundary layer, so the net movement is away from the nodes towards the antinodes (L-type). Thus the pattern of sediment erosion and accretion varies with the mode of sediment transport – bedload transport gives a different pattern from suspended load transport (Sumer and Fredsøe, 2002) as shown in Figure 7 (also from Sumer and Fredsøe, 1997).



Relatively coarse sand (bedload)

Figure 7 Scour and deposition patterns in front of a vertical seawall (a) Suspended sediment transport (L-type) (b) Bedload sediment transport (N-type)

Various formulae have been derived that distinguish between suspended and bedload hydrodynamic regimes. Sumer (1986) gives a criterion for currents: suspension will be initiated when the Shields parameter is greater than the threshold value, expressed as a function of dU_{fm}/v , where *d* is the grain diameter, U_{fm} is the maximum value of the friction velocity and *v* is the kinematic viscosity of the water. Sediment will not remain in suspension unless $U_{fm}/w > 1$, where *w* is the fall velocity of the sediment.

Xie (1991) proposed the following criterion for the initiation of suspension under waves:

$$\frac{U_m - U_{cr}}{w} \ge 16.5,\tag{4}$$

Where U_m is the maximum value of orbital velocity at the bed and U_{cr} is the critical velocity for incipient sediment transport. Irie and Nadaoka (1984) argued that in most practical cases U_m is much greater than U_{cr} , so Xie's criterion could be simplified to:

$$\frac{U_m}{w} \ge 10 \tag{5}$$

3.4 Wave-induced liquefaction near seawalls

In 2001 an EU funded research programme began that was entirely dedicated to the problem of liquefaction around marine structures, LIMAS (Liquefaction Around Marine Structures). The project involved numerical, physical and field modelling of the processes that lead to liquefaction and the subsequent response of various structures (e.g. caisson breakwaters and pipelines). At the conclusion of the project, April 2004, the findings of the project will be made available and a special issue in a leading ASCE journal will be published. A review of the potential role of seabed liquefaction as a mechanism operating at the toe of a seawall has been included based on this ongoing research.

Definition of liquefaction

In common usage, the term *liquefaction* refers to the loss of strength in saturated, cohesionless soils due to the build-up of pore water pressures during dynamic loading. A more precise definition of liquefaction is given by Sladen *et al*, (1985):

"Liquefaction is a phenomenon wherein a mass of soil loses a large percentage of its shear resistance, when monotonic, cyclic or shock loading is applied, and flows in a manner resembling a liquid until the shear stresses acting on the mass are as low as the reduced shear resistance."

As waves propagate over the seabed they cause the pore pressures in the bed to vary inducing flow and hence variations in the stresses between the grains. In some cases, the excess pore pressure, p^* , may increase to such a degree that contact between the grains (effective stress) is lost and the bed liquefies. If this takes place near a structure (e.g. breakwater) then failure may occur. In terms of the submerged unit weight of the soil, γ'_s , this criterion can be written as:

 $p^*(z) \ge \gamma'_s z$

(6)

Case studies of liquefaction in the vicinity of coastal structures

A case study of a damaged breakwater was demonstrated by Zen et al (1988). It was suggested that the cause of a slip circle failure of the foundations could have been wave-induced liquefaction. Their analysis showed that the presence of a thin layer of clay near the surface could have a very large influence on the liquefaction potential.

Silvester and Hsu (1989) investigated the large-scale failure of the Sines breakwater in 1978. The damage consisted of the complete loss of some twothirds of the armour layer of 42t dolosse units. A number of possible mechanisms for the collapse were suggested but due to the suddenness and completeness of the failure, Silvester and Hsu favoured the hypothesis that the bed near the toe of the structure may have liquefied, causing the armour units to become unstable. They also pointed out that scour at the toe of the structure can also be significant. In this case it was not easy to determine the relative contribution to failure of liquefaction and scour.

Maeno and Tsubota (2001) carried out scale model experiments investigating the flow out of back-filling sand behind revetments due to wave loading. They showed that the cyclic seepage force which occurs around the revetment plays an important role in the flow out of the sand. They also showed that a limiting criterion could be derived below which the sand would not move. This criterion depended on the wave height, wave period, permeability and depth of penetration of the revetment into the sand. An illustration of the mechanism is shown in Figure 8.

Further references are provided by Jeng (2001). Loveless *et al*, (1996) also demonstrated the effect that groundwater flows under a seawall could have on the scouring of a model gravel beach, even without inducing liquefaction. In the most extreme case, an onshore flow (beach de-watering) produced accretion near the seawall toe and an offshore flow (under the seawall from the landwards side) produced more erosion than occurred during the no flow test.



Figure 8 Mechanism for flow out of sand from behind revetment (from Maeno and Tsubota, 2001)

Liquefaction in cohesionless soils

For sands, two different types of liquefaction have been identified in the literature, momentary and residual. The primary difference is the relative time-scales of the two processes. The first, momentary liquefaction, tends to only last for a small fraction of a wave period and only affects a limited area of the seabed. On the other hand, residual liquefaction, takes place over a time scale of tens to hundreds of wave periods and has the potential to affect a larger area of seabed.

Momentary liquefaction was dealt with in detail by Madsen (1978) and Yamamoto *et al,* (1978). In this analysis the seabed is assumed to behave elastically and the pore fluid is allowed to be compressible. The pore pressure

fluctuates at the wave frequency and induces reversing flow in the bed. It was shown that under the wave trough, the flow is directed upwards and out of the bed, causing the effective stresses to reduce. If the bed liquefied it only remained so for a small proportion of the wave period as it regained strength as the crest approached and the flow reversed. The extent of the liquefied zone depended on the compressibility of the pore fluid and seabed material, the wave characteristics (wave height and period) and the water depth. The second cause of liquefaction in a sand bed is more analogous with earthquake-induced liquefaction, and is termed residual liquefaction. Due to the oscillating bottom pressure under a wave, significant shear stresses are created which can be as large as the cyclic shear stresses induced by large earthquakes. Consequently, if the seabed is in a relatively loose initial state, excess pore pressures will be generated as the bed attempts to consolidate, as in the case of an earthquake. The rate of pore pressure build-up will depend on the magnitude of the forcing (i.e. wave conditions and water depth), the relative density of the sand and the coefficient of consolidation (i.e. drainage characteristics). This has been dealt with in detail by Rahman and Jaber (1986) and McDougal et al, (1989) and more recently by Cheng et al. (2001). This type of liquefaction affects the whole seabed, irrespective of the position of the wave crest, and occurs over a longer period (typically in the order of minutes).

Liquefaction in cohesive soils

Various concepts have been proposed for the mechanism that causes the liquefaction (fluidisation) of very soft clay beds. Foda *et al*, (1991) suggested a "soil piping" concept where resonance is initiated within vulnerable cavities in the fine-grained bed, followed by progressive failure of the soil matrix around such cavities. Feng (1992) and de Wit and Kranenburg (1993) carried out wave flume experiments on soft muds where the initiation and subsequent growth of the fluid mud layer was measured.

From later work by de Wit (1995) it was found that the potential for fluidisation of a soft clay bed was linked to the magnitude of the wave induced stresses and the undrained shear strength of the bed. Typically if the wave-induced stresses exceeded the shear strength of the bed, the bed will fluidise. The depth of fluidisation will be controlled by the variation in depth of the forcing and the strength. For given wave conditions and soil strength profile there will be an equilibrium fluidisation depth.

Predicting Liquefaction

There are numerous methods for predicting the occurrence of both mechanisms of liquefaction, but in the following paragraphs one method for each will be presented and the important parameters highlighted.

Momentary liquefaction can be reasonably well predicted using linear-elastic theory and accounting for the compressibility of the pore fluid and the drainage characteristics of the soil. Analytical solutions to the problem of progressive waves over a poro-elastic seabed were first presented by Madsen (1978) and Yamamoto *et al*, (1978). These solutions highlighted the importance of the

relative compressibility of the pore fluid. If the pore fluid had even a small trace of air bubbles (i.e. < 1%), the liquefaction potential was significantly increased. Likewise, the potential also increased for decreasing values of the permeability. Figure 9 shows how the depth of liquefaction varies against two key nondimensional parameters, $KG/(\rho_w g^2 Th)$ and G/β , where G (Pa) is a measure of the soil stiffness, β (Pa) is a measure of the pore fluid stiffness (including effect of gas bubbles) and K (ms⁻¹) is the permeability, $\rho_w(kgm^{-1})$ is the fluid density, $g(ms^{-2})$ the acceleration due to gravity, T(s) the wave period and h(m) the water depth. Analytical solutions for standing, or partially standing waves in front of seawalls have been presented by Tsai (1995). A review of liquefaction in front of seawalls was recently presented by Jeng (2001).



Figure 9 Depth of momentary liquefaction for typical wave conditions (from Law, 1993)

Unlike momentary liquefaction, residual liquefaction cannot be predicted using elastic soil models. The reason is that the mechanism for building up excess pore pressure comes from the plastic behaviour of the soil. The continuous loading and unloading of the soil as the wave passes overhead tries to compact the seabed. For the seabed to densify, it must 'squeeze' the water out of the pores. If the drainage capabilities of the soil are poor (e.g. fine sand or silt), the pore pressure within the bed will rise faster than it can dissipate and liquefaction may occur. Therefore this type of liquefaction is unlikely to occur in coarse grained sands.

In the past there have been two types of solutions to this problem, one based on empirical equations relating the cyclic shear stress ratio, $|\tau_{xz}|/\sigma_{v0}$, to the number of cycles to liquefaction determined from laboratory (triaxial) testing and another based on more sophisticated constitutive models for the sand.

 $|\tau_{xz}|$ (units) is kPa and σ'_{v0} (units) is kPa. Most of the work has been based on research done in the earthquake field. A review of the fully empirical models can be found in Cheng *et al*, (2001). Sassa *et al*, (2001) gives an in depth description of a sophisticated time-domain, finite element model used for predicting residual liquefaction.

3.5 **Prediction methodology**

Available approaches for toe scour prediction

At present, there are four categories of methods for predicting toe scour:

- 2-dimensional physical modelling;
- 3-dimensional physical modelling;
- Empirical formulae and parametric plots derived to fit experimental results;
- Process-based numerical models of near-shore sediment transport.

Because the physics of scour are not fully understood, most of the methods used are based on experiments rather than theoretical models; but this is changing slowly as research on sediment transport processes continues. Table 1 summarises the advantages and disadvantages of each technique.

Rules of thumb and semi-empirical equations are useful for determining whether scour is likely to be a significant problem. These methods, however, may not be adequate if the site conditions are complex, and in these cases, physical modelling is recommended. Three-dimensional models are preferable to two dimensional models because cross-shore as well as long-shore processes can be simulated. The model scale should be as large as possible to reduce scaling limitations and it is recommended that random rather than regular waves are used as the latter artificially constrict the zone of sediment transport on the beach profile. In the last few years, attempts have been made to incorporate seawall effects into near-shore sediment transport computer models that predict changes in beach profile (McDougal et al, 1996; Southgate, 1989, Steetzel, 1987, Rakha and Kamphuis, 1997, Baguerizo and Losada, 1998, Lawrence et al, 2003). Note should also be taken of the analytical model of Ruggiero and McDougal (2001). These models all incorporate reflected waves. At present, results from these models should be treated with caution as not all the effects that a seawall has on hydrodynamics are modelled, including for example, the turbulence that is produced by the impact of a wave on the seawall. (For a somewhat harsh critique of numerical models of sediment transport, see Thieler et al. 2000).

Scour prediction category	Outline of Method	Advantages	Disadvantages
Physical modelling (2- dimensional)	Experiments are conducted in a flume (rectangular wave	Relatively easy method	Does not simulate longshore currents or
	channel) - typical	The model can be	sediment

Table 1 Comparison of methodologies for toe scour predictio

dimensions: length 15m to 50m, widths 0.3m to 3m, water depths 0.2 to 2m A scaled-down model of the seawall, the beach profile and sediment are put into the flume and subjected to appropriately scaled unidirectional wave conditions. Change in the beach profile adjacent to the wall is then measured.	re-run with various seawall design options and positions relative to the surf zone, to compare the impact of alternative design options Actual site profiles and wave conditions can be modelled In addition to predicting toe scour, the stability and or overtopping performance of the various seawall designs can also be investigated	transport Limited to orthogonal wave attack Scaling considerations may limit the confidence with which model results can be transferred to the field. Conclusions are thus at best qualitative rather than quantitative, and where scaling problems are severe, toe scour prediction may be totally misleading Requires specialist facilities
		and expertise

Physical modelling (3- dimensional)	Experiments are conducted in rectangular wave basins - typical dimensions: length of sides 15m to 30m, water depths 0.2m to 1m	Wave paddles can be positioned to provide oblique as well as shore- normal wave trains and it is normally possible to alter the direction and	Scaling problems, particularly for finer sediments, reduce the applicability of the results to field situations and it may be that only
	A scaled-down model of the seawall and beach, in plan and section, is constructed in the basin	Models both cross- shore and long- shore sediment transport.	Appropriate cost and timescale needs to be
	Waves are generated by paddles and currents may be included by pumping	dimensional site specific features can be modelled. This is not possible using empirical	Requires specialist facilities and expertise

	the water across the basin	mathematical formulae In addition to predicting toe scour, the stability of the various seawall designs can also be investigated, as can the overtopping performance	
Semi- empirical mathematica I formulae	These are mathematical relationships derived from the results of physical model tests and/or field measurements	Inexpensive and easy to use	Validity is restricted to conditions within the range used to deduce the empirical relationship Inadequate for complex situations (for example irregular beach profile or where waves and currents interact in a complex way). For these cases 3- dimensional physical modelling is recommended
n-line numerical models	Commonly 1-line models such as Beachplan or Genesis are used to model the planshape evolution of beach contours	Flexible in terms of combinations of parameters that can be tested	Have crude representation of the effect of seawalls on longshore transport. Do not explicitly model scour processes
2D coastal profile models	Numerical modelling of the cross-shore transport on a straight beach with shore-parallel contours. Influence of structure typically	Many combinations of beach profile, water level, wave height and period can be tested quickly and at less cost than physical	Not all physical processes are parameterised well in the models. For example, wave reflection from

	included through its reflection coefficient	modelling	seawall is crudely represented, interaction of incident and reflected waves is commonly ignored, as is turbulence generated by wave breaking
3D coastal area models	Commonly 2DH models with quasi- 3D components, that represent currents, waves, sediment transport and morphodynamics	Can model irregular bathymetries and include the effect of currents	Slow to run compared to 2D coastal profile models. Similar deficiencies to 2D coastal profile models, but with less (often no) resolution in the vertical. Important surf zone processes, such as undertow are omitted

Empirical formulae for toe scour prediction on shore parallel structures

This section presents the available design formulations to predict scour depth on shore parallel structures (namely, seawalls and the trunk of breakwaters). This information has been summarised in Table 2. Because of the scarcity of design formulations, widely-used rules of thumb and useful remarks have also been included in the table. The formulations and rules of thumb in the table are for sandy beaches unless otherwise stated. Further information is given in Section 3.7 and Appendix 2.

This table can be treated as the first reference point when looking for a formulation to predict scour. The formulations are presented in separate columns for vertical and sloping structures. The entries in the table are split into rows for breaking waves (which includes conditions when the waves break before reaching the structure or at the structure itself) and non-breaking waves (they reach the structure without breaking and are reflected). Both these categories are further subdivided into normally incident waves and obliquely incident waves. Once the appropriate category has been identified, detailed information on the design formulations, their applicability, method of derivation and any limitations can be found in Appendix 2.

For worked examples of maximum scour depth calculations using the Jones' equation, the Song and Schiller equation, and the Fowler equation refer to Fowler (1993). Scour prediction methodology and formulae are also discussed in Powell (1987) and Fowler (1992) and (1993).

		DESIGN	COMMENTS
	alls	Hughes and Fowler (1991)	Suspended transport, irregular wave
	al Wá	O'Donoghue (2001)	Bedload and regular waves
	Vertic	Xie (1981, 1985)	Bedload and suspended, regular waves
		No design relationship for suspended load transport.	Use formulae for vertical walls taking into account CEM, (2002). "A standing wave field similar to that at a vertical structure will be created, except that the variation between the sea surface elevation nodes and antinodes is less pronounced and the location of the node nearest to the structure toe varies with wave condition and structure reflection conditions."
Normal Incidence	Sloping walls	Sumer and Fredsøe (2000) for bedload transport at rubble mound breakwaters.	Apply to seawalls with caution as reflection coefficient of seawall is higher, Scour depth at a rubble mound breakwater is smaller than at a vertical wall breakwater Scour depth decreases as slope of rubble mound breakwater decreases
	Vertical Walls	No design relationship.	Use formulae for normal incidence, taking Silvester (1991) into account: Obliquely incident waves tend to scour more than equivalent normally incident waves Mode of transport may change, resulting in overall scouring in front of structure
Oblique Incidence	Sloping Walls	No design relationship	Use formulae for normal incidence waves and a vertical wall, taking into account advice of CEM (2002), Sumer and Fredsøe (2000) and Silvester (1991) as appropriate.

 Table 2a
 Design Relationships for non-breaking waves

Table 2b Design relationships for normal incidence waves breaking at or before the structure

		DESIGN	COMMENTS
		RELATIONSHIPS	
		CEM (2002)	S _m =H _{max} or S _m ≈h Max scour occurs when vertical wall is located around the plunge point of the breaking wave Reducing wall reflection reduces the amount of scour
		Powell and Whitehouse (1998, sand)	Iso-parametric plot shown in Appendix 2.
		McDougal, Kraus and Ajiwibowo (1996)	Formula shown in Appendix 2.
		Powell and Lowe (1994, shingle)	Iso-parametric plot shown in Appendix 2.
		Van Rijn (1993)	S _{max} /h _{toe} for depths 1.5 to 1 <2m
		Fowler (1992)	Formula given in Appendix 2.
		Powell (1987) for shingle	max scour occurs when h _{toe} /H _s ≈1.5
		Powell (1987) for sand	S _{max} ≈H for 0.02 <h<sub>s/L_m<0.04</h<sub>
		Dean (1986)	Approximate principle
		SPM (1984)	S ≤ Ho
		Jones (1975)	Equation in Appendix 2 from analytical model.
		Song and Schiller (1973)	Formula shown in Appendix 2.
	rtical Walls	Chesnut and Schiller (1971)	Maximum scour occurs when distance from seawall to point of wave breaking is between ½ and 2/3 of distance from point of wave breaking to pre-seawall position of mean water line.
	Ve Ve	Herbich and Ko (1968)	Formula shown in Appendix 2
sidence		CEM (2002)	$S_m \leq H_{max}$ Maximum scour occurs for vertical wall Scour decreases with decreasing structure reflection coefficient (i.e. with decreasing slope and increasing porosity.)
Normal In	Sloping W	Van Rijn (1993)	$\begin{array}{ccc} S_{max}/h_{toe} & \mbox{for depths} \\ 1 \ to \ 0.5 & \ <4m \\ 0.5 \ to \ 0.3 & \ 4 \ to \ 10m \\ 0.3 & \ 10 \ to \ 20m \end{array}$

	Powell (1989):
	For impermeable sloping structures
	of 1:1.5 to 1:2 there is no significant
	reduction in scour depth compared to
	that at a vertical wall
	Reducing the slope of an
	impermeable structure to 1:3 can
	reduce local scour typically by 25%
	but up to a maximum of 50%
	compared to a vertical wall.
	Rock armoured revetments generally
	show less susceptibility to local scour
	and may even allow accretion.
	Herbich (1984): scour depth is only
	significantly reduced for seawall
	slopes of 15° or less.

		DESIGN	COMMENTS
		RELATIONSHIPS	
	Vertical walls	No design relationship	Design as for normal incidence vertical walls, taking into account the following, as appropriate: Rakha and Kamphuis (1997): S~Hb for angle of incidence of 10° <i>CEM (2001):</i> Short-crested waves increase in size along the structure, which may cause greater scour than normally incident waves <i>S significantly increased when along-</i> <i>structure currents exist</i> <i>Oblique waves generate flow parallel</i> <i>to the structure</i>
Oblique	Sloping walls	No design relationships	Design as for normal incidence sloping walls, taking into account the following, as appropriate: Baquerizo and Losada (1998): Depending on the angle of incidence, scour or deposition may occur at the toe of the structure

Table 2c Design relationships for scour depths due to oblique incidencebreaking waves

Similarities and differences between response of shingle and sand beaches to toe scour processes

This section discusses the similarities and differences between coarse and fine grain toe scour as obtained when comparing the isoparametric plots for shingle (Powell and Lowe, 1994) and for sand (Powell and Whitehouse, 1998). These parametric plots are reproduced in Appendix 2.

Similarities between response of shingle and sand beaches to toe scour processes:

- Depending on wave steepness, maximum scour for both coarse grain sediment (d_{50} between 5 and 30mm) and sand (d_{50} = 0.2mm) occurs when the ratio initial water depth at the seawall toe h_{toe} to significant wave height H_s is around 2.0;
- The maximum toe scour after 3000 waves is caused by the wave condition with the lowest wave steepness at the relative water depth of (h_{toe}/H_s) of 2.0. For a wave steepness of 0.01, *S*/H_s was 1.5 for both tested grain sizes. Moreover, for a given time duration, low steepness (i.e. swell waves) are more damaging than steeper waves. Scour is most severe between 0.005 < Hs/Lm < 0.02, and there is no significant difference in scour within this range (peak *S*/H_s is about 1.0 after 1 hour of storm conditions). For waves steeper than this, the dimensionless peak scour value after one hour of

storm conditions decreases from 0.3 for H_s/L_m = 0.03, to 0.12 for H_s/L_m = 0.08;

• For a given number of waves, or a given storm duration, low steepness waves (i.e. a low *H_s/L_m* ratio) cause more toe scour than steeper waves (this holds true for both grain sizes tested).

Differences between response of shingle and sand beaches to toe scour processes:

- Scour appears to occur over a larger range of relative water depth on sand beaches than gravel for low steepness waves but over a smaller range for steeper waves. For example, for the wave steepness $H_s/L_m = 0.01$ scour occurs between $H_{toe}/H_s = 0$ and at least 6 for sand, but 1.25 to 3.1 for gravel but for the steeper wave of $H_s/L_m = 0.06$ the range in relative water depth over which significant scour ($S/H_s = 0.25$) occurs on sand is between $h_{toe}/H_s = 0.6$ to 1.8 whereas for coarse grains this increases to between approximately -0.07 to 2.2;
- Maximum scour depth for the sand beach was approximately equivalent to the offshore wave height for wave steepness up to around 0.025 (a lower limit than predicted for coarse sediment H_s/L_m around 0.04);
- For wave steepnesses, $H_s/L_m > 0.02$ the scour depth after 3000 waves is greater for gravel rather than sand beaches;
- Sand beaches take longer to come into equilibrium with the wave climate than coarse sediments. This may be related to the reflection coefficient of the beach (as coarse beaches tend to be steeper and more reflective). Sá–Pires *et al*, (2003) showed that, after an erosional storm, the recovery time of a reflective beach was faster than that of intermediate and dissipative beaches nearby. (See also Section 3.5.4);
- Unlike coarse sediment, no accretion at the base of the seawall was predicted for sand, however, this could well be due to the limitations of the numerical model (COSMOS) rather than a real effect. SBEACH, a similar type of near-shore sediment transport model also reported the same problem (MacDougal *et al*, 1996).

Time development issues

Powell and Lowe (1994) derived iso-parametric plots of the scour and accretion of a shingle beach after 3000 waves (Appendix 2) but they also measured the time development of the scour and plotted curves to allow the scour depth after different numbers of waves to be plotted. The time development was found to depend on the type of scour/reflection behaviour (Section 3.5.5). Powell and Whitehouse (1998) added a curve for sand. Their data for the time-development of scour is shown in Figure 3.

McDougal *et al*, (1996) used numerical model results to investigate the time evolution of the scour and derived an expression similar to the one used for piles and pipelines:

$$S(t) = S_e \left(1 - \exp^{-\mu \frac{t}{T}} \right)$$
(7)

S(t) is toe scour depth at time t

- Se is equilibrium toe scour depth
- T is wave period (as opposed to the characteristic timescale used in pile and pipeline formulations; Whitehouse, 1998)

A best fit line to their data gave μ =0.000321.

Comparing this formulation and Figure 3, Whitehouse (1998) proposed an as yet undefined dependency of μ on the initial bed condition/water depth at the wall and the sediment transport rate, modifying McDougal *et al*, (1996) expression to:

$$S(t) = S_e \left(1 - \exp^{\left(-\mu \frac{t}{T}\right)^p} \right)$$
(8)

with p taking values other than 1.

Xie (1981) stated that the number of waves to reach the final scouring depth (at time t_{max}) was dependent on the wave steepness, H/L, so that (for regular waves period T):

- for H/L>0.02: t_{max}/T=6500-7500 for "fine" sand (in suspension) and t_{max}/T=7000 for "coarse" sand (not in suspension)
- for H/L<0.02: t_{max}/T=7500-10000 for "fine" sand (in suspension) and t_{max}/T=6500-10000 for "coarse" sand (not in suspension).

For irregular waves he found values of t_{max} more than double that for regular waves. Xie (1981) also derived an expression to derive the scour S_t at any time t, once the maximum scour, S_{max}, has been calculated:

$$\frac{S_{\max}}{S_t} = \left(\frac{t}{t_{\max}}\right)^a \tag{9}$$

with a=0.3 for "fine" sand (S) and a=0.4 for "coarse" sand (NS)

Previous bed level

Powell and Lowe (1994) found that the initial scour response at the wall could be very different for different initial conditions, as these define the type of scour / wave reflection behaviour. The four types identified are described in Table 3. (Although these data are specifically for shingle, they are considered reasonably typical for scour at seawalls in general). The time development of scour for the different types is shown in Figure 3.

Туре	Initial beach	Reflected	K _r	Onshore / offshore	Beach response and scour
Туре I	Initial beach level is high relative to the wave height	Low	Low and constant through time	Onshore movement high; offshore movement low	The beach responds in much the same way as a natural beach. The seawall plays little part in beach processes as it is not under direct wave attack
Type II	Combination of beach levels and wave heights is such that there is marginal scour	Low	K _r increases through time	Predominant onshore transport; some offshore transport	Initially there is scour at the toe, however, over time the beach can build up due to the predominant onshore movement of material. As the beach level increases so the amount of reflected energy, and hence the proportion of offshore to onshore transport, decreases. Given sufficient time the beach level can build up to the Type 1 condition
Type III	Initial beach level is low relative to the wave height	High	K _r increases through time	Low onshore movement; high offshore movement	The toe depth increases with time and there is a general lowering of beach levels. As the beach level decreases so does the amount of reflected energy, and hence the proportion of offshore to onshore transport, increases. Given sufficient time the beach levels can reduce to the Type IV condition
Type IV	Initial beach level is very low relative to the wave height	High	K _r large and constant through time	Predominantly offshore movement	Scour is small compared to water depth. The movement of material is low in both the onshore and offshore directions due to the large depth of water relative to the wave height. Eventually a stable situation is attained from which, whatever the incident wave conditions, the beach cannot recover its former levels

Table 3 Influence of initial beach level on scour response in shingle
(Powell and Lowe, 1994)

Xie (1981) found (when starting a test with a deformed bed level) that once a greater scouring depth was created by storm waves, it was difficult for the following waves to fill in the scouring trough. The influence of the bottom geometry on the orbital velocities was the cause suggested for this behaviour.

3.6 Scale effects

A very thorough discussion of scale factors in various types of hydrodynamic models, both with and without sediment can be found in Hughes (1993). The discussion below is taken from Sutherland (1999), which was derived from Sutherland and Whitehouse (1998) which relied on the work of Kamphuis (1985, etc). A brief summary of some of the main parameters is given below.

It is assumed throughout that waves are scaled by the Froude number:

$$F_r = \frac{U^2}{gL} \tag{10}$$

where U is a velocity, g is gravitational acceleration and L is a length. To maintain similitude, this number must be the same in the model and prototype. The 5 main non-dimensional numbers for sediment transport similitude between prototype and model are listed below.

The Grain Reynolds Number:
$$R_{e^*} = \frac{u_*d}{v}$$
 (11)

where u_* is the shear velocity, *d* the (median) grain diameter and *v* the fluid viscosity. The shear velocity is derived from the grain shear stress, τ , and the water density ρ , as $u_* = (\tau \rho)^{0.5}$. The grain shear stress is that applied to a grain, not the total stress applied to a ripple and is used to represent the mobilising force due to the waves.

The Shields Parameter:

$$\theta = \frac{\tau}{g(\rho_s - \rho)d} \tag{12}$$

where ρ_s is the density of the sediment. The Shields parameter relates the mobilising forcing applied to a grain on the bed to the restoring force due to gravity and is related to the Densimetric Froude number. The Shields parameter can be used to determine sediment mobility:

- if $\theta < \theta_{cr}$ (where θ_{cr} is the critical Shieds parameter) then the bed is immobile;
- if $\theta_{cr} < \theta < 0.8$ (roughly) then the bed is mobile and rippled;
- if $\theta > 0.8$ then the bed is mobile and flat with sheet flow.

Relative density (or specific gravity):

$$s = \frac{\rho_s}{\rho_s}$$

Relative length:

$$l_s = \frac{l}{d} \tag{14}$$

where *I* is a characteristic length of the system. Kamphuis (1985) gives some guidance as to which length should be used in different experiments.

Relative fall speed.

The relative fall speed can be chosen in a number of different ways. If the model is to be bedload dominant (so sediment mobility is dominated by shear stress applied at the bed) then the relative fall speed can be defined as:

$$\frac{u_*}{w_s} \tag{15}$$

as commonly used in river sediment transport studies. Here w_s is the sediment fall speed, which can be determined from common equations in Soulsby (1997). If the ratio is greater than 1 then the sediment is often taken to be in suspension. In this case sediment mobility may be dominated by turbulence and the Dean fall speed parameter, D_{ws} , is commonly used:

$$D_{ws} = \frac{H}{w_s T} \tag{16}$$

where *H* is wave height, so H/w_s represents the time taken for a particle to fall a wave height.

All five of the above numbers should be the same in model and prototype if similitude is to be guaranteed. Unfortunately that is impossible to achieve except at a scale of 1:1 so compromises must be made. The most important numbers must be preserved, and the similitude between the values of others must be relaxed. In order to make in informed choice about which scale factors to preserve and which to relax, the hydrodynamics of a situation and the sediment response to the hydrodynamics must both be known and the relative dominance of different mechanisms estimated.

Bedload transport scale models

Kamphuis (1985) came up with 4 scaling models for the bedload transport case. They are discussed in Hughes (1993) and short comments outlining the disadvantages of each may be found in Oumeraci (1994). The scaling models are:

- 1. Best model, which preserves the Shields parameter, the relative density and the relative length scale;
- 2. Lightweight model, which preserves the grain Reynolds number and the Shields parameter and uses lightweight sediment in the model, thereby preserving the relative density within a factor of 2 or so;
- 3. Densimetric Froude model, which preserves the Shields parameter and uses a lightweight sediment, thereby preserving the relative density within a factor of 2 or so;
- 4. Sand model, which preserves the relative density.

All the models have their advantages and disadvantages and the inevitable scale effects. Alternative scaling criteria will apply if the test concerns a permeable beach or structure. Yalin (1963) proposed a method for the selection of model sediment to predict the scouring of a shingle beach in front of a vertical wall using a physical model. The method used the following criteria for model scaling:

- 1. The relative magnitudes of the onshore and offshore motion should be the same in model and prototype;
- 2. The threshold of motion should be correctly scaled (by maintaining the same ratio of drag forces and submerged weight in model and prototype);
- 3. The permeability of the beach should be correctly reproduced (by ensuring that the percolation slope of the model and prototype are the same).

These similitude criteria formed the basis of the physical modelling of shingle beaches using coal, carried out by Powell and Lowe (1994). Loveless (1994, 1995, 1996) has challenged Yalin's approach, both in terms of the values of hydraulic gradient and percolation velocity assumed, and also in terms of the processes represented. A modified version of Yalin's scaling was proposed instead. If Loveless is correct, then many of the scour predictions for gravel beaches, derived from lightweight sediment models, will be overpredictions of the actual scour. However, to test the scaling ideas out thoroughly would require a series of tests to be performed at a range of scales from almost full scale to the more typical 1:20 laboratory scale. No such test series has ever been run and so there is still uncertainty over how to scale the sediment for model tests and whether small scale model test results can be extrapolated to full scale.

Suspended load scale models

Dean (1985) argued that in cases where suspended sediment is predominant the Shields parameter does not have to be preserved as the wave breaking and turbulence were more dominant mechanisms in determining sediment mobility than the wave shear stress. His recommendations were for an undistorted model with Froude scaling using the same value of the Dean fall speed parameter as in the prototype. A lightweight sediment could be used if necessary and the model should be large enough to prevent there being any effects from viscosity, surface tension or sediment particle cohesiveness. Oumeraci (1994c) recommended a similar set of scaling requirements for scour tests in standing waves or under breaking waves. Hughes and Fowler (1991) also concluded that prototype conditions could be modelled if the Froude number and the Dean fall speed were preserved.

The scaling of fall speed can be done by an iterative process. Simple Froude scaling rules exist for both small and large particles (if the same density material is used in model and prototype). The fall speed of small diameter particles follows a Stokes law of viscous drag so $n_{ws} = n_L^{0.25}$ (where n_{ws} is the scale ratio of fall speeds and n_L the geometric scale ratio) as shown in Oumeraci (1994c). However large particles fall by a quadratic bluff-body law (see Soulsby 1997) with fall speed proportional to the square root of the diameter. It follows that the scaling here is $n_{ws} = n_L$. As the scaling rule changes with the size of the sediment, and a slightly different density of water is often used in model and prototype, it is wisest to iterate to a model sediment diameter from its fall speed.

According to Xie (1991) similitude between model and prototype is achieved if the parameter $\frac{(U_{max} - U_*)}{w}$ remains the same for both, where U_{max} is the maximum horizontal velocity at the bed, U_{*} is the critical velocity for incipient motion of sediment and *w* is the sediment fall velocity. This parameter is also used to separate suspension mode and non-suspension mode (Section 3.3).

Kraus and McDougal (1996) list the consequences that incorrect scaling may have:

- 1. Dominance of threshold of motion in the laboratory, which could alter the direction and magnitude of bed load sediment transport;
- 2. Presence of ripples in laboratory surf zones, which do not exist in the field and which can obscure trends in profile change;
- 3. Differences in sediment transport mode as suspended load or bedload between the laboratory and field;
- 4. Inability to scale simultaneously both bedload and suspended load, which may be particularly troublesome for experiments involving both cross-shore and long-shore transport, and different Reynolds numbers and turbulence intensity which in turn affect sediment transport mode and magnitude.

Van der Meer and Veldman (1992) conducted a berm breakwater physical model study at a scale of 1:35 and at the Deltaflume at a scale of 1:7. The depth of the scour hole produced when comparing average profiles (before the highest waves hit the structure) in both cases was the same, its shape being completely different in the seaward direction. However, when comparing final profiles, the scour hole for the 1:35 test was deeper, indicating that scale effects were present in the development of the scour hole. Moreover, the authors acknowledged that these scale effects might have caused the difference in behaviour of the breakwater crest and rear face damage.

This supports the contention that the results from small-scale physical model results are likely to be misleading unless the most important scaling parameters are satisfied and even then should be considered as providing qualitative information. Kraus and McDougal (1996) recommended future laboratory studies to be done with justification of the scale used and with awareness of the ambiguities that have arisen in previous experiments done at small-scale. As a minimum it is recommended that the dominant transport mode (bedload or suspended) be reproduced in the laboratory. In many cases this will require suspended sediment transport to be produced in the laboratory for a significant proportion of the time. This will require experiments to be performed at a relatively large scale.

3.7 Summary of scour experiments

Field experiments

Long-term field observations of the seawall and beach interaction have been conducted at two locations in the USA, one on the East Coast (Virginia Beach and Sandbridge, Virginia) by Basco and colleagues (Basco, 1990 and Basco *et al,* 1992, 1997) and the other along Monterey Bay, California, by Griggs and colleagues (Griggs *et al,* 1991, 1994, 1996).

Sandbridge. Basco *et al,* (1992) found the rate of berm lowering in front of seawalls to be slightly higher at unwalled sections, as compared to neighbouring beach and dune sections not backed by walls. Basco *et al,* (1997) analysed the fifteen years of survey data (seven or eight of which were taken

prior to wall construction) at three timescales (historic, seasonal, storms) and provided an answer to three concerns often expressed:

- It was determined that volume erosion rates were not higher in front of seawalls. However, seasonal variability of the sand volume in front of walls was found to be greater than at non-walled locations;
- Walled beaches were found to recover in about the same time as nonwalled beaches for both seasonal transitions and following erosional storm events;
- At a few non-walled locations, the sand volume landward of adjacent walls was found to be eroding at a faster rate after wall construction. At some non-walled locations, the sand volume remained constant or increased in time after nearby wall construction. These results are somewhat inconclusive.

Monterey Bay. Griggs et al, (1991) found there was no consistent difference in the beach profile at vertical impermeable walls and at permeable sloping walls, a result that contradicts conventional paradigms. Plant and Griggs (1992) studied the beach groundwater elevations, concluding that the reduced permeability and porosity below beach level due to a rock revetment inhibits groundwater flow and increases watertable elevation at the wall-natural beach boundary during times of elevated sea level. In the seven years of surveying (including one year of surveys made before and after major storms), Griggs et al, (1994) found that a scour trough was never observed in front of any of the seawalls studied. This was justified by the fact that wave and storm conditions were considerably milder as compared to more severe storms that occurred off California in the 1980's. Griggs et al, (1996) described the effects that the storms of 1995, the most severe during eight years of monitoring, had on the beaches monitored. Although beach elevations were significantly lowered, the beach response was not nearly as severe as that which occurred in 1983 (by el Niño storms). The authors justified this difference by the lack of coincident high tides and elevated sea levels with storm waves during the winter of 1995. Similar responses of the control and seawall beaches to the storm waves of 1995 are observed, consistent with the long-term observations presented above. In addition, the beach in front of the seawall guickly lost the imprint of accelerated scour and a general alongshore homogeneity began evolving within months of the 1995 storms. They did not find any evidence of impaired recovery and, if anything, initial recovery was more rapid on the seawall-backed beach, in contrast to what was seen by Basco et al, (1992).

Field investigations on failures of wave-dissipating concrete blocks were carried out by Gomyoh *et al*, (1996), reporting that toe scour is a common failure at the breakwater trunk (five of the twenty-seven cases analysed showed failure due to toe scour). They also acknowledged liquefaction as playing a key role on the settlement failure, concluding that further research is needed in both toe scour and liquefaction.

Field observations of scour

There have been a number of cases where toe scour has been reported in the literature. In many cases there were no measurements of conditions and no surveys of the site, but scour, or damage attributed to scour was observed. Silvester and Hsu (1997, §7.2.2) have provided a variety of examples from around the world, in more detail than is reproduced here.

Silvester and Hsu (1997, §7.2.2) contend that Sines may have been due to scour and/or liquefaction. "When the seabed is deepened adjacent to a breakwater, the floor slope up to the structure is increased and can almost reach the angle of repose. The consequence when storm waves arrive include a buildup of pore pressure in the soil with possible collapse of the face, or certain reduction of its ability to withstand the load imposed on it." They also suggest (p 414-) that the scour at Hirtshalls (DK), Rotterdam (NL), and Europort (NL) could all have been exacerbated by partial standing wave patterns. The wave stirring would have increased the potential for sediment to be suspended and transported away by currents. Silvester and Hsu (1997) also consider that the Thorshave (Faroes) breakwater may have failed well short of design conditions due to swell causing scour in front of the structure (see also Sorensen, 1985). Several of the following cases were also reported by Silvester and Hsu (1997).

De Rouck and de Meyer (1987) and Silvester and Hsu discussed the scour erosion in front of large breakwaters at Hirtshalls, attributing to an interrupted sand supply, oblique reflecting waves and induced currents.

Markle (1986) surveyed field experience of scour in USA. "It is generally thought that toe scour is the significant problem after major storms. Bedding layers slough off into the scour holes and this damage migrates back to the toe of the primary armour. The resulting instability of the armour stone leads to downslope migration of the onslope armour and eventual deterioration of the structures". Examples include Grays Harbor, Washington and Newburyport, Massachusetts. This process of unravelling, due to beach lowering at the toe can apply to scour protection layers as well as the armour layer.

At least four cases of toe scour have been reported in Africa. Arzewel Djedid (Algeria) had a 1:1.33 tetrapod breakwater until it slumped (Sorensen, 1985, Silvester and Hsu, 1997). The cross-sectional area of collapsed debris was smaller than the cross-sectional area of the breakwater as built. Therefore compaction (including possibly due to breaking of tetrapods) and slumping due to scour and/or liquefaction may have caused the failure. Bartels *et al*, (2000) reported on the failure and repair of the toe of an accropode breakwater at a small craft harbour near Cape Town, South Africa. In five years after the construction of breakwater, beach levels dropped by almost 4m. The 'scour' (reduction in beach level) extended for about 200m in front of the breakwater toe. Toe erosion has also been observed at several places along the main breakwater in Tripoli harbour, Libya (Lindo and Stive, 1985, Silvester and Hsu, 1997). Oumeraci (1994a) reported that seabed scour may well have contributed to the failure of Mustapha Breakwater (Algiers).

Migniot *et al,* (1983) reported on scour during the construction of Ashdod (Israel) breakwater, where the local scouring of the seabed caused the toe to slide into the scour trench. The tetrapod armour was left unsupported and subsided several metres.

The Japanese have recorded a large number of cases of breakwater damage in the last 50 years. Takeyama and Nakayama (1975, in Japanese) reported 900 cases of breakwater failure, 259 of which were explained by bed scouring (summarised by Silvester and Hsu, 1997). Also see Hattori *et al*, (1984, in Japanese) as quoted by Oumeraci (1994a). Examples of breakwaters at angles to the coast include Naoetsu (Tsuchiya *et al*, 1976) Fukui (modelled by Irie and Nadaoka, 1984) Niigata, Kashimi and Tagonoura (Ichikawa, 1967). Yokoyama *et al*, (2003) pulled together a large database of laboratory experiments, field observations and hazard evaluation data. The latter are based on the damage and subsidence of coastal structures during storms (determined after the storms were over) and are not highly accurate. Yokoyama *et al*, (2003) used field data from Kihara *et al*, (1988) Arai *et al*, (1987) Uda *et al*, (1989), Tokuda *et al*, (1989) Syouji *et al*, (1990, 1991) and Kuroiwa *et al*, (1990, 1993). Yokoyama *et al*, concluded that:

- 1. Scour depth is related to wave height;
- 2. Scour depths are largest if the structure is in the outer surf zone (where waves start to break);
- 3. Scour depth near porous structures are about half those at impermeable structures;
- 4. A Boussinesq wave model combined with a sediment transport model gave promising results when modelling scour depths;
- 5. Numerical models of scour should be calibrated using field data.

Toyoshima (1978) reported how some Japanese sea dykes were upgraded following the Ise Bay Typhoon in 1959. Several of the new seawalls were destroyed by scour within one year of their construction. The seawalls were observed to have high reflection coefficient and the reflected waves were blamed for washing out the sand at the toe of the seawalls.

Suzaki and Shimmura (2002) reported an interesting case of embankment collapse at a Japanese railway line. In this case the beach lowered over many years. This allowed scouring and greater overtopping to occur. The foundation became exposed by the scour and the soil relaxed due to greater saturation by overtopping. The seawall / embankment collapsed due to scouring during a storm, with the slope failure affected by the increased hydraulic pressure in the soil behind the embankment.

Laboratory experiments

A review of the most relevant experiments has been included in this section. However, further references to scour experiments can be found in Section 6 (References and Bibliography) and the reader is referred to Kraus (1988) and Kraus and McDougal (1996) for more extensive reviews. This section can be divided into small and large-scale experiments, depending on the wave characteristics and sediment used. A further division could be made into two and three-dimensional experiments. However, because of the scarcity of 3D studies the reader should assume that the experiments quoted are 2D unless otherwise stated.

Small-scale experiments

Small-scale refers to experiments conducted with waves of height less than 0.15m on models composed of fine to very fine sand (Kraus and McDougal, 1996). One has to be careful when using relations or results derived from small-scale experiments, as they may not maintain similitude and the resulting observations will not be indicative of field conditions.

One of the earliest studies, by Russell and Inglis (1953) is worth mentioning, as it is the only one to have used varying water levels to reproduce tidal conditions. These tests confirmed that a vertical wall constructed at the top of the beach (in the run-up zone) increased turbulence and hence led to the depletion of the beach immediately in front of it. It was concluded that scouring would probably cease at a level about one wave height below low water, although the ultimate scour depth was not determined.

Sawaragi (1966) investigated the influence of the void ratio of permeable structures on the coefficient of reflection, concluding that although the coefficient of reflection was fairly constant for void ratios greater than 20%, it increased rapidly for smaller values. Also, for a particular void ratio, the reflection coefficient increased with increasing sea wall slope. The effect of reflections on the scour depth was then examined, concluding that for breaking waves (in line with Sato *et al*, 1968) the scour depth does not always increase in time and that the scour process is often interspersed by periods of accretion or infilling of the scour hole. It was also observed that the relative scour depth increased with the reflection coefficient, suggesting a boundary value at 0.25, so that rapid increases in scour are seen for coefficient of reflections up to 0.25 and a more gentle increase for values greater than 0.25. No scouring was observed at the toe of permeable walls for coefficient of reflection lower than 0.10.

Ichikawa (1967) investigated the scouring of sloping beds under breaking waves, observing that scour at the foot of vertical walls was always a maximum under "curling" breakers. Although in general these scour depths were equivalent to the offshore wave heights, there was some indication of a bed slope effect, with steeper slopes suffering slightly greater scour than shallow slopes under the same wave conditions. Further analysis of the results (Powell, 1987) suggested that maximum scour occurs when the initial water depth at the seawall is approximately 1.5 times the offshore regular wave height; for water depths either side of this value, scour depths appear to reduce quite rapidly.

Herbich and Ko (1968) investigated the scouring of sloping beds under breaking waves. Although an empirical formulation for scour prediction was developed (Section 3.5.2) the fact that the predicted scour was defined as the constant

average depth towards which scour tended, over a distance (of 4.5m normal to the physical model) makes it an inappropriate measure of toe scour. Another important conclusion was that the distance-averaged scour was not a function of the reflection coefficient. This was reiterated in a review of earlier work in Herbich *et al*, (1984), where the seawall slope influence was also explained. Seawall slopes between 45° and 90° had no effect on the distance-averaged scour, whereas for seawalls flatter than 45° the scour depth was observed to decrease with decreasing slope.

Scouring at the foot of vertical and inclined seawalls as well as at the base of composite breakwaters at different positions on the beach was examined by Sato *et al*, (1968). Depending on the location of the seawall to the initial breaking point, five types of scour were identified in terms of the scour time development. Occurrence of maximum scour depth at the seawall toe in relation to wall location is given in Table 4. For all wall locations offshore of the original breakpoint, the scour depth was found to decrease with sea wall slope, the difference being small for slopes in the range of 60° and 90°. It was also concluded that the relative maximum scour depth was inversely proportional to the offshore sea steepness, although such a trend may only be applicable for walls located seaward of the shoreline. An important conclusion from their study was that under normal storm conditions (0.02 < H/L < 0.04), the maximum scour depth could be expected to be less than or equal to the deep water wave height. However, in calmer conditions the scour depths could be very much greater than the corresponding wave heights.

Table 4	Occurrence of maximum scour depth at the seawall toe in
	relation to wall location according to Sato, Tanaka and Irie
	(1968)

Seawall Type	Wave Conditions	Beach Profile	Location of seawall for maximum scour depth at the toe of the seawall
Vertical	Low steepness	Steep	When wall located at or about the wave plunge point
Vertical	Steeper waves	Storm or bar type	When wall sited at either the shoreline or just landwards of breaking point
Inclined	Storm conditions	Storm or bar type	Only at one position – just landward of the break point

A similar study was carried out by Song and Schiller (1973) focusing on the effects of seawall location on wave reflection. It was concluded that low reflection coefficients generally corresponded to greater scour depths, despite the scatter in the results. It was explained as the scouring cause being the turbulent nature of wave breaking, rather than any reflection of energy (low reflection coefficients coincided with waves breaking at the seawall). However, this explanation does not explain the differences between Song and Schiller (1973) and Sato *et al*, (1968) regarding the effect of the seawall location on the scour depths. For all wave conditions Song and Schiller (1973) found that maximum toe scour

occurred with the wall at or about the wave plunge point, while minimum scour always occurred when the wall was at the break point. They derived an empirical expression to predict relative scour depth (Section 3.5.2) from which they concluded that, for small values of the standing wave steepness (lower than 0.02), the relative scour depth was virtually independent of the position of the seawall on the beach, which seems an over-simplification.

Hotta and Marui (1976). Although their results with permeable walls did not fit the Sato *et al* (1968) classification, some similarities between the scouring characteristics of permeable and solid walls were found. Scouring depths were observed to be at their minimum at or about the plunge point, as suggested by Song and Schiller (1973) and were independent of the bed materials or the hydraulic properties of the walls tested. Maximum scour depths were found to be of the order of the deep-water wave height. Further analysis of their data (Powell, 1987) suggested that for walls located seawards of the plunge point, the maximum depth of scouring occurs when the water depth is in the region of 1.6 times the deep-water wave height. They also highlighted one of the major problems in any study of toe scour, which is that localised toe scour is always likely to be superimposed on much larger natural beach movements.

Nishimura *et al*, (1978) tried to simulate the scouring at the toe of seawalls caused by tsunamis with the simulation of single waves breaking on a mobile slope, colliding against the inclined seawall, overtopping and running up on the gentle slope behind the wall. Although small overtopping was observed during this process, when the overtopping water returned back over the wall, a pronounced scouring of the beach material was evident. This scour depth was found to depend on the slope of the seawall, the depth of water in front of it, the velocity of the returning flow and the specific gravity and size of the bed material. In general, it was found that lighter and finer materials suffered greater scour.

Irie and Nadaoka (1984) carried out experiments on composite breakwater models in both 2 and 3 dimensions, using regular waves, in order to determine whether prototype scour behaviour could be reproduced in laboratory models, and if so, the requirements that need to be fulfilled. They found two types of sediment movement (as described in Section 3.3). L-type scour under suspended load conditions during storm events is most critical for the stability of the structure. This type of scour was found to be dominant for ratios of near-bed peak orbital velocity to fall velocity of sediment over 10, regardless of the Ursell number. The 3D tests with irregular waves at 30° (to a line normal to the breakwater) showed near-bed drift velocities parallel to the breakwater toward the shoreline and scour at the nodal locations close to the toe in case of dominant suspended load transport. Scour was found to be largest near the tip of the breakwater.

Xie (1985) investigated scour at vertical breakwaters by using two tanks and mainly regular incident wave conditions. He classified the two major scour patterns found according to a velocity ratio similar to that proposed by Irie and Nadaoka (1985). An empirical relation for the prediction of the scour depth was developed (Section 3.5.2) in which the maximum scour depth at the toe is proportional to the incident wave height and a hyperbolic function of the ratio of

depth to wavelength. Also, a scaling law was proposed for comparing laboratory and prototype scour depths.

Ling *et al,* (1986) investigated qualitatively the influence of short-crested waves on the scouring around a breakwater in a physical model and effected a comparison with field data. Their main conclusion was that oblique incident waves and their reflected waves are formed into a system of short-crested waves in front of the breakwater that progresses along it and gradually swells up. The breaking short-crested wave height is larger than that of the progressive wave and belongs to the plunging type, resulting in serious scouring around the breakwater. They suggested the consideration of shortcrested waves in the design/ building of breakwaters.

Barnett and Wang (1988) performed a series of physical experiments to investigate the effect of a vertical seawall on profile response. For all the cases tested, profile configurations with and without a seawall were remarkably similar in overall planform; the authors suggesting that the major transport process is not significantly influenced by the presence of the seawall. The presence of the seawall accentuated the trough formed into a scour hole instead of spanning over the swash zone, as in a natural beach. Although local scour was noted to be severe in many of the seawalled profiles, the volume of sand retained inshore of the structure (that would otherwise have been eroded if no seawall was present) was experimentally found to be approximately 60% greater than the additional volume eroded at the toe of the structure. Wave reflection influence on scour in front of a seawall did not appear to play a significant role. An interesting finding was the fact that the seawalled beach exhibited a more substantial recovery volume in the vicinity of the structure toe than that observed for the natural profile. However, the authors noted that this was not sufficient evidence to conclude that placement of a seawall on an eroded beach will promote recovery.

Toue and Wang (1991) examined the effects of a seawall on the adjacent beach by a three-dimensional physical model test. It was found that, under normal incidence waves, the rate of volumetric erosion as well as the total eroded volume in front of the seawall was smaller than that of the natural beach. Under oblique incidence waves, due to groyne effects, down-drift erosion was severe, but the effects were found to be localised within a region about three to four times the seawall length, centred on the seawall.

Silvester (1991) presented a review of scour by reflecting non-breaking waves in three-dimensional movable-bed experiments, observing that oblique waves at a vertical wall are reflected with almost 100% efficiency. Scour trenches were generated by waves and wave-induced drift velocities parallel to the reflecting wall, depending on the obliquity of the incoming waves.

Kamphuis *et al,* (1992) carried out a set of three-dimensional tests on a longshore uniform beach backed by a seawall. The equilibrium profile developed in front of the seawall was a complex function of the initial profile, the storm surge level and the wave climate; the longshore sediment transport rate decreasing as the beach eroded in front of the seawall. The local depth was found to be closely related to the local wave height, the ratio H/h approaching a constant value as the beach approached an equilibrium condition. However, they concluded that average scour depth in front of a seawall could not be simply related to offshore wave height.

Seaman and O'Donogue (1996) conducted an experimental study of beach response in front of reflecting structures under N-type (bedload) beach response, presenting an equation for the equilibrium beach profile acquired. From this equation, the maximum scour depth can be obtained in terms of the amplitude of the profile, which is a function of the bed profile wavelength (which is a function of the water wavelength and the lengths of bed mobilised). However, further work at a larger scale with different sand sizes was acknowledged to be needed to investigate the general application of such a formulation. The authors also acknowledged the ripples superimposed on the bed profile to play a crucial role in the suspended sand transport process.

Sumer and Fredsøe (1997) carried out a three-dimensional experimental programme on the scour at the round head of a rubble-mound breakwater. They concluded that there were two mechanisms that cause scour: the steady streaming occurring above the bed, around the breakwater head, and the plunging breaker, which occurs at the head of the breakwater. The first mechanism causes a scour hole in front of the breakwater and adjacent to it and is governed by the Keulegan-Carpenter number. The second mechanism produces a scour hole at the lee side of the breakwater head and is governed by a parameter involving the wave period, wave height and water depth. The use of a stone protection layer was also investigated and an empirical formulae for its width was proposed (as stated in Section 4.3).

Gao and Inouchi (1998) conducted an experimental exercise to prove the importance of the scouring in front of a vertical breakwater by broken clapotis to be of greater importance than the scouring produced by any of the other two wave motions (standing wave and breaking clapotis). They also identified three typical patterns of scour and deposition within one wavelength from the breakwater under the action of broken clapotis, depending on a criterion based on a relationship between wave conditions and grain sizes. These patterns were denoted as DSD, SDSD and DSDS types, where D and S represent a deposited ridge and a scouring trough respectively.

Sutherland *et al,* (1999, 2000) carried out three dimensional experiments on the scour and deposition around a single detached offshore rubble-mound breakwater, investigating how oblique incidence and longshore currents affected the distribution of scour and deposition. The 3D tests complemented the 3D head and 2D trunk scour tests of Fredsøe and Sumer (1997) and Sumer and Fredsøe (2000). The results clearly showed the influence of three-dimensional effects – even for the normal incidence case, as the central section of the model breakwater was only 4m long. The sediment transport was mainly by bedload, with some near-bed suspended load transport. Deposition dominated at the trunk section of the breakwater for the normal and oblique incidence cases, due to longshore gradients in the sediment transport. When the oblique wave case was run with a tidal longshore current as well, the deposition was pushed further downstream and a deeper scour trough formed

along the toe of the breakwater. The scour depths were compared with the 2D results of Fredsøe and Sumer (1997) by Sumer *et al*, (2001).

Sumer and Fredsøe (2000) studied the scour at the trunk section of a rubblemound breakwater in an experimental study in which they used two breakwater models with different slopes and a vertical wall breakwater as a reference structure. The scour/deposition pattern found in front of the rubble-mound breakwater was in the form of alternate areas of scour and deposition parallel to the breakwater, similar to the case of the vertical-wall breakwater (Xie, 1981). The maximum scour depth was found to be smaller than that of the vertical-wall breakwater and comparing results between the regular and irregular wave conditions led to the conclusion that the scour is greater in the case of regular waves (as obtained by Hughes and Fowler, 1991 and Xie, 1985). Toe protection comprising an apron with one or several layers of stones was also investigated.

Neelamani and Sandhya (2003) investigated the hydrodynamic performance of vertical and sloping plane, indented and serrated seawalls in a physical model study. Wave reflection from the different seawalls (at five different inclinations) under regular and random waves was measured to assess the dissipation character of the seawalls. Predictive equations for the coefficient of reflection for the different walls are given. Further investigation is apparently being conducted at the moment on the scour development under the different seawalls.

Medium and large-scale experiments

The main advantage of large-scale experiments is that they are not affected by similitude problems to the same extent as smaller laboratory experiments. They are generally carried out in large-scale wave flumes where suspended sediment transport can be generated. The difference between large scale and small scale experiments is taken to be that small scale experiments are determined by bedload sediment transport, while large scale experiments have a significant percentage of suspended sediment transport.

The equations below can be used as a first approximation to obtain the percentage of waves that will generate suspended sediment transport. A more detailed approach can be found in Tørum *et al*, (2003).

Xie (1981) formulated the following criteria for suspended sediment transport to occur:

$$\frac{U_m - u_{cr}}{w_s} \ge 16.5$$

where U_m is the maximum wave orbital velocity, u_{cr} the critical wave orbital velocity for start of motion and w_s = sediment fall velocity. Linear theory can be used to calculate the wave height at the threshold of motion, H_t , from which u_{cr} can be calculated (given depth, *h* and period, *T*). The minimum bed orbital velocity for suspension to occur is then $U_s = 16.5w_s + u_{cr}$. The minimum wave

height for suspension, H_{sus} then follows. Assuming a Rayleigh distribution for wave heights gives the probability that any wave is lower than or equal to a height H as: $P(H)=1-\exp\left\{-H^2/H_{rms}^2\right\}$ with $H_{rms}=0.71Hs$ = the root mean square wave height and H_s = significant wave height. The probability that a wave will not cause sediment motion, $P(H_t)$ and the probability that a wave will not cause suspended sediment transport, $P(H_{sus})$ can then be estimated. It is easy to calculate the percentage of waves that will cause suspended sediment transport (%sus) from $P(H_{sus})$.

Some example calculations are given below for a sediment diameter, d = 0.11mm (fine sand). Fresh water at 15° C was assumed. The sediment fall speed, $w_s = 0.0084$ m/s for a particle density of $\rho_s = 2650$ kg/m³. Calculations based on possible experimental conditions are given in Table 5. To obtain cases where more than about 50% of the waves should cause suspended sediment transport will require wave periods of around 2s and inshore significant wave heights of at least 0.11m in 0.2m depth or 0.15m in 0.3m depth or 0.20m in 0.5m depth. These wave heights in 0.2m and 0.3m depth are close to saturation and such wave heights are only generated in deeper wave flumes. The limited number of scour tests where suspended sediment transport will have played a large role are listed below.

h	Τρ	Hs	H _{rms}	H _t	P(H _t)	H _{sus}	P(H _{sus})	%sus
0.3	2	0.15	0.105	0.028	0.07	0.065	0.44	56
0.3	2	0.10	0.071	0.028	0.15	0.065	0.73	27
0.3	1	0.10	0.071	0.030	0.16	0.110	0.91	9
0.3	1	0.15	0.105	0.030	0.16	0.110	0.67	33
0.2	2	0.11	0.078	0.021	0.08	0.064	0.49	51
0.5	2	0.20	0.141	0.039	0.07	0.115	0.48	50

Table 5Example calculations of the percentage of waves causing
suspended transport

Hughes and Fowler (1991) carried out model tests to validate their theoretical description for predicting scour at a vertical wall produced by normally incident non-breaking irregular waves. Maximum scour was substantially less under irregular waves than under regular waves. The authors concluded that the phenomenon may not be of significance for design and that prediction methods for the majority of the scour problems experienced at coastal structures is still lacking. They also mentioned that scour might be enhanced by lateral currents in situations involving both cross-shore and longshore water motions.

Fowler (1992) performed mid-scale (wave heights between 0.2 and 0.3m) laboratory tests of scour in front of a vertical wall using a scaling law to preserve the similitude of the dimensionless fall speed number between model and prototype. Results from the tests were compared with those from several previous laboratory studies and an empirical equation for scour prediction was developed (Section 3.5.2), in which the ratio of the depth of water at the wall to the deep-water wavelength was the important parameter. Because of the

relatively mild initial beach slope (1 in 5), Kraus and McDougal (1996) considered that the planar initial slope, which was not in equilibrium under surf zone waves, may have exaggerated the scour produced.

The large-scale SUPERTANK Laboratory Data Collection results involving seawalls are discussed in Kraus, Smith and Sollitt (1992), Kraus and Smith (1994) and McDougal et al, (1996). The programme involved three seawall tests and wave heights and periods were selected to correspond to destructive and constructive wave conditions. A remarkable result was that the profiles in front of the walls did not develop a large scour trench (nor did they erode or accrete). A small scour trench was created at the toe of the wall, but the influence was highly localised in the immediate vicinity of the wall. The limited scour found suggests that the scour trench sometimes observed in the field after storms may be a result of longshore transport or combined cross-shore and longshore transport occurring at the time of the storm. Measured results were used to verify the modified (including wave reflection at vertical walls) profile response model SBEACH, in the three cases obtaining good comparisons. Comparison between the original and modified profile response model SBEACH showed numerically that the beach profiles developed with and without a seawall were similar, in agreement with Hughes and Fowler (1990) results. The magnitude and time dependency of scour in front of vertical seawalls were numerically investigated with the enhanced SBEACH model. developing predictive equations for scour (Sections 3.5.2 and 3.5.4).

Experiments on dune stability with dune protection structures (consisting of sandbags) were carried out in the GWK large wave flume as part of the 96/97 experiments for the SAFE project, as described in Dette *et al*, (1998a, 1998b, 2002). Two different heights of such protection structures were tested (no-overtopping and partial overtopping allowed) and compared to the profile development when unprotected. As the sand container barrier interrupted the seaward-directed sediment transport, no dune erosion occurred and the profile in front of the barrier was flattened, mainly due to reflections. The initial 1:20 beach slope in front of the barrier between the 4m and 5m contour line disappeared completely, the material having been moved seaward to form a bar. The main difference between the two barrier height tests was that the profile change for the partial overtopping was less pronounced as the reduced barrier allowed partial overtopping of waves by which sand from the dune behind the barrier was transported into the foreshore profile.

Sakakiyma and Kajima (2002) investigated toe scouring in front of a seawall covered with armour units using large- and small-scale physical model tests. Comparison of the profile changes between both tests showed that there was no scour at the toe of the armour layer. Scour was only found under regular waves for the small-scale tests. In the large-scale tests some tetrapods settled through a gravel mat into the sand bed.

A summary of the hydrodynamic conditions of the large scale tests is provided in Table 6.

Fowler (1992)	H ₀ offshore wave height (m) 0.2-0.29	T _p Period(s) 1.95-2.49	h _t water depth at toe (m) 0.06, 0, -	Structure type vertical wall	d₅₀ Grain size (mm) 0.13	m Bed slope 1 in 15	Grain fall speed (m/s) 0.019
Supertank	0.4 to 1.0	3.0 to 8.0	0.06 ≈ 0.35, 0.4, 0.6	vertical	0.22	Initially at x ^{2/3} but for the rest of the tests using end conditions from previous tests	0.033
Sakakiyima and Kajima (2002) Scale of 1/22.7	0.45- 0.56	3.36	≈1.05	Tetrapod units in front of caisson	0.2	1 in 40	
GWK (Dette <i>et</i> <i>al</i> , 1998)	0.65-1.2	5.5	≈0	vertical dune barriers (sandbags)	0.3	End position from previous test	0.042

Table 6 Summary of large scale experiments
4. Review of mitigation measures

This section is subdivided into three main parts that reflect the steps that can be taken to mitigate against scour at different stages of a structure's life. Section 4.1 looks at the precautionary measures that can be used at the design stage to minimise future problems. Section 4.2 considers the monitoring that can be done during the lifetime of a structure that could be used to trigger intervention or a more detailed study, before the structure fails. Section 4.3 considers the methods used to prevent a scour hole from deepening any further (so it considers the types of intervention that might be triggered by monitoring). As stated in Section 1.2 the aim is to provide preliminary advice on the mitigation of the scour rather than comprehensive guidance.

4.1 **Precautionary measures (at design/construction stage)**

Anticipating of general changes in ground level

Beach lowering happens over a range of time-scales and spatial scales, illustrated by Table 7. The changes are due to longshore and cross-shore sediment transport processes. At the larger scales, coastal evolution is generally governed by longshore transport. At the shorter scales, cross-shore transport becomes more important.

The importance of inter-annual variations in forcing can be illustrated by looking at the variability in mean annual nett potential longshore drift rates calculated by numerical models (e.g. Sutherland and Wolf, 2002). Timeseries of wind data covering typically 15 to 30 years can be used to generate nearshore wave time series for the same period. A CERC-type formula for longshore transport can then be used to estimate time series of longshore sediment transport. An annual nett longshore drift rate may then be calculated for each year. A mean annual nett longshore drift rate and the standard deviation in the net annual longshore drift rate may then be calculated from the years in the timeseries. In many cases the standard deviation is of the same order of magnitude as the mean annual drift rate. In some years the direction of net drift may reverse (see, for example, HR Wallingford, 2002). Such significant changes in longshore drift rate may be expected to influence the beach level in front of a structure, particularly on coasts where the longshore drift is impeded at some point.

Many beach profiles show a pronounced seasonal variation, characterised by beach draw-down (and the consequent flattening of beach profiles) during winter storms and a building up of the beach in the summer months. The seasonal changes in beach level in front of a coastal structure should be an important consideration in the design of the structure. It will influence the toe depth required, the forces on the structure and the overtopping rate that may be expected.

This study concentrates on local toe scour, with timescales of hours and a spatial scale of up to about 100m (away from the seawall) where cross-shore

sediment transport may be expected to be important (but will not necessarily dominate). Indeed, UK case studies (Appendix 1) indicate a preponderance of longshore-dominated cases, in the longterm. This does not obviate the need for research into short term changes, however, as these may trigger the failure of a seawall.

Phenomena	Time scale	Spatial scale
Long-term coastal evolution	Decades to	10s to 100s of
	centuries	kilometres
Inter-annual variations in	Years	Kilometres
forcing		
Seasonal	Months	Metres to kilometres
Storm	Hours	Metres
Tides	Hours	Metres to kilometres

Table 7Time and spatial scales for beach lowering

Minimising short-term localised scour by changing the seawall profile

Actual scour at the base of a seawall depends not only on the environmental variables described in Section 3.1 but also on the characteristics of the structure and its position on the beach profile relative to the swash zone.

Toe scour may be reduced by:

- 1. Positioning the seawall above the surf zone
- 2. Reducing the reflection coefficient of the structure
- 3. Resisting toe scour

Positioning the seawall above the surf zone

The position of the seawall relative to the surf zone is a critical parameter controlling toe scour (see Figure 10) and beach recovery (Kraus, 1988). Laboratory studies have shown that seawalls constructed in the surf zone are at the greatest risk of toe scour. The position of the seawall relative to the zone on the profile in which waves break, changes with variations in water level, wave height and period. The general rule, however, is that the further seaward the seawall is constructed the greater its influence as the impact on wave hydrodynamics is greater. If it is high up on the beach, above spring tide high water (MHWS), it will still provide storm protection but the opportunity for toe scour will be lessened (Tait and Griggs, 1990).

The position on the profile at which waves break, influences the position and depth of the scour hole. Waves breaking at the toe of the structure usually cause greater toe scour than waves breaking on the beach in front of the seawall or on the wall of the structure itself.



Figure 10 Dominant processes and modes of sediment transport (after Oumeraci, 1994c)

Reducing the wave reflection coefficient

The wave reflection coefficient is the ratio of the reflected wave height to the incident wave height. Reducing the amount of wave reflection theoretically reduces toe scour. This opinion is upheld by the majority of laboratory and field data. However, there does not seem to be a simple relationship between scour and the reflection coefficient. This is illustrated by Figure 11, produced by Powell and Lowe (1994) by comparing values of dimensionless scour, S/H_s, and reflection coefficient, K_r for different characteristic sea steepnesses on a shingle beach. Regardless of wave steepness, reflection coefficient can increase or decrease with the nondimensional scour depth.



Figure 11 Wave reflection – Scour depth trends: Vertical seawalls (Powell and Lowe, 1994)

Design features to reduce wave reflection include using a sloping rather than vertical wall (Herbich *et al*, 1984, Powell and Lowe, 1994), increasing surface roughness by incorporating rip-rap and increasing the void ratio of the rip rap (Sawaragi, 1967).



Figure 12 Classifications for scour response types (Powell and Lowe, 1994)

Figure 12, from Powell and Lowe (1994), illustrates the results of a series of laboratory flume tests to qualitatively investigate the influence that seawall type had on scour development of shingle beach. All were subjected to identical

wave and water level conditions. It can be seen that scour is the greatest for the impermeable vertical wall and decreases as the slope increases. A pronounced reduction is also observed when the 1:2 seawall slope remains but is made permeable by use of rock armour.

Sumer and Fredsøe (2000) experimented with the effect that the breakwater slope had on the scour depth using a small scale two-dimensional flume (Figure 13)The milder the slope of the breakwater, the smaller the scour depth, because the reflection and hence strength of the steady streaming at the bed decreases with decreasing slope.



Figure 13 Influence of the slope of the breakwater (Sumer and Fredsøe, 2000)

Herbich *et al,* (1984) also experimented with the effect that seawall angle had on the scour depth using a small scale two-dimensional flume. However, the average scour depth over the area 4.5m in front of the wall rather than toe scour was measured. The tested angles with respect to the horizontal were 90 (vertical), 67.5, 40, 30 and 15 degrees. It was found that a low wall angle was required before there was a significant difference in scour. The results for the 90, 67.5 and 40 degree sloping walls were approximately the same. A cautious conclusion from these tests is that the slope should be less than 45 degrees above horizontal to reduce scouring.

The slope of a breakwater affects the reflection coefficient and phase shift on reflection, and the latter affects the location of nodes and antinodes. Here we recall that, for suspended sediment transport, scour occurs under the nodes of standing waves. It is therefore sensible to ensure that a partial node is unlikely to occur at the toe of a breakwater for typical storm conditions that might induce scour.

Resisting toe scour

This will involve the methods covered in Section 4.3.

4.2 Monitoring methods

The lowering of beaches in front of coastal structures occurs at a range of different timescales. This study concentrates on the short term, relatively localised scour that takes place close to a seawall, rather than the seasonal variation in beach level, or long-term trends in beach volume and level.

As the scour phenomena is frequently short-lived, the twice-yearly beach profile monitoring carried out round the English coastline by, for example, the Environment Agency is unlikely to capture a major scour event. Indeed, the evidence supplied by scour monitor data collected by HR Wallingford at Blackpool suggests that a significant fraction of the scour hole can fill in within a few hours of the peak of the storm. More details of the "Tell-Tail" scour monitors can be found in Appendix 3. Therefore even regular beach profiling with a spacing of a few weeks, supported by profiles collected within a day or two of each large storm may not be enough to capture the transient phenomenon of toe scour in the field.

The deployment of scour monitoring systems that remain on-site, just in front of the breakwater toe operating at all water levels, for periods of weeks at a time may be the only realistic way of assessing the variability of a beach surface with time. For example, HR Wallingford has deployed "Tell-Tail" scour monitors at Teignmouth and Blackpool.

As scour monitors are likely to be deployed for a period of weeks (at most) a monitoring strategy could be implemented that looks for the bed lowering to the point at which short-term fluctuation could de-stabilise the sea defence. For this the likely scour depth for a given storm would have to be estimated, plus the depth of scouring that would create a risk of failure. The monitoring could then take place a few times per year (at least twice) and a more detailed study or remedial action undertaken should the beach level drop below pre-determined values. This approach would rely on the development of a set of fragility curves (representing the probability of failure as a function of scour depth) and on methods for modelling toe scour under a wide range of circumstances. The latter could be obtained using a Monte-Carlo simulation, starting from offshore wind or wave records. The objective would be to obtain a measure of volatility of the beach (how quickly it responds to storms) and probability distribution curves for beach level and structure failure. Threshold beach levels could then be set to trigger further study or intervention.

If a long-term record of beach levels in front of a structure is available, such as the EA's twice yearly beach surveys carried out in Anglian Region for the last 10 years, then long-term trends in beach level in front of the structure and in intertidal beach volume should be calculated. If these values show a statistically significant decrease in beach level with time then existing trends should be projected forwards to identify when the structure may become vulnerable to toe scour, should recent trends continue.

4.3 Intervention measures – localised

In Section 4.1.2, a number of recommendations to reduce toe scour in terms of the structure characteristics were given, such as positioning the seawall above the surf zone and reducing the wave reflection coefficient. In this Section, a review of the mitigation measures and advice on its design is given.

Toe details adopted at the phase of designing a structure will be dependent on the assessment of the maximum depth of scour and the depth of mobile beach in front of the structure.

Review of mitigation measures

Although design guidance for mitigation measurements exist, as will be seen in the next section, engineers and practitioners usually find that the design advice apparently leads to conservative values. Having said this the monitoring of in service structures with scour protection is not routinely undertaken and published. The conservatism in apron design usually depends on the accuracy of the methods used to predict the waves and current action and to predict the maximum depth of scour that needs to be accounted for.

Many of the mitigation schemes implemented around the UK have involved placement of protective aprons at the toe of a pre-existing structure. Consequently, much of the design guidance is for this type of mitigation measure and so the advice in this section is heavily weighted to the design of protective aprons. The use of a protective apron is not a guarantee against scouring, however, as shown by the example in Box 1, where a solution was only obtained from the third mitigation measure tried. Alternative mitigation measures include the following:

- 1. **Rock dumping for bed stabilisation.** This can be a crude form of apron or toe berm that fills the scour hole, but has no filter layer or geotextile so is subject to the winnowing of bed material through it. Nevertheless a rock dump can provide a quick and cheap method of filling in a scour hole. Rock dumps should be monitored to ensure that they continue to provide protection.
- 2. **Mattresses.** These can be of two main types: flat gabions and linked precast units. The gabions consist of mesh forming low rectangular boxes that are filled with stones. They absorb energy, are flexible enough to fit an irregular seabed, are cheap to fill and relatively easy to lay. The linked precast units (which can be concrete) form a flexible sheet that is easy to lay. Multiple mattresses may be linked to form wider sheets. Neither has a filter layer or geotextile so both forms are subject to the winnowing of bed material.

- 3. Soil improvement to increase bearing capacity and reduce scour potential. An example of this, which is in use at a few sites, is beach drainage (Shaw, 2003). Early studies showed a link between beach water table level and the rate of erosion (Emery and Foster, 1948, Grant, 1948). Later tests showed a link between an artificially lowered water table and increased beach stability and in some cases accretion (Vesterby, 2000, Turner and Leatherman, 1997). In the UK there have been three beach drainage installations: a full scale trial at Holme-Next-The-Sea (Norfolk), a commercial system at Towan (Cornwall) and an experimental system at Branksome Chine (Dorset).
- 4. **Beach renourishment.** In many cases the long-term development of beach levels depends more on longshore transport than on cross-shore transport. In some such cases beach nourishment has been the solution to scour problems (see Appendix A for case studies). Beach nourishment is often combined with the use of beach control structures, such as groynes, which reduce the rate of longshore drift, thus helping to hold the beach in place. The beach nourishment increases beach levels at the toe of the structure to such an extent that short-term scour holes caused by cross-shore transport during storms are unlikely to be a problem. Hanson *et al,* (2002) provide a review of beach nourishment projects, practices and objectives from a European perspective.

Box 1	Example from Minikin (1952)			
Problem: At the toe of a sloping wall of bedded masonry, scour at the toe threatened to undermine the wall.				
Solution:	Constructing a stone apron 8ft wide with the top surface at then the beach level. All blocks of stone were over 6cwts in weight and concreted in with the long sides vertical. The new toe was further protected with 7in x 2.5in. timber sheeting driven 6ft into the beach.			
Result:	This did not end depletion of the beach, trenches again scoured out at the toe and the general level of the beach lowered by about 2ft.			
<u>Solution</u> : Result:	A concrete beam or sill was cast seaward of the timber sheeting. No further improvement.			
Solution:	On the length concreted, an apron of long heavy stones placed endways in the beach at the then beach level was then tried. No concrete or binding material was used, so that some degree of porosity was still preserved in the new apron.			
<u>Result</u> :	Beach has remained static, except for occasional temporary changes, at the level of the new apron.			

Mitigation measures design guidance

Toe protection consists of armouring of the beach or bottom surface in front of a structure, which prevents it from scouring and undercutting by waves and currents. It is usually placed in the form of an apron, which must remain intact under wave and current forces, as well as being flexible enough to conform to an initially uneven sea floor.

Toe protection usually consists of a layer/layers of quarrystone large enough not to be removed by wave forces and an underlying layer of granular material or geotechnical filter fabric to prevent soil from being washed through voids in the quarrystone. If the seawall is built on soft or sand soil, a sheet pile cutoff wall, driven deep enough to prevent scour from undermining the wall, may be required at the toe. In severe wave climates, both quarrystone and cutoff wall may be required.

The design of toe protection is related to wave and current intensity, bottom material and structure characteristics (such as slope, porosity and roughness). The design guidance given in the different engineering manuals is general and preliminary; advising on the use of physical modelling for optimising a more detailed design.

In practice, most design calculations or design decisions are based on guidance in the CIRIA/CUR Rock Manual, the British Standard (BS 6349 Parts 1 and 7), the Revetment manual by McConnell (1998) or the 'Shore Protection Manual' and Coastal Engineering Manual (to succeed the SPM) and other USACE Engineering Manuals. This section has compiled the design guidance given in these sources. The practical design guidance from the Defra report "Low cost rock structures for beach control and coast protection" project has been included in Box 2.

There are some rules-of-thumb (Box 3) from Hales (1980) survey on scour protection practices in the USA. It was also found in this survey that the minimum scour protection was typically an extension of the structure-bedding layer and any filter layers.

Box 2 Practical design guidance from "Low cost rock structures for beach control and coast protection"

Sites where the beach is relatively thin and overlies a strata which is not easily eroded Simple solutions, as the one adopted in the breakwater at West Shore, Llandudno consist of a selected larger rock to provide stability and a good starting point for the structure at the toe. The large toe stone can, however, result in significant reflections of waves leading to increased erosion or scour in-front of the structure. This can be avoided by extending a bedstone apron some distance in front of the structure to protect the beach. The apron has the secondary purpose of providing access beside the structure, thus preventing the construction plant from damaging the beach.

Sites with significant beach above the impermeable strata

The front slope of the structure is often just extended such that the top of the base rock is below the expected depth of scour. Whilst this solution is reliable and robust (providing of course that the depth of scour has been correctly estimated) the toe can require considerable excavation and construction can be a dangerous activity (particularly if geotextile is laid in the foundations). An alternative approach provides a stockpile of armour at the surface of the beach which should settle into any scour-hole protecting the structure from undermining. The latter solution may increase initial scour (due to reflections from the stockpile) and is not as robust as the former, but may provide a useful alternative, particularly where construction of a deep toe cannot be carried out safely.

Sites where the structure is founded directly onto a hard strata

The sites are generally those which need special effort to excavate using standard plant and where it may be necessary to excavate a shallow toe trench to provide additional toe stability against local slipping. If this is the case care should be taken not to unduly weaken or fissure the underlying strata. Other toe details, such as timber piles or concrete units, are sometimes used to enhance toe stability.

Box 3 Rules-of-thumb (from Hales, 1980 survey in the USA)

Minimum toe apron thickness:Minimum toe apron width:

0.6 to 1.0m (1.0m to 1.5m in NW USA) 1.5m (3m to 7.5m in NW USA) guarrystone to 0.3m diameter, gabions, mats, etc.

• Material:

<u>Applicability</u>: Not adequate when the water depth at the toe is less than two times the maximum nonbreaking wave height at the structure or when the structure reflection coefficient is greater than 0.25 (structures with slopes greater than about 1:3).

The next sections deal with mitigation measures for different structures: revetments and seawalls and bulkheads.

Revetments

In the case of revetments, scour protection is usually provided in the form of supplemental armouring. The revetment toe often requires special consideration because it is subjected to both hydraulic forces and the changing profiles of the beach fronting the revetment.

Design procedures are governed by hydraulic criteria (waves and currentswave induced and tidal). Box 4 gives advice on the weights to use.

Box 4 Stone weight for revetment toes (as recommended by US Army Corp of Engineers, 1995)

For submerged toe stone: weights predicted by Eq 1.

Eq.1
$$W_{\min} = \frac{\gamma_r H^3}{N_s^3 \left(\frac{\gamma_r}{\gamma_w} - 1\right)^3}$$

For toe structures exposed to wave action: Weights predicted by Eq 1 for minimum weight or Eq 2 for median weight.

Eq. 1
$$W_{\min} = \frac{\gamma_r H^3}{N_s^3 \left(\frac{\gamma_r}{\gamma_w} - 1\right)^3}$$

Eq.2
$$W = \frac{\gamma_r H^3}{K_D \left(\frac{\gamma_r}{\gamma_w} - 1\right)^3 \cot \theta}$$

N₅ as indi	: cated	Design stability number for rubble toe protection in front of seawall,
		in SPM (Figure 2-7). This allows for some conservatism
W	:	required individual armour unit weight (or W ₅₀ for graded rip-rap)
Н	:	monochromatic wave height
KD	:	stability coefficient (Tables 2 to 3 of EM 1110-2-1614, 1995)
γ	:	specific weight of water
γr	:	specific weight of the armour unit
θ	:	structure slope (from horizontal)

There are a number of toe configurations that can be adopted (Figure 2-4 USACE manual, EM1110-2-1614, 1995), depending on scour conditions (moderate), construction procedure (dry or underwater). McConnell (1998) also gives an extensive compilations of toe protection, reproduced as Figure 14. Here d_s is the maximum anticipated scour depth. The revetment designs include those with rock armour and are described as 'typical seawall designs' by Burchart and Hughes (2003).









Reinstated beach

Dumped rock/fill ma

ctile extended in trench





Figure 14 Typical toe details (McConnel, 1998). d_s is anticipated scour depth

Seawalls and bulkheads

Seawalls and bulkheads are usually divided depending on the structure front, which could be either vertical or sloping, as considered in the next sections.

Vertical-front structures

These structures include large caisson-type gravity structures, gravity retaining walls and cantilevered or anchored sheet-pile retaining walls. Scour protection is usually in the form of a scour apron. Design procedures must consider geotechnical as well as hydraulic factors.

For cantilevered or anchored retaining walls, the passive earth pressure zone must be maintained for stability against overturning. Toe scour results in a loss of embedment length and could threaten the stability of the structure. Gravity walls resist sliding through the frictional resistance developed between the soil and the base of the structure. Seepage forces are also important as the hydraulic gradients of seepage flows beneath vertical walls are thought to significantly increase toe scour and the risk of washout of infill material.

Design advice on apron width is given in Box 5. In all cases, undercutting and unravelling of the edge of the apron must be minimised. There are a number of toe configurations suggested (Figure 2-5 US Army Corp of Engineers, 1995) including vegetated toe (for low scour potential cases), cement bag protection (for low to medium scour potential) gabions or rock mounds (for moderate to severe scour potential).

For the toe stone weight it is recommended to use Brebner and Donnelly (1962). Using this method to determine the median stone weight, W, the allowable gradation should be approximately 0.5 to 1.5W.

Determining the apron quarrystone size for any type of structure depends on the hydrodynamic conditions:

- **Waves**: Toe quarry stone should be sized using Belmer and Donnelly (1962). The apron thickness should be equal to either two quarrystone diameters or the minimum given in the prior rules-of-thumb (Box 3), whichever is greater.
- **Currents**: Toe quarrystone should be sized using guidance on stone blankets (Box 6).
- Waves and currents: Estimate the size of the apron quarrystone for the waves and the currents alone and increase whichever is larger by a factor of 1.5 (Eckert, 1983).

Sloping-front structures

The scour mitigation measure for sloping-front structures depends on the dominating hydrodynamic forcing: waves, currents or both.

Waves

Scour protection of sloping structures exposed to waves consists of a toe berm, whose function is to support the main armour layer and to prevent damage resulting from scour. Armour units displaced from the armour layer may come

to rest on the toe berm, thus increasing toe berm stability. Toe berms are normally constructed of quarry-run, but concrete blocks can be used if quarryrun material is too small or unavailable. Design advice for toe berms is given in Box 5 and typical forms of scour toe protection are illustrated in McConnell (1998) see Figure 14. Preliminary advice on sizing stable rock size is given in CIRIA/CUR (1991).

Additional scour protection is sometimes needed at sloping-front structures to prevent scour by laterally flowing currents.

Box 5 Width of scour apron for vertical-front structures (US Army Corp of Engineers, 1995)

Cantilevered or anchored retaining walls

It is recommended the use of quarrystone scour apron, which width will be the greater of Eq 1 (geotechnical considerations) and Eq 2 (hydrodynamic considerations)

Geotechnical consideration (Eq.1): $B = \frac{d_e}{\tan(45^\circ - \varphi/2)} \approx 2.0 d_s$

Hydrodynamic consideration (Eq.2): $B = 2.0H_i$ or $B = 0.4d_s$ (whichever is greater)

Gravity retaining walls

They do not require the apron to be as wide as that for cantilevered walls.

 $B = H_i$

Head of a vertical breakwater

Laboratory tests by Sumer and Fredsøe (1996) established a relationship for the width of a scour apron that provides adequate protection against scour caused by wave-generated leewake vortices as

$$\frac{B}{D} = 1.75(KC - 1)^{1/2}$$

The authors cautioned that this estimation of apron width may be inadequate in the presence of a current or for head shapes other than circular.

В	:	Width of scour apron
D	:	Diameter of the breakwater circular head (at initial seabed level)
KC	:	Keulegan-Carpenter number
Hi	:	Incident wave height
d _e	:	Depth of the sheet-pile penetration below the seabed
ds	:	Water depth at structure toe
Φ	:	Angle of internal friction of the soil (varies from about 26 to 36 degrees)

Xie (1981) conducted physical model tests using 3 different widths of protective layer (Lp=L/8,L/4,3L/8 where L is the wavelength of the incident waves) which consisted of coarse sand and 10-20mm crushed stones with a 30mm thickness. He concluded that the influence of the protective layer on the sand bed is mainly limited to a distance L/2 from the wall, so that:

- Maximum scour depth decreases with increasing length of protective layer, Lp
- Length of scouring trough also decreases with increasing Lp
- The distance from the wall to first scouring trough increases with increasing Lp
- There is essentially no scouring over a distance of L/2 from the wall when Lp=3L/8.

Box 6 Sloping structures toe protection under waves

Toe Berm (Burchart and Hughes, 2003)

- In very shallow water (with depth-limited design wave heights): support of the armour layer at the toe is ensured by placing one or two extra rows of main armour units at the toe of the slope. (This is a stable solution provided that scour does not undermine the toe causing the armour layer to slide.)
- In shallow water: it is usually possible to use stones or blocks in the toe that are smaller than the main armour.
- In deep water: there is no need for the main armour to cover the slope at greater depths and the toe berm can be constructed at a level above the seabed.

Toe berm stability is affected by wave height, water depth at the toe of the toe berm, width of the toe berm and block density. However, wave steepness does not appear to be a critical parameter.

Practical toe stability formulae for waves, based on small physical model tests, are given by:

Waves	Structure	Toe Stability Formula
Regular, head-on and	Sloping and vertical, trunk	Markle (1989)
oblique	and head section	
Irregular, head-on	Trunk of sloping structure	Van der Meer, d'Agremond and Gerding (1995) Burchart <i>et al</i> , (1995)
Irregular, head-on	Trunk of vertical structure	Madrigal and Valdés (1995)

Design curves, stability equations and Figures for these cases are provided in Tables I –5-45, VI-5-46 and VI-5-47 of Burchart and Hughes (2003).

Scour apron

Fredsøe and Sumer (1997) laboratory study of wave-induced scour at the round heads of rubble-mound structures included design suggestions for scour protection; the width of the scour apron, B (from the structure toe to outer edge) given by:

$$\frac{B}{D} = A_1 K C$$

Where D is the diameter of the breakwater head at initial bed level and KC, the Keulegan-Carpenter number.

Suggested values of A1 are:

- A₁ =1.5 for complete scour protection
- A₁=1.1 for relatively minor scour at the outer edge with a depth equal to about 0.01B

Currents

Toe protection against currents may require smaller protective stone, but wider aprons. Stone blankets constructed of randomly-placed riprap or uniformly sized stone are commonly used to protect areas susceptible to erosion by fastflowing currents. Blanket applications include lining the bottom and sloping sides of flow channels and armouring regions of tidal inlets where problematic scour has developed. Design of stable stone or riprap blankets is based on selecting stone sizes such that the shear stress required to dislodge the stones is greater than the expected shear stress at the bottom developed by the current. Preliminary advice in sizing stable rock size is given in CIRI/CUR (1991) and May *et al*, (2002).

Design advice for sloping structures exposed to currents is given in Box 7.

Box 7 Stone blankets (as given by US Army Corp of Engineers, 1994)

Stable stone or rip-rap blankets in current fields should be designed using the formulation from the USACE Engineers manual 1110-2-1601 (1994)

All graded distributions (riprap) used for stone blankets should have distributions conforming to the weight relations given by USACE Engineers Manual 1110-2-1601 (1994). Both sets of information are given in Burchart and Hughes (2003), Part VI-5-3.

Recommended thickness of blanket layer depends on whether the placement is submerged or in dry, with a minimum blanket thickness of 0.5m

Waves and currents

Coastal structures, such as entrance jetties, are exposed to waves combined with currents running parallel to the structure trunk. Toe stability under some circumstances may be decreased due to the vectorial combination of current and maximum wave orbital velocity. For normal wave incidence, the combined wave and current vector magnitude is not greatly increased. However, in the case of jetties where waves approach the jetty trunk at large oblique angles (relative to the normal), the combined velocity magnitude becomes large and toe stability is jeopardised. Preliminary advice in sizing stable rock size is given in CIRI/CUR (1991). Smith (1999) revised Markle's (1989) method to include waves and currents. First use Markle (1989) to calculate the stability number, Ns. Then calculate the current-modified stability number from:

$$(Ns)_c = a \left(\frac{U+u}{\sqrt{gh_s}} \right)$$

where U = current speed

u = gHT/2L = maximum wave orbital velocity in shallow water

 $a = 51.0(h_b/h_s) - 26.4$

 h_s = water depth in front of toe berm

 h_b = water depth over toe berm

H = breaking wave height

T = wave period

L = local wavelength

If (Ns)c > Ns the stone will be unstable. This method is also given in Burcharth and Hughes (2003).

5. Conclusions and research needs

5.1 Summary of beach lowering report

This report has summarised the present state of knowledge about beach lowering in front of coastal structures (Section 2). The various methods for predicting toe scour have been summarised (Section 3) and the strengths and weaknesses of the methods discussed. Mitigation methods have been introduced and design guidance (where it exists) has been summarised (Section 4). A few general features of beach lowering are summarised below. The rest of this section looks at weaknesses in the methods used and shortfalls in our knowledge, leading onto recommendations for future research where it is expected that the greatest benefits can be obtained.

Coastal defence structures are commonly constructed because of coastal erosion. This erosion will continue, despite the presence of the seawall. The seawall neither adds nor removes sand, although it does impound or imprison it, preventing it from entering the coastal sediment transport system. Seawalls can cause local toe scour during storms, but there is no evidence that coastal defence structures delay the recovery of beaches. Beach lowering is a process that takes place on a number of different timescales (years, seasons, storms) and which combines cross-shore and longshore sediment transport. This report concentrates mainly on toe scour, which is the short term lowering of beach level close in front of a coastal defence structure. The overall lowering of beach levels, which occurs at longer timescales and over larger spatial scales, is referred to as general beach lowering. Most beach lowering studies have considered toe scour only and have treated it as a purely cross-shore transport phenomenon.

Toe scour is blamed for the failure of many coastal structures (Section 3.7.2) but toe scour holes are infrequently observed in the field. There are indications that it may be a short-lived phenomenon, with scour holes generated during storms filling in within a few hours as the storm subsides. This would explain why few scour holes are observed or surveyed at low tide. Toe scour has been reproduced in several small-scale laboratory experiments (Section 3.7.3) which have treated it as a wave-driven, cross-shore, often bedload transport dominated phenomenon. There have been few laboratory toe scour tests that have generated suspended sediment transport despite the fact that (Section 3.3) bedload and suspended load scour occur by different mechanisms and occur in different places. It is therefore questionable whether small-scale bedload transport experiments provide reliable design guidance on toe scour depths at full scale for those situations where suspended load transport is significant (Tørum *et al*, 2003).

Moreover, even if the empirical equations derived from laboratory tests are taken as reliable, there is still no design equation for the following cases (Table 2):

Non-breaking oblique incidence waves at vertical walls;

- Non-breaking oblique incidence waves at sloping impermeable walls;
- Non-breaking oblique incidence waves at permeable sloping walls (such as rubble mound breakwaters);
- Breaking oblique incidence waves at vertical walls;
- Breaking oblique incidence waves at sloping impermeable walls;
- Breaking oblique incidence waves at permeable sloping walls (such as rubble mound breakwaters).

In most of these cases toe scour can be estimated from normal-incidence vertical wall cases, either by taking this as the likely worst case or by adjusting it according to rules-of-thumb. In other cases, such as breaking waves at normal incidence on a sloping impermeable wall the only design guidance comes in the form of rules-of-thumb. There is little evidence of these formulae being used in the design of coastal structures or in the design of mitigation measures, indicating a lack of belief in these methods amongst designers. For assessment of complex designs it may be more important to simulate 3D hydraulic processes in a physical model and as well to estimate the scour development, even if there are some uncertainties in the scour scaling.

The (physical and numerical) modelling previously carried out has regarded toe scour as a short-term wave-driven phenomenon caused by cross-shore transport of sand (or shingle). Case studies in the UK (Appendix A) have often indicated that longshore transport plays an important and sometimes even dominant role in beach lowering in front of coastal structures. Variations in beach level due to changes in longshore transport tend to have longer timescales (up to the centuries required for coastal realignment) than toe scour.

Various methods have been used to mitigate the effects of beach lowering around the UK coastline (Section 4.3) but there is little guidance on the advantages or disadvantages of such methods. Neither has the performance of such mitigation schemes been well documented.

5.2 Conclusions and recommendations

As a direct outcome of this scoping study a number of key areas for further research into the importance and process of beach lowering in front of coastal structures have been identified under the following headings:

- Policy
- Approaches to different time and space scales
- Development of a probabilistic approach
- New experiments
- Sediment type
- Mitigation measures

The research will benefit from linking to existing monitoring of beaches and structures as well as other Defra/Environment Agency research. Finally, an estimate of the potential cost savings arising from the research is included.

Policy

Designers / coastal managers should be encouraged to state the assumptions made about beach lowering at structures, and to define a minimum beach level for new or existing coastal structures (particularly coastal defences) which should not be reached without mitigation works being undertaken. Monitoring this plays a crucial role in assessing performance, with a proportionate level of attention to analysis, interpretation and reporting.

Further information on the performance of mitigation schemes is needed in order to assess how successful different approaches are. More information could be collected from local authorities and other bodies, including more quantitative information than has been collected for this scoping study. In particular, cross-sections of the structure and the mitigation scheme would be useful, along with beach profiles (ideally before and after) and information on the wave and current climates.

Data collected on a structure should be entered into the National Flood and Coastal Defence Database.

Approaches to different time and space scales

Beach lowering happens on such a wide range of time scales and space scales that the entire process cannot reasonably be modelled in a single numerical, physical or conceptual model. Moreover, not all the processes are understood so a variety of approaches should be taken to address these issues, as discussed below.

Long time-series of data can be used to assess the changes in beach level at and in front of a coastal structure. A good example of a suitable dataset is the EA Anglian Region twice-yearly survey of beach levels that has been collected since 1991. It is now sufficiently long to be used to detect trends in beach level. Such trends, if significant, could reasonably be used to extrapolate forwards a few years to give likely beach levels (if there is no reason to suppose that the inherent processes have changed). Such extrapolations should be updated yearly to include the latest data.

Beach plan shape models can be used to study the effect of changes in longshore transport on the development of a beach contour through time. Although such models do not include scour phenomena they do provide information about the development of a beach level contour in front of the structure. Thus the effects of a seawall or groynes can be represented and the movement of the contour tracked through weeks, seasons and years, and as the wave climate changes over, say, a thirty year simulation. However, the representation of seawalls in these models is very simplistic and the logic behind the representation is open to debate. The representation of seawalls in beach planshape models could be investigated and validated. The natural variability in beach level in front of coastal defence structures could then be modelled. This would be an important step in defining the potential risk to a structure. The advantages of a planshape model are that they are quick to run so a large number of scenarios can be modelled and they can be used to test what-if scenarios.

A number of different approaches can be taken to estimate how much toe scour may occur. These include:

- Physical modelling, which suffers from scale effects, but can be used to represent complex three-dimensional situations that cannot be addressed using a numerical model or empirical equations;
- Empirical equations, which can be used to calculate scour depths for design cases, or to calculate time series of scour depths based on modelled time series of wave conditions;
- Phase-resolving numerical models of toe scour, which are being developed, but are still at the stage of modelling limited test cases. For example phase-resolving wave models (e.g. Lawrence *et al*, 2003) can model cross-shore bedload transport, while others (e.g. Bacquerizo and Losada, 1998, Mizutani *et al*, 1998) have modelled regular waves reflecting from a porous structure. While the development of such modelling capacity is to be welcomed, these models are not at a sufficiently advanced or validated stage to be used for design guidance. Such models, when more fully developed, may well prove to be valuable design tools and the continued development of such models would be a valuable academic exercise. Due to their computationally intensive nature, the main use of such models in the next few years will be to test a limited number of design cases; and
- Beach profile models can be run to determine cross-shore scour. These models are phase-averaged wave models and do not resolve the phase of the waves. Typically these use a representative wave height, treat wave reflection in a simple manner and do not allow interactions between the incident and reflected waves. They are generally used as storm response models so are tuned to represent offshore transport during storms rather than beach recovery. They should therefore be run for short-term event simulations rather than for long time series of waves.

Development of a probabilistic approach

A number of different approaches are suitable for addressing different aspects of beach lowering, as shown above. They cannot all be reasonably included in a deterministic model, so the first steps should be taken towards the development of a probabilistic risk-based method of assessing the safety of coastal defence structures. This would combine information on:

- the long-term trend in beach levels
- the variability in beach levels due to longshore transport
- the variability in beach levels due to toe scour
- fragility curves for the structure.

Such an approach would be developed to give information on the range of possible beach levels to be expected in different scenarios. This type of

information could be expressed in the form of a warning trigger level (or levels with different degrees of risk). Remedial action would be taken should the beach level drop below the trigger level.

In order to calculate a fragility curve for a coastal defence structure, more work is needed to link the scour process to the risk of structural failure. Scour deepens the water depth immediately in front of a structure. This may allow higher waves to reach the structure, which may in turn cause greater damage to the front face and toe and may cause a greater volume of water to overtop the coastal defence. This increases the risk to pedestrians and property. It may also threaten the stability of the rear face of certain types of coastal defence (such as embankments) and provide an alternative failure mode to the collapse or unravelling of the toe.

In the case of a seawall with sheet piling, it has often been assumed that failure will occur when the scour level drops below a particular point. In practice, there will be a varying probability of failure over a range of beach levels. The case is more complicated for, say, a revetment with a Dutch toe. Here, changes in beach level may cause the collapse of the toe, which may armour the scour hole, thus reducing the rate of scouring. Unfortunately it is not possible to say exactly how the development of scouring will affect the performance of the structure. More work needs to be done in the first instance, to develop fragility curves for generic structure types.

The above cases show that there is a dynamic interaction between a beach and a coastal defence structure. Relatively few studies have considered the interactions between beaches and structures (preferring to study one or the other). More tests need to be done with mobile beaches and structures. Areas to consider using physical and numerical modelling are:

- Flow through structures and beaches;
- Suffusion and material retention;
- Foundation support, including settlement and liquefaction.

New experiments

There is a shortage of large-scale laboratory and field data on toe scour. Moreover, there is some doubt over whether much of the small-scale experimental data can be applied at full scale. The advantages of large-scale laboratory data are that they are collected under controlled conditions where measurements can be made at any time. Moreover the tests are repeatable. The main disadvantages are that the tests suffer from scaling problems and normally only represent cross-shore wave-driven processes. The advantage of field data is the absence of scale effects. The disadvantages are that the conditions are unpredictable, the tests may not therefore be repeatable, and it is difficult to measure *in situ* during a storm, when the worst scour may occur.

Therefore, a combination of medium to large scale laboratory data and field data should be collected to fill gaps in existing knowledge. The purposes of large-scale laboratory tests would be:

- To check the ability to scale small-scale scour tests to a larger scale
- To provide additional data to evaluate empirical equations for scour depth
- To provide validation data for numerical models
- To test the effectiveness of various toe designs and mitigation measures.

The purpose of field measurements of scour immediately in front of a coastal defence structure would be:

- To collect data at full scale (thus avoiding scale effects) to check empirical equations and the ability to scale small-scale and large-scale laboratory scour tests to full scale
- To measure beach levels during storm events to determine the maximum scour depth and the speed of scouring and filling in as the storm rises and falls.

One or two demonstration experiments should be set up to monitor scour in the field. Field monitoring should occur over a prolonged period, of at least 2 spring-neap-spring cycles per deployment and (preferably 6 or more) and there should be deployments in at least 2 years. This will ensure that a range of conditions can be monitored and lessons learned in the first year can be applied in the second. Equipment to monitor scour depths should be employed continuously throughout this period, even during storms. The equipment could comprise HR Wallingford "Tell Tail" scour monitors as deployed at Blackpool and Teignmouth (see Appendix 3).

Any experiment devised should be tied in with existing survey programmes to minimise the cost and to provide the wider picture. In this way, data on waves and water levels could be obtained from the survey programme as could data on wind speeds, and currents (if collected). Moreover, existing monitoring programmes are likely to already have beach surveys of the site and may be able to conduct beach surveys at the field experiment site(s) immediately after a storm. In addition, they will have staff on-site periodically and may be able to download the data or at least check on the state of the experiment. This would bring numerous advantages to a field measurement campaign and would help to give the monitoring programme a greater insight into the processes affecting the coastal defence structures in their area.

There should also be some consolidation of recent EC funded research to determine the relative importance of hydraulic induced scour and pressure induced liquefaction on bed levels/properties at the toe of coastal defences.

Sediment type

Most studies have concentrated on sand beaches and impermeable structures. More work is needed to determine the relationship between scour depth and sediment type. In the UK there is a need to be able to predict the response of mixed and shingle beaches as well as fine sand beaches. Recently funded Defra research on mixed (sand and shingle) beaches (e.g. Blanco *et al*, 2003) has provided much improved understanding of the morphological response of those types of beach. However, determining the behaviour of mixed beaches at a seawall is a larger area than can be covered by a single project. The greatest benefit would flow from concentrating on sand and shingle beaches while monitoring further improved understanding of mixed beaches and uptake of the recently completed research into mixed beaches.

Mitigation Measures

The approach to mitigation schemes is often practical and empirical. The performance of a selection of mitigation schemes should be examined in more detail. It would be useful if this work could also be tied into an ongoing survey programme to minimise the cost (in the same way as proposed for the monitoring of scour in the field and ideally within the same survey area).

5.3 Potential cost savings

Cost savings could potentially be delivered should research show that less conservative designs for coastal structures would be appropriate. Burgess (2003) compiled the following approximate potential cost savings for each kilometre of coastal defence:

- Reducing toe depth by 0.5m could save £50,000
- Reducing crest level by 0.2m could save £50,000
- Reducing armour thickness by 0.2m could save £100,000
- Steepening structure slopes from 1 in 2.0 to 1 in 1.5 could save £150,000.

There are therefore considerable potential longterm returns from investment in beach lowering research, and the dissemination of new knowledge and guidance. In order to safely minimise the cost of coastal defence structures, the minimum safe size of toe protection and the minimum safe depth of toe excavation should be investigated.

6. References and Bibliography

Allsop, N.W.H, Bray, R.N. (1994) Vertical breakwaters in the United Kingdom: historical and recent experience. In *Wave barriers in Deepwaters*, Port and Harbour Research Institute.

Allsop, N.W.H. (1986) *Seawalls: a literature review*. HR Wallingford Report EX 1490.

Arai, U., Iwamoto, H. and Kawmata, R. (1987) Change in bottom topography of the West Niigata Coast due to waves. Proc. *Coastal Engineering*, JCSE. Vol. 34, 357-361 (in Japanese).

Badiei Peyman, Kamphuis J. William, Hamilton G David. (1994) Physical experiments on the effects of groins on shore morphology. *ICCE* '94, ASCE.

Baquerizo, A., Losada, M.A. (1998) Sediment transport around a mound breakwater: the toe erosion problem. *Coastal Engineering 1998: Proceedings of the 26th Int Conference:* 22-26 June 1998. Copenhagen Denmark. ASCE vol 2: pp 1721-1729.

Barnett M, Wang Hsiang. (1988) Effects of a vertical seawall on profile response. *21st Coastal Engineering Conference,* Spain '98. ASCE. Chapter 111, pp 1493-1507.

Bartels, A., Kloos, M. and Phelp, D. (2000) Failure and repair of the toe of an Accropode breakwater. Book of Abstracts, *26th Int Conf on Coastal Eng*, ASCE, Sydney, Australia, paper 74.

Basco, D., Bellomo, D.A., Hazelton, J.M., Jones, B.N. (1997) The influence of seawall on subaerial beach volumes with receding shorelines. *Coastal Engineering* 30 pp 203-233. Elsevier.

Basco, D.R. (1990) The effect of seawalls on long-term shoreline change rates for the Southern Virginia Ocean Coastline, *Proceedings 22nd Coastal Engineering Conference*, ASCE, 1292-1305.

Basco, D.R., Bellomo, D.A. and Pollock, C. (1992) Statistically significant beach profile chnge with and without the presence of seawalls. *Proc. 23rd Coastal Engineering conference*, ASCE, 1924-1937.

Bea, R.G., Wright, S.G., Sircar, P., Niedoroda, A.W. (1983) Wave-induced slides in South Pass block 70, Mississippi Delta. *J Geotechnical Engineering*, ASCE 109 (1), 619-644.

Beach Erosion Board. (1954) *Shore Protection Planning and Design*, Technical Report No. 4, Office of the Chief of Engineers, Corps of Engineers, Department of the Army, U.S Government Printing Office, Washington DC.

Best de Andranus, Bijker Eco. (1971) Scouring of a sand bed in front of a vertical breakwater. Report no 71-1. *Communications of Hydraulics*, Delft University of technology, Department of Civil Engineering.

Biezen van der Stephan, Graaf van de Jan, Schaap Jasper, Bergonzi Marco, Torrini Lucia. (1997) Small scale tests and numerical modelling of the hydrodynamic and morphological effects of submerged breakwaters. In *Combined Australasian Coastal Engineering and Ports Conference*, Christchurch. From pp 219.

Blanco López de San Román, B., Whitehouse R., Holmes P. and Clarke S. (2003) Mixed beaches (sand/gravel): Process understanding and implications for management. Proceedings 38th Defra Flood and Coastal Management Conference, Keele, July 2003. 03.3.1-12.

Bruun, P. (1953) Breakwaters for Coastal Protection: Hydraulic Principles in Design, *XVIII International Navigation Conference (PIANC)*, Rome.

Burchart, H.F, Hughes, S.A. (2003) Fundamentals of Design. In *Coastal Engineering Manual Part V!*, *Design of Coastal Project Elements, Chapter 5 Engineering Manual, 1110-2-1100,* US Army Corps of Engineering, Washington, DC.

Burchart, H.F., Frigaard, P., Uzcanga, J., Berenguer, J.M., Madrigal, B.G., and Villaneueva, J. (1995) Design of the Ciervana Breakwater, Bilbao, *Proceedings of the Advances in Coastal Structures and Breakwaters conference*, Institution of Civil Engineers, Thomas Telford, London, UK, pp26-43.

Burgess, K. (2003) Current practice and problems in designing rubble structures on beaches. *Beach– Structure Interaction* [Internet] Available from http://cozone.org.uk>.

Carter, T.G., Liu L.-F.P. and Mei, C.C. (1973) Mass transport by waves and offshore sand bedforms. *ASCE Journal of Waterway, Port, Coastal and Ocean Engineering*, 99(WW2): 165-184.

Chapman B, Ilic S, Chadwick A.J. (1999) Physical model evaluation of the hydrodynamics produced around a permeable breakwater scheme. *Coastal Structures '99, Santander* Balkema.

Cheng, L., Sumer, B.M. and Fredsøe, J. (2001) Solutions of pore pressure buildup due to progressive waves. *International Journal of Numerical and Analytical Methods in Geomechanics*, vol.25, issue 9, pp. 885-907.

Chiew Yee-Meng. (2002) Failure mechanisms of Riprap layer around bridge piers. *First International Conference on Scour of Foundations*, ICSF-1. Texas AandM University, USA.

Ching-Piao Tsai, Jiann-Shyang Wang, Chang Lin. (1998) Downrush flow from waves on sloping seawalls. *Ocean Engineering*. Vol.25, Nos. 4-5, pp 295-308. Elsevier Science.

CIRIA (1986) *Seawalls: survey of performance and design practice*. Tech Note 125, ISBN 086017 266X, ISSN 0305 – 1718.

CIRIA/CUR (1991) *Manual on the use of rock in coastal and shoreline engineering*. CIRIA special publication 83, CUR Report 154. ISBN 0-86017-326-7.

Coastal Engineering Technical Note (1981) *Seawalls – their applications and limitations*. CETN-III-8 3/81. US Army Corps of Engineers, Coastal Engineering Research Center, Kingman Building, Fort Belvoir, VA 22060.

De Rouck, J. and de Meyer, C. (1987) Port Structures, their care and maintenance. *PIANC Bull.*, *58*, 133-168.

de Wit, P.J. (1995) *Liquefaction of cohesive sediments caused by waves*, PhD thesis, Technical University of Delft, pp 197.

de Wit, P.J., Kranenburg, C. (1993) Liquefaction and erosion of China clay due to waves and current, *Proceedings of the 23rd Int Conference on Coastal Engineering* Vol 3, pp 2937-2948.

Dean, R., Chen, R., Browder, A. (1997) Full scale monitoring study of a submerged breakwater, Palm Beach, Florida, USA. *Coastal Engineering* 29 – pp291-315. Elsevier.

Dean, R.G. (1985) Physical modelling of littoral processes in *Physical Modelling in Coastal Engineering*, AA Balkema, Rotterdam, 119-139.

Dean, R.G. (1986) Coastal Armouring: Effects, principles, and mitigation. *Proceedings 20th Coastal Engineering Conference,* American Society of Civil Engineers, pp 1843-1857.

Dean, R., Yoo Chul-Hee. (1994) Beach nourishment in presence of seawall. *Journal of Waterway, Port, Coastal, and Ocean Engineering*. Vol 120, No3.

Dette, H.H., Larson, M., Murphy, J., Newe, J., Peters, K., Reniers, A., Steetzel, H. (2002) *Coastal Engineering* 47, pp 137-177. Elsevier.

Dette, H.H., Peters, K., Newe, J. (1998) *Large wave flume experiment '96/97 – experiments on beach and dune stability*. Report No.830, data documentation. MAST III – SAFE Project. Performance of soft beach systems and nourishment measures for European coasts. Commission of the European Union Directorate General XII under MAST contract MAS3-CT95-0004. Leichtweiss-Institute.

Dodd, N. (1998) Numerical Model of Wave Run-up, overtopping and regeneration. *J. Waterway, Port, Coastal and Ocean Eng.* 124(2): 73-81.

Eckert, J.W. (1983) Design of toe protection for coastal structures. *Coastal Structures* '83. pp 331-341.

Eijsink, W.D, Koh, F., Tilmans, W.M.K., Vis, F.C. (1989) *Kelantan minor port project, Malaysia. Integral harbour design with emphasis on local scour and sedimentation.* Delft Hydraulics. Publications number 401.

Escarameia, M. (1998) *River & channel revetments : A design manual.* Publisher, Thomas Telford - pp 245.

Everts, C.H. (1985) Effects of small protective devices on beaches. *California's battered coast: proceedings from a conference on coastal erosion*, California Coastal Commission, 127–137. Review of seawall problem.

Feng, J. (1992) *Laboratory experiments on cohesive soil bed fluidization by water waves*, Thesis report UFL/COEL-92/005, University of Florida, Gainseville, USA.

Foda, M.A., Hunt, J.R. and Chou, H.T. (1993) A non-linear model for the fluidization of marine mud by waves, *J. Geophysical Research*, 98, 7039-7047.

Foda, M.A., Tzang, S.Y., Maeno, Y. (1991) Reasonant soil liquefaction by water waves, *Proceedings of Geo-Coast '91*, Yokohama, Japan, 549-583.

Fowler, J.E. (1992) *Scour problems and methods for prediction of maximum scour at vertical seawalls.* Technical Report CERC-92-16, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Waterways Experiment Station, 3909 Halls Ferry Road, Vicksburg, MS.

Fowler, J.E. (1993) *Coastal Problems and methods for prediction of maximum scour.* Technical Report CERC-93-8, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Waterways Experiment Station, 3909 Halls Ferry Road, Vicksburg, MS.

Fredsøe, J., Sumer, B. M. (1997) Scour at the round head of a rubble-mound breakwater. *Coastal Engineering* 29. 231-262. Elsevier Science.

Funakoshi Haruyo, Ohno Masato, Tsuda Shuichi. (1994) Survey of long-term deformation of composite breakwaters along the Japan sea. *Proceedings of International workshop on wave barriers in deepwaters*.

Gao Xueping, Inouchi Kunimitsu. (1998) The characteristics of scouring and depositing in front of vertical breakwaters by broken clapotis. *Coastal Engineering Journal*, Vol 40, No 1 - pp 99-113. WSPC/101-CEJ.

Gökçe Tunc, Sumer Mutlu, Jørgen Fredsøe. (1994) Scour around the head of a vertical wall breakwater. Hydro-Port '94. *International Conference on Hydro-Technical Engineering for Port and Harbor Construction*. Yakosuka, Japan.

Griggs, G.B., Tait, J.F., Scott, Plant N. (1991) Field observations over 4 years at Monterey Bay, California. Proc *Coastal Sediments* '91. ASCE. Pp 1871–1885.

Griggs. G. B., Tait, J.F., and Corora, W., (1994) The interactions of seawalls and beaches: seven years of field monioring Monterey Bay, Canlifornia. *Shore* & *Beach* 63(4):32-38.

Gunbak, A.R., Gokce, T. and Guler, I. (1990) Erosion and protection of Samadang Breakwater. *J. Coastal Research*, Proc of Skagen Symposium, 2-5. Vol 2., 753-771.

Gunton, A. (1997) Upper foreshore evolution and sea wall stability, Jersey, Channel Islands. *Journal of Coastal Research* 13(3) – pp 813 – 821. Fort Lauderdale, Florida.

Hales, L.Z. (1985) *Erosion control of scour during construction*. Technical Report HL-80-3, Report 8, Summary Report. WES, Vicksburg, Mississippi, USA.

Hales, Z. Lyndell, Houston, R. James. (1983) *Stability of underlayer material placed in advance of construction to prevent scour. Hydraulic model investigation. Erosion control of scour during construction Report 4.* Technical report HL-80-3. US Army Corps of Engineers, WES. USA.

Hanson, H., Brampton, A., Capobianco, M., Dette, H.H., Hamm, L., Laustrup, C., Lechuga, A., Spanhoff, R., (2002). Beach nourishment projects, practices and objectives – a European view. *Coastal Engineering* 47(2) 81–111.

Hattori, C., Shibata, K and Ohori, K, (1984) *Disasters of breakwaters by wave action (part 3)* Port and Harbour Research Institute (PHRI) Japan. Tech Note No 485, pp 1-28 (in Japanese).

Heibaum, M.H. (1999) Coastal scour stabilisation using granular filter in geosynthetic nonwoven containers. *Geotextiles and Geomembranes* 17, pp341-352. Elsevier.

Herbich, J. (1999) Handbook of Coastal Engineering. ISBN 007 1344020.

Herbich, J. B., Ko, S. (1968) Scour of sand beaches in front of seawalls. *Proc. 11th Coastal Engineering Conference*, Vol I; 622-643.

Herbich, J.B., Schiller. Jr. E.R., Dunlap, W.A. (1984) Sea floor Scour: Design guidelines for Ocean-Founded Structures. *Ocean Engineering*. Marine Resources Development Foundation. USA.

Herbich, J.B., Murphy, D., van Weele, B. (1965) Scour on flat sand beaches due to wave action in front of seawalls. *Proceedings of Coastal Engineering Speciality Conference*, American Society of Civil Engineers, Santa Barbara, California, 705-727.

Hotta Shintaro, Marui Nobuo. (1976) *Proc 15th ICCE,* Honolulu, Hawaii, ASCE Vol 2 - pp 1590-1604.

Hotta Shintaro. (1980) Wave height distribution around permeable breakwaters. *Proceedings of 17th ICCE*, Sydney Australia. ASCE vol 1 – pp221-240.

HR Wallingford (2002). Southern North Sea Sediment Transport Study, Phase 2. HR Wallingford Report EX 4526.

Hsu, J.R.C. and Silvester, R., Model test results of scour along breakwaters. ASCE *Journal of Waterway, Port, Coastal and Ocean Engineering*, 115(1): 66-85.

Hughes, S.A. (1993) *Physical models and laboratory techniques in coastal engineering*, World Scientific, pp568.

Hughes, S.A. (1992) Estimating wave-induced bottom velocities at vertical wall. ASCE *Journal of Waterway, Port, Coastal and Ocean Engineering* 118(2): 175-192.

Hughes, S.A. and Fowler J.E. (1995) Estimating wave-induced kinematics at sloping structures. *Journal of Waterway, Port, Coastal, and Ocean Engineering* July/August. Vol 121, No.4 – pp 209-215.

Hughes, S.A. and Fowler, J. E. (1991) Wave-induced scour prediction at vertical walls. Proceedings *Coastal Sediments*, vol 2. pp1886-1900.

Hughes, S.A. and Fowler, J.E. (1990) *Midscale physical model validation for scour at coastal structures*. Technical Report CERC-90-8, US Army Corps of Engineers, CERC, Vicksburg, Miss.

Hughes, S.A. and Kamphuis, J.W. (1996) Scour at coastal inlet structures. *Proceedings of 25th ICCE*, Orlando Florida. Chapter 175, pp 2258. ASCE.

Hulme, M., Jenkins, G.J., Lu, X., Turnpenny, J.R., Mitchell, T.D., Jones, R.G., Lowe, J., Murphy, J.M., Hassell, D., Boorman, P., McDonald, R. and Hill, S. (2002) *Climate Change Scenarios for the United Kingdom: The UKCIP02 Scientific Report*, Tyndall Centre for Climate Change Research, School of Environmental Sciences, University of East Anglia, Norwich, UK. 120pp.

Huygens M, Verhoeven R. (1997) An alternative coastal protection configuration for the Belgian Coast. *Combined Australasian Coastal Engineering and Ports Conference*, Christchurch. From pp 219.

Hydraulics Research Station, (1965) Great Yarmouth harbour entrance followup study. Report No. Int 46. Wallingford. (Now known as HR Wallingford Ltd. UK).

Ichikawa, T. (1967) Scouring damages at vertical wall breakwaters of Tagonoura Port. *Coastal Engineering* in Japan, vol 10 pp 95-108.

Ilic, S., Pan, S., Chapman, B., Chadwick, A.J., O'Connor, B.A., MacDonald, N.J. (1999) Laboratory measurements of flow around a detached breakwater scheme. *Coastal Structures* '99, Santander.

Irie, I. And Nadaoka, K. (1984) Laboratory reproduction of seabed scour in front of breakwaters. *Proc 19th ICCE*, Houston. ASCE 1715-1731.

Jackson, N.L, Nordstrom, K.F. (1994) The mobility of beach fill in front of a seawall on an estuarine shoreline, Cliffwood Beach, New Jersey, USA. *Ocean* & *Coastal Management* 23 - pp149 – 166.

Jacobson, M. (1997) Resource management perspective on seawalls and their effects. *Combined Australasian Coastal Engineering and Ports Conference*, Christchurch.

Jeng, D.S. (2001) Mechanism of the wave-induced seabed instability in the vicinity of a breakwater: a review, *Ocean Engineering* 28, 537-570.

Jones, D.F. (1975) *The effect of vertical seawalls on longshore currents*. PhD Dissertation, University of Florida.

Jyothi, K., Mani, J. S., Panesh, M.R. (2002) Numerical modelling of flow around coastal structures and scour prediction. *Ocean Engineering*. Bol.29. 417-444. Elsevier Science.

Kamphuis, J.W. (1985) On understanding scale effect in coastal mobile bed models in *Physical Modelling in Coastal Engineering*, AA Balkema, Rotterdam, 141-162.

Kamphuis, J. W. and Kooistra, J. (1990) Three dimensional mobile bed hydraulic model studies of wave breaking, circulation and sediment transport processes. *Proc Canadian Coastal Conference*, Kingston Ontario, NRCC Associate Committee on Shorelines (ACOS) pp 363-386.

Kamphuis, J.W. and Nairn, R.B. (1998) Scale effects in large coastal mobile bed models. Proceedings *ICCE* '98, Texas.

Kamphuis, J.W., Rakha, K.A., Jui, J. (1992) Hydraulic model experiments on seawalls. *Proc 23rd ICCE* ASCE: Chapter 96, pp 1272-1284.

Karjadi, A. Entin, Kobayashi Nobuhisa. (1998) *Coastal Engineering '98. Proceedings of the 26th Int Conference*, 22-26 June. Copenhagen, Denmark. ASCE vol 2 – pp1833-1845.

Kihara, T., Kai, M. Torii, M. and Motizuki, N (1988) On measures for the scouring at the front surface of breakwaters, *Proc. Coastal Engineering*, HCSE, Vol. 35, 402-406 (in Japanese).

Kim Hyoseob. (1999) Circular scour around rubble-mound foundation on Sukmo-Choomoon tidal flat, Korea. *Proceeding IAHR Symposium on river, coastal and estuarine morphodynamics*. Genoa, Italy. pp141-150.

King, D.M., Cooper, N.J., Morfett, J.C., Pope, D.J. (2000) Application of offshore breakwaters to the UK: a case study at Elmer beach. *Journal of Coastal Research* 16(1) - pp 172-187. Royal Palm Beach, Florida.

Kraus and Hanson discussion and closure by Dean and Yoo. (1995) Beach nourishment in presence of seawall. Vol 121(5) pp 272-274. *Journal of Waterway, Port, Coastal, and Ocean Engineering*.

Kraus, N.C., Galgano, F.A. (2001) *Beach Erosional Hot Spots: Types, Causes, and Solutions.* ERDC/CHL CHETN-11-44. US Army Corps of Engineers.

Kraus, N.C., McDougal, W.G. (1996) The effects of seawalls on the beach: Part 1 - An updated literature review. *Journal of Coastal Research*, vol 12, no. 3 - pp 691-701.

Kraus, N.C. (1988) The effects of seawall on the beach: an extended literature review. *Proc Coastal Sediments* '87. ASCE. 945–960. Review of literature on laboratory, field and theoretical studies.

Kraus, N.C. (1988) The effects of seawalls on the beach: An extended literature review. *Journal of Coastal Research*, Special Issue No 4, Autumn 1988 pp 1-28. Kraus, N.C. and Smith, J.M. (editors), 1994. *SUPERTANK Laboratory data collection project. volume 1: Main text.* Technical report CERC-94-3, US Army Corps of Engineers Waterways Experiment Station, Coastal Engineering Research Center, Vicksburg. Miss.

Kraus, N.C., Larsen, M. and Kriebel, D.L., (1991) Evaluation of beach erosion and accretion predictors. *Proceedings Coastal Sediments '91*, American society of Civil Engineers, 472-587.

Kraus, N.C., Smith, J.M. and Sollitt, C.K., (1992) SUPERTANK Laboratory Data Collection Project, *Proceedings of 23rd Coastal Engineering Conference*, American Society of Civil Engineers, 2191 – 2204.

Kuhnen Franziska (2000) *Scour and scour protection at berm breakwaters wave overtopping on berm breakwaters*. Diploma Thesis Spring 2000. Technical University of Braunschweig.

Kuroiwa, N., Hayashi, K. and Noda, H (1990) Investigation on the deposition at small and medium fish ports, *Proc. Coastal Engineering*, JCSE, Vol 37, 419-423 (in Japanese).

Kuroiwa, N., Noda, H. and Takahashi, S (1993) Numerical experiments on the deposition inside harbours, *Proc. Coastal Engineering*, JCSE, Vol 40, 501-505 (in Japanese).

Lamberti, A., Tomasicchio, G. (1997) Stone mobility and longshore transport at reshaping breakwaters. *Coastal Engineering* 29. pp263-289. Elsevier.

Law, A.W.K. (1993) Discussion of Wave-induced effective stress in seabed and its momentary liquefaction by Sakai *et al*, (1992), *J. Waterways, Port, Coastal and Ocean Engineering*, ASCE 119 (6), 694-695.

Lawrence, J., Karunarathan, H., Chadwick, A. and Fleming, C. (2003) Crossshore sediment on mixed coarse grain sized beaches: modelling and measurements. *Coastal Engineering 2002, Proceedings of the 28th International Conference*, World Scientific Publishing, Singapore, 2565-2571.

Ligteringen, H., Harris, F. (1994) Other European experience on deep water breakwaters. *Wave Barriers in Deepwaters*, Port and Harbour Research Institute. From pp199-.

Lillycrop, W.J., Hughes, S.A. (1993) *Scour Hole Problems Experienced by the Corps of Engineers; Data Presentation and Summary*. Coastal Engineering Research Program. US Army Corps of Engineers – Waterways Experiment Station, 3909 Halls Ferry Road, Vicksburg, MS.

Lin, M.C., WU, C.T., LU, Y.C. and Lliang, N.K. (1986) Effects of short-crested waves on the scouring around the breakwater. *Proceedings of 20th Coastal Engineering Conference*, American Society of Civil Engineers, 2050-2064.

Lindo, M.H. and Stive, R.J.H., (1985) Reconstruction of main breakwater in Tripoli harbour, Libya. *Dredging and Port Construction*. Feb., 19-27.

Longuet-Higgins, M.S., (1953) Mass transport in water waves. *Phil. Trans. Of Royal Soc., London, series A*, 245: 535-581.

Lopez, C., Losada A. Miguel, Kobayashi N (1998) Stability of mound breakwaters: dependence on wave reflection. Coastal Engineering '98. *Proceedings of the 26th Int Conference* 22-26 June '98. Copenhagen, Denmark. ASCE, vol 2- pp1833-1845.

Losada, I.J., Silva, R., Losada, M.A. (1997) Effects of reflective vertical structures permeability on random wave kinematics. *Journal of Waterway, Port, Coastal, and Ocean Engineering.*

Loveless, J.H. (1994) Modelling Toe Scour at Coastal Structures. *Proceedings, 2nd International Conference on Hydraulic Modelling.* 479-492, ISBN 0-852-98922-9.

Loveless, J.H. and Grant, G.T. (1994) Physical Modelling of Scour at Coastal Structures. HYDRA 2000, *Proceedings of 26th Congress of Int. Assoc. for Hydraulic Research*. (3): 293-298 ISBN 0-727-72056-2.

Loveless, J.H. Grant, G.T. and Karlsson, R.I. (1996) The effect of groundwater on scour near structures *Proceedings 25th Intl. Conf. on Coastal Engineering*. V2. 2152-2165.

Loveless, J.H. Grant, G.T. (1995) Physical modelling of scour at coastal structures. *Hydra 2000* (Vol3) pp 293-. Thomas Telford. London.

MacDonald, H.V., Patterson D.C. (1985) Beach Response to coastal works Gold Coast, Australia. *Proceedings of 19th Coastal Engineering Conference*, American Society of Civil Engineers, 1522-1538.

Madrigal, B.G. and Valdés, J.M. (1995) *Study of rubble mound formation stability*, Proceedings of the Final Workshop, MAST II, MCS-Project.

Madsen, O.S. (1978) Wave induced pore pressures and effective stresses in a porous seabed. *Geotechnique* 28:377-393.

Maeno, S., and Tsubota, U (2001) Flow out limit of back-filling sand behind revetment under cyclic loading of water pressure *Proceedings of XXIX IAHR conference*, Theme E, pp.43-48.

Markle, D.G. (1986) *Stability of Toe Berm Armor Stone and Toe Buttressing Stone on Rubble-mound breakwaters and jetties; physical model invesiation*, Technical Report REMR-CO-12, U,S, Army Engineer Waterways Experiment station, Vicksburgh, MS.

Markle, D.G. (1989) *Stability of rubble mound breakwater and jetty-toes, : Survey of field experience*, Technical Report REMR-CO-01, US Army Engineer Workshop Experiment Station, Vicksburgh Ms.

Matthews, E.R. (1934) *Coast Erosion and Protection*, Charles Griffiths and Company Limited, London.

May, R.W.P., Ackers, J.C. and Kirby, A.M. (2002) Manual on scour at bridges and other hydraulic structures. CIRIA Report C551.

McConnell, K. (1998) *Revetment systems against wave attack. A design manual*. Thomas Telford. ISBN 0 7277 2706 0.

McDougal, W.G., Kraus N.C., Ajiwibowo, H. (1996) The effects of seawalls on the beach: Part II, numerical modelling of SUPERTANK seawall tests. *Journal of Coastal Research*, vol 12, no. 3, pp 702-713.

McDougal, W.G., Tsai, Y.T., Liu, P.L-F and Clukey, E.C. (1989) Wave-induced pore water accumulation in marine soils. Trans. ASME, *J. Offshore Mechanics and Arctic Engineering*, Vol 111, pp 1-11.

Migniot, C., Manoujian, S., Wens, F. and Neyrick, L. (1983) Erosion near harbour structures under wave and current action, how to forsee and remake. *Proc Int Harbour Congress*, pp 1.55-1.67.

Miles, J.R, Russell P.E, Huntley D.A. (1997) Suspended sediment response to wave reflection. *Proceedings of Coastal Dynamics* '97. Plymouth, UK. ASCE, pp704-713.

Minikin, R. R. (1950) *Winds, waves and maritime structures. Studies in harbour making and in the protection of coasts.* Charles Griffin and Company Limited, 42 Dury Lane London WC2.

Minikin, R. R. (1952) *Coast erosion and protection. Studies in causes and remedies*. Chapman and Hall Ltd 37 Essex Street, London, WC2 for The Dock and Harbour Authority.

Mizutani Norimi, Mostaa Ayman, Iwata Koichiro. (1998) Nonlinear regular wave, submerged breakwater and seabed dynamic interaction. *Coastal Engineering* 33 pp 177-202.

Muir-Wood. (1969) *Coastal Hydraulics*. Sir William Halcrow and Partners. Macmillan.

Neelamani, S., Sandhya, N. (2003) Wave reflection characteristics of plane, dentated and serrated seawalls. *Ocean Engineering*. Elsevier, 30(12): 1507 – 1534.

Nielsen, A.F, Turner, I.L, Miller, B.M, Leyden Vincent, Gordon, A.D. (2000) Experiences with physical scale basin modelling using mobile sediments. *Proceedings of 27th Int Conference on Coastal Engineering*, Sydney Australia. ASCE pp 2928-2941.

Nishimura, H., Waranoke, A and Horikawa, K, (1978) Scouring at the toe of a seawall due to tsunamis. *Proc. 16th Coastal Engineering Conference*, Hamburg, Germany, ASCE 2540-2547.

Noda, H., (1970) Mass transport in wave boundary layer and seabed scour, *Proc 17th Japanese Conf. On Coastal Eng.*, 59-66.

O'Donoghue, T. (2001) N-type sediment bed response under standing wave. *Journal of Waterway, Port, Coastal and Ocean Engineering*, vol.127; 245-248.

O'Donoghue, T., Goldsworthy, C.J. (1995) Near-bed velocities in front of sea walls. *XXVIth IAHR Congress, HYDRA 2000*, London, vol 3, pp311-316.

O'Donoghue, T. and Sutherland, J., (1999) Random wave kinematics and coastal structures. *Proc. Instn Civ. Engrs Wat, Marit. & Energy*. 136: 93-104.

Oumeraci, H., (1994a) Review and analysis of vertical breakwater failure – lessons learned. *Coastal Engineering*, 22 - pp 3-29. Elsevier Science.

Oumeraci, H., (1994b) Multi-disciplinary research experience in Europe on vertical breakwaters. *Wave Barriers in Deepwaters*, Port and Harbour Research Institute.

Oumeraci, H., (1994c) Scour in front of vertical breakwaters – review of problems. Proceeding Int Workshop on *wave barriers in deepwaters*. PHRI, Yokosuka, Japan.

Owens, J.S, Case, G.O. (1908) *Coast Erosion and Foreshore Protection*, St. Brides Press, London.

Pilkey, O.H, Wright, H.L. (1988) Seawalls versus beaches. *Journal of Coastal Research*, Special Issue number 4 pp 41-64.

Plant, N. (1990) *The effects of seawall on beach morphology and dynamic processes*. MS Thesis, U California, Santa Cruz. 51pp.

Powell, K.A. (1987) *Toe scour at seawalls subject to wave action: A literature review*. Report No SR 119. Published by HR Wallingford, Oxfordshire, OX10 8BA, UK.

Powell, K.A. (1989) *The scouring of coarse sediments at the toe of seawalls*. Proceedings seminar on Seawall Design, HR Wallingford, UK.

Powell, K.A. (1993) *Dissimilar Sediments: Model tests of replenished beaches using widely graded sediment*. Report SR350. HR Wallingford. UK.

Powell, K.A, Lowe, J. P. (1994) The scouring of sediments at the toe of seawalls. In: *Proceedings of the Hornafjordur International Coastal Symposium*, Iceland - June 20-24. Edited by Gisli Viggosson - pp 749 to 755.

Powell, K, Whitehouse, R.J.S. (1998) The occurrence and prediction of scour at coastal and estuarine structures. *33rd MAFF Conference of River and Coastal Engineers*, 1-3 July 1998. Keele University. UK.

Rahman, M.S. and Jaber, W.Y. (1986) A simplified drained pore pressure in relation to ocean floor stability of cohesionless soils. *Soils and Foundations*, 26 (3), pp 57-68.

Rakha, K.A., Kamphuis, J.W. (1995) A morphology model to predict erosion near a seawall. *Proceedings of Coastal Dynamics* '95. ASCE.

Rakha, K.A., Kamphuis, J.W. (1997) A morphology model for an eroding beach backed by a seawall. *Coastal Engineering* 30 - pp 53-75. Elsevier.

Ruggiero, P., McDougal, W.G. (2001) An analytic model for the prediction of wave set-up, longshore currents and sediment transport on beaches with seawalls. *Coastal Engineering*, vol 43. 161-182. Elsevier Science.

Russell, R.C.H., Inglis, Claude Sir. (1953) *The influence of a vertical wall on a beach in front of it*. Hydraulics Research Station Wallingford.

Sakai, T., Hatanaka, K. and Mase, H. (1992) Wave-induced effective stress in seabed and its momentary liquefaction. *J. Waterways, Port, Coastal and Ocean Engineering*, ASCE 118 (2), 202-206.

Sakakiyama, T., Kajima, R. (2002) Experimental study on toe scour of seawall covered with armor units due to waves. *First International Conference on Scour of Foundations*, ICSF-1, Texas AandM University, College Station, Texas, USA. Nov 17-20.

Sanchez-Arcilla, A., Gironella, X., Verges, D., Sierra, J.P., Pena, C., Moreno, L. (2000) Submerged breakwaters and bars. From hydrodynamics to functional design.

Sá-Pires, C., Ferreira, O. and Dias, J.A. (2003) Beach recovery rates fter a storm event and their association to different morphodynamic characteristics. *Proceedings of the International Conference on Coastal Sediments 2003*. CD-ROM published by World Scientific Corp and East meets West Productions. ISBN 981-238-422-7.

Sassa, S. and Sekiguchi, H. (2001) Analysis of wve-induced liquefaction of sand beds. *Géotechnique* 51(2): 115-126.

Sato, S., Tanaka, N. and Irie, I. (1969) Study on scouring at the foot of coastal structures. *Proceedings of the 11th Coastal Engineering Conference*, American Society of Civil Engineers, 579-598.

Sayers, P.B. (1993) *Predicting short term profile response for shingle beaches under the influence of vertical sea walls.* Report SR 325. HR Wallingford, UK.

Schiereck, G.J., Fontijn, H.L., d'Angremond, K., Booij, R., Steijn, B. (2000) Filter erosion in coastal structures. *Coastal Engineering - ICCE 2000*, Sydney Australia.

Seaman, C.R., O'Donoghue, T. (1996) Beach response in front of wavereflecting structures. Chapter 177. *Proceedings of 25th International Conference*. Orlando, Florida.

Shaw, H.S. (2003) Beach Drainage Network [Internet]. University of Southampton, Available from <u>http://www.beachdrainage.com/</u>.

Silvester, R. (1974) Generation, propagation and influence of waves. Coastal Engineering, 1. Department of Civil Engineering, University of Western Australia, Nedlands, W.A. Australia. *Elsevier Scientific Publishing Company*, ISBW 0-444-41101-1.

Silvester, R. (1977) The role of wave reflection in coastal processes. *Coastal Sediments* '77 – pp 639-654.
Silvester, R. and Hsu, J.R.C., (1989) Sines revisited *J. Waterways, Port, Coastal and Ocean Engineering*, ASCE 115 (3), 327-344.

Silvester, R. and Hsu, J.R.C., (1997) *Coastal Stabilisation. World Scientific, pp.* 578.

Simons, R.R. (1999) Assessment of the stability of bed material adjacent to marine structures. The effects of breaking waves, turbulence, and vortex-shedding. Report TR99. HR Wallingford. UK.

Sladen, J.A., D'Hollander, R.S. and Krahn, J., (1985) The liquefaction of sands, a collapse surface approach. *Can. Geotech. J.*, 22:564-578.

Smith, E.R. (1999) The stability of rubble-mound structures in a breaking wave and ebb flow environment. Technical Report REMR-CO-20. US Army Engineers Waterways Experiment Station, Coastal and Hydrualics Laboratory, Vicksburg, MS.

Song W.O., Schiller R. E. (1973) *Experimental studies on beach scour due to wave action*. Texas A and M University CoE Report Number 166, TAMU-SG-73-211.

Sorensen, T., (1985) Experience gained from breakwater failures. *Proc Conf on Breakwaters*. 103-118.

Soulsby, R.L., (1997) *Dynamics of Marine Sands* Thomas Telford, London. ISBN 07277 2584 X.

Southgate, H.N., (1989) A near-shore profile model of wave and tidal current interaction, *Coastal Engineering*, vol. 13.

Spearman, J.R., Dearnaley, M.P., Dennis, J.M. (1998) A simulation of estuary response to training wall construction using a regime approach. *Coastal Engineering* 33, pp 71-89. Elsevier.

Stanton, F.W.S. (1909) *Erosion of the Coast and its Prevention*, St. Brides Press, London.

Sumer, B.M. (1986) Recent developments in the mechanics of sediment suspension. *Proc Euromech 192: transport of suspended solids in open channels*. Neubiberg, Germany. AA Balkema publisher, The Netherlands, 3-13.

Sumer, B.M. and Fredsøe, J. (2002) *The Mechanics of Scour in the Marine Environment*. World Scientific Publishing. ISBN 981-02-4930-6. Advanced Series on Ocean Engineering, Volume 17.

Sumer, B.M. and Fredsøe, J. (2000) Experimental study of 2D scour and its protection at a rubble-mound breakwater. *Coastal Engineering*, vol 40. 5-87. Elsevier Science.

Sumer, B. M. and Fredsøe, J. (1999) Scour and its protection. *Coastal Waves, Currents and Sediment Transport*. COPEDEC, Cape Town SA.

Sumer, B. M. and Fredsøe, J. (1997) Scour at the head of a vertical-wall breakwater. *Coastal Engineering* 29 - 201-230. Elsevier Science.

Sumer, B. M., Whitehouse, R.J.S, Tørum, Alf. (2001) Scour around coastal structures: a summary of recent research. *Coastal Engineering*, vol 44. 153-190. Elsevier Science.

Sutherland, J. (1999) Morphodynamic research in coastal wave basins. *Proc Hydralab workshop – Experimental research and synergy effects with mathematical models* 49-58.

Sutherland, J., Chapman, B., Whitehouse, R.J.S. (1999) *SCARCOST Experiments in the UKCRF, Data on scour around a detached rubble mound breakwater*. Report TR 98, HR Wallingford. UK.

Sutherland, J., Chapman, B., Whitehouse, R.J.S. (2000) Scour around a detached rubble mound breakwater. *Coastal Structures '99*, Losada. 2000 Balkema, Rotterdam, ISBN 90 5809 092 2.

Sutherland, J., O'Donoghue, T. (1997) CRF study of wave kinematics in front of coastal structures. *Coastal Dynamics '97*. Proc. of International Conference, Plymouth, ASCE., 694-703.

Sutherland, J., O'Donoghue, T. (1998a) Wave phase shift at coastal structures. *Journal of Waterway, Port, Coastal, and Ocean Engineering*, 124(2):90-98.

Sutherland, J. and O'Donoghue, T., (1998b). Characteristics of wave reflection spectra. *ASCE Journal of Waterway, Port, Coastal and Ocean Engineering*, 124(6): 303-311.

Sutherland, J., Whitehouse, R.J.S. (1998) *Scale effects in the physical modelling of seabed scour*. Report TR64. HR Wallingford. UK.

Suzaki Hiroto, Shimmura Makoto. (2002) Scour on railway embankment foundation located on sea-cliff in Japan. *First International Conference on Scour of Foundations, ICSF-1*. Texas AandM University, USA.

Syouji, Y., Nakayama, H., Takiguchi, Y., Takahasi, K, Kuroki, K. and Sakai, T. (1991) Field observation on the wave, current and bed topography change due to submerged offshore breakwater at the Miigata-nishi coast, *Proc. Coastal Engineering*, JCSE, Vol 38, 429-433 (in Japanese).

Tait, J.F., Griggs, G.B. (1990) Beach response to the presence of a seawall - a comparison of field observations. *Shore and Beach*, April 1990 pp 11-28.

Takeyama, H. and Nakayama, T. (1975) *Disasters of breakwater by wave action*. Port and Harbour Research Institute, Japan. Tech Note 200 (in Japanese).

Tanaka, N. (1974) Bottom topography change in the vicinity of a port on a sandy beach. *Proc. Conf. Port and Harbour Res. Institute in Syowa 49 year.* 1-46 (in Japanese).

Terchunian Aram. (1988) Permitting coastal armouring structures: can seawalls and beaches co-exist? *Journal of Coastal Research*, S1(4) PP65-75. Charlottesville, Virginia.

Thieler, E.R., Pilkey, O.H., Young, R.S, Bush, D.M., Chai Fei. (2000) The use of mathematical models to predict beach behavior for US Coastal Engineering: A critical review. *Journal of Coastal Research* 16(1), pp 48-70. ISSN 0749-0208. Royal Palm Beach, Florida. USA.

Thomas, R. S. and Hall, B. (1992) Seawall design. CIRIA, ISBN 07506 1053 0.

Thorn, R B. (1960) *The design of sea defence works*. Butterworths Scientific Publications, London.

Thorn, R. B. and Roberts, A. (1981) *Sea defence and coast protection works – a guide to design*. Thomas Telford Ltd. ISBN 07277 0085 5.

Thorn, R. B.,and Simmons, J.C.F. (1971) *Sea defence works. Design, construction and emergency works*. Butterworths Scientific Publications, London, ISBN 0 408 70201X.

Tørum, A., Huhnen, F. and Menze, A. (2003) On berm breakwaters: stability, scour, overtopping. 49(3) 209–238.

Thorn, R B. (1960) *The design of sea defence works*. Butterworths Scientific Publications, London.

Tokuda, K., Tamura, S.,Kakizami, T., Kawamata, Y. and Kuroki, K. (1989) Currents and bottom topography change in the vicinity of a newly constructed groin at the Wet Niigata coast. *Proc Coastal Engineering*, JCSE. Vol. 36, 439-443 (in Japanese).

Tørum, Alf., Krogh, S.R., Bjørdal, S., Fjeld, S., Archetti, R., Jakobsen, A. (1999) Design criteria and design procedures for berm breakwaters. *Coastal Structures* '99, Santander, Spain.

Tørum, Alf. (1998) On the stability of berm breakwaters in shallow and deep water. *Coastal Engineering*.

Toue Takao, Wang Hsiang. (1991) Three dimensional effects of seawall on the adjacent beach. *22nd Coastal Engineering Conference*. The Netherlands. ASCE. Vol 3, Chapter 211, pp 2782-2795.

Togoshima, O. (1978) Effectiveness of sea dikes with rough slope. *Proc.* 16th *Int. Conf. on Coastal Engineering,* Hamburg 2528-2539.

Trouw Koen, Monbaliu Jaak, Berlamont Jean. (1998) Laboratory scaling of wave induced sediment transport. *Physics of Estuaries and Coastal Seas*, Balkema, Rotterdam, ISBN 90 5410 965 3.

Tsai, C.P. (1995) Standing wave induced pore pressure in a porous seabed *Ocean Engineering* 22 (1), 1-18.

Tsuchiya, Y., Shibano, T. and Nakanishi, T., (1976) Long-term shoreline change of the Naoetsu harbor. *Coastal Eng in Japan*, 19: 109-120.

Turner, I. L. and Leatherman, S. P. (1997) Beach Dewatering as a 'Soft' Engineering Solution to Coastal Erosion – History and Critical Review. *Journal of Coastal Research*, Vol 13(4) p. 1050-1063, Fall, 1997.

Twu Sheng-Wen, Liao Wei-Miu. (1999). Effect of seawall slopes on scour depth. *Journal of Coastal Research*, 15(4), 985-990. Royal Palm Beach (Florida), ISSN 0749-0208.

Uda, T., Nakamura, T., Murai, T. and Matsunaga, H. (1989) Field obervations on preliminary scour in the vicinity of an offshore breakwater, *Proc. Coastal Engineering*, JCSE, Vol. 37, 409-413 (in Japanese).

US Army Corps of Engineers (1994). *Engineering and Design – Hydraulic Design of Flood Control Channels*. Engineering Manual EM 1110-2-1601

US Army Corps of Engineers (1995) *Design of Coastal Revetments, Seawalls, and Bulkheads*. Engineering Manual, EM 1110-2-1614.

Van der Meer, J W., Veldman, J. Johannes. (1991) Singular points at berm breakwaters: scale effects, rear, round head and longshore transport. *Coastal Engineering*, Amsterdam. Elsevier Science.

Van der Meer, J.W., d'Agremond, K. and Gerdin, E, (1995) Toe stability of rubble mound breakwaters. *Proc of Advances in Coastal Structures and Breakwaters Conference*, Inst Civil Engrs, Thomas Telford Publishing, London, UK, pp308-321.

van Gent, M.R.A. (1994) The modelling of wave action on and in coastal structures. *Coastal Engineering* 22 – pp 311-339.

Van Rijn, L.C. (1998) *Principles of coastal morphology*. Aqua Publications. ISBN 90-800356-3-7.

Vesterby, (2000) Modelling Groundwater Flow in Beach Profiles for Optimising Stabilisation Measures. Proceedings, International Coastal Symposium 2000, Rotorua, New Zealand.

Walton, T.L, Sensabaugh, W. (1979) *Seawall design on the open coast*. Florida Sea Grant College Report 29: pp 24 Impermeable structures elevate local groundwater surface and increase the mobility of the beach.

Wang Ping, Ebersole Bruce, Smith Ernest. (2003) Beach-profile evolution under spilling and plunging breakers. Technical Notes, ASCE. *Journal of Waterway, Port, Coastal and Ocean Engineering*, Vol 129, No 1.

Whitehouse, R.J.S. (1998) *Scour at marine structures. A manual for practical applications*. Thomas Telford. ISBN 0 7277 2655 2.

Wiegel, R.L. (2002a) Seawalls, seacliffs, beachrock: what beach effects? Part 1. Shore and Beach 70(1) 17-27.

Wiegel, R.L. (2002b) Seawalls, seacliffs, beachrock: what beach effects? Part 3. Shore and Beach 70(3) 2-14.

Wiegel, R.L. (2002c) Seawalls, seacliffs, beachrock: what beach effects? Part 2. *Shore and Beach* 70(2) 13-22.

Xie, S-L. (1994) Recent research and experience on vertical and composite breakwaters in China. In *Waves and Barriers*, Port and Harbour Research Institute.

Xie, S-L. (1985). Scouring patterns in front of vertical breakwaters. *Acta Oceanologica Sinica*, vol 4, n1; 153-164.

Xie, S-L. (1981) Scouring patterns in front of vertical breakwaters and their influence on the stability of the foundations of the breakwaters. Department of Civil Engineering, Delft University of Technology.

Yalin, M.S., (1953) A model shingle beach with permeability and drag forces reproduced. *10th Congress IAHR, London* (1) 169-175.

Yamamoto, T., Koning, H.L., Sellmeigher, H., and Hijum, E.V. (1978) On the response of poro-elastic bed to water waves *J. Fluid Mech.* 87:193-206.

Yokoyama, Y., Tanabe, H., Torii, K., Kato, F., Yamamoto, Y., Ca, V.T. and Arimura, J. (2003) A quantitative evaluation of scour depth near coastal structures. *Coastal Engineering 2002: Proceedings of the 28th Int. Conf.* World Scientific Publishing, Singapore, 1830-1841.

Zen, K., Jeng, D.S., Hsu, J.R.C. and Ohyama, T. (1988) Wave-induced seabed instability: Difference between liquefaction and shear failure. *Soils and Foundations*. (Japanese Geotechnical Society), 38(2): 37-47.

PB 11207

Nobel House 17 Smith Square London SW1P 3JR

www.defra.gov.uk



